Geometric Fault Detection and Isolation of Infinite Dimensional Systems

Amir Baniamerian

A Thesis in The Department of

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Concordia University Montréal, Québec, Canada

September 2016

© Amir Baniamerian, 2016

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This is to certify that the thesis proposal prepared

By: Amir Baniamerian

Entitled: Geometric Fault Detection and Isolation of Infinite Dimensional Systems

and submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

complies with the regulations of this University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

	Dr. J. Y. Yu, Chair
	Dr. A. Lynch, External examiner
	Dr. A. Dolatabadi, External examiner
	Dr. S. Hashtrudi Zad, Examiner
	Dr. L. Rodrigues, Examiner
	Dr. K. Khorasani, Co-Supervisor
	Dr. N. Meskin, Co-Supervisor
Approved by	
	Chair of the ECE Department
	Dean of Engineering

ABSTRACT

Geometric Fault Detection and Isolation of Infinite Dimensional Systems

Amir Baniamerian, Ph.D.

Concordia Unviersity, 2016

A broad class of dynamical systems from chemical processes to flexible mechanical structures, heat transfer and compression processes in gas turbine engines are represented by a set of partial differential equations (PDE). These systems are known as infinite dimensional (Inf-D) systems. Most of Inf-D systems, including PDEs and time-delayed systems can be represented by a differential equation in an appropriate Hilbert space. These Hilbert spaces are essentially Inf-D vector spaces, and therefore, they are utilized to represent Inf-D dynamical systems. Inf-D systems have been investigated by invoking two schemes, namely approximate and exact methods. Both approaches extend the control theory of ordinary differential equation (ODE) systems to Inf-D systems, however by utilizing two different methodologies. In the former approach, one needs to first approximate the original Inf-D system by an ODE system (e.g. by using finite element or finite difference methods) and then apply the established control theory of ODEs to the approximated model. On the other hand, in the exact approach, one investigates the Inf-D system without using any approximation. In other words, one first represents the system as an Inf-D system and then investigates it in the corresponding Inf-D Hilbert space by extending and generalizing the available results of finite-dimensional (Fin-D) control theory.

It is well-known that one of the challenging issues in control theory is development of algorithms such that the controlled system can maintain the required performance even in presence of faults. In the literature, this property is known as fault tolerant control. The fault detection and isolation (FDI) analysis is the first step in order to achieve this goal. For Inf-D systems, the currently available results on the FDI problem are quite limited and restricted. This thesis is mainly concerned with the FDI problem of the linear Inf-D systems by using both approximate and exact approaches based on the geometric control theory of Fin-D and Inf-D systems. This thesis addresses this problem by developing a geometric FDI framework for Inf-D systems. Moreover, we implement and demonstrate a methodology for applying our results to mathematical models of a heat transfer and a two-component reaction-diffusion processes.

In this thesis, we first investigate the development of an FDI scheme for discrete-time multi-dimensional (nD) systems that represent approximate models for Inf-D systems. The basic invariant subspaces including unobservable and unobservability subspaces of one-dimensional (1D) systems are extended to nD models. Sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are provided, where an LMI-based approach is also derived for the observer design. The capability of our proposed FDI methodology is demonstrated through numerical simulation results to an approximation of a hyperbolic partial differential equation system of a heat exchanger that is represented as a two-dimensional (2D) system.

In the second part, an FDI methodology for the Riesz spectral (RS) system is investigated. RS systems represent a large class of parabolic and hyperbolic PDE in Inf-D systems framework. This part is mainly concerned with the equivalence of different types of invariant subspaces as defined for RS systems. Necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are developed. Moreover, for a subclass of RS systems, we first provide algorithms (for computing the invariant subspaces) that converge in a finite and known number of steps and then derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem.

Finally, by generalizing the results that are developed for RS systems necessary

and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem in a general Inf-D system are derived. Particularly, we first address invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems from a new point of view by invoking resolvent operators. This approach enables one to extend the previous Fin-D results to Inf-D systems. Particularly, necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various types of conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems are obtained. Duality properties of Inf-D systems are then investigated. By introducing unobservability subspaces for Inf-D systems the FDI problem is formally formulated, and necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are provided.

For my mother,

Toomar

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my special gratitude and thanks to my advisors Prof. K. Khorasani and Dr. N. Meskin. They have supported me not only by uncountable reviewing my reports and providing their invaluable comments, but also by providing me a wisdom to grow on both research and my career.

Second, I would like to thank my committee members, Prof. A. Lynch, Prof. A. Dolatabadi, Dr. S. Hashtrudi Zad and Dr. L Rodrigues for serving as my committee members and for their comments and suggestion.

Third, I wish to thank Mrs. Zahra Abbasfard, Mr. Alireza Kojouri and Mr. Sourena Kojouri. To me, there is no doubt that without their support, finishing this PhD was impossible. Thanks to you for your support through this rough road.

Fourth, I would like to thank Drs. Farough Mohammadi, Ehsan Sobhani Tehrani and Nicolae Tudoroiu for their support and feedbacks. I have been learning a lot from you. Moreover, I wish to thank GlobVision Inc., Computer Research Institute of Montreal (CRIM) and TRU Simulation+Training to give this opportunity to grow my career as both control and software engineer. Specially, thanks to Mrs. Armineh Garabedian, Mr. Tom Landry, Dr. Samuel Foucher and Dr. Iman Saboori.

During my PhD I had this chance to work with elegant persons as officemate and/or friends. I would like to specially thank Bahareh Pourbabaee, Najmeh Daroogheh, Zahra Gallehdari, Amin Salar and Ismaeil Alizadeh.

I would like to thank Profs. M.R. Jahed-Motlagh and A.A. Ungar for their support and helps. Specially, I express my gratitude to them for not only supporting me during my PhD but also for introducing me the control system theory and Gyroalgebra. Still, I have enjoyable evening in library reading the related topics.

Last but not least, I dedicate this thesis to my family, Rasool, Maryam,

Nazanin and Toomar. Also, this thesis is dedicated in loving memory of my father. I wish he saw this work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lis	st of l	Figures	i	
Lis	List of Tables			
Lis	List of Symbols and Abbreviations			
1	Intr	roduction 1		
	1.1	Fault Detection and Isolation Problem	1	
		1.1.1 Residual Generation	3	
	1.2	Motivation	1	
	1.3	Literature Review	7	
		1.3.1 FDI Methods for Fin-D Systems	7	
		1.3.2 The FDI Approach for Inf-D Systems	1	
	1.4	General Problem Statement	3	
		1.4.1 Thesis Objectives	7	
		1.4.2 Thesis Contributions	9	
	1.5	Thesis Organization)	
	1.6	Notation $\ldots \ldots 22$	2	
2	Bac	ckground Information 24		
	2.1	Geometric Analysis of Linear Systems on a Fin-D Hilbert Space 2		
	2.2	Geometric FDI Approach for Finite Dimensional (Fin-D) Systems 2		
	2.3	Inf-D Vector Spaces		
		2.3.1 Topological Spaces	1	
		2.3.2 Hilbert Spaces	3	
		2.3.3 Basis	7	
		2.3.4 Dimension	3	
		2.3.5 Orthogonal Space)	

		2.3.6	Quotient Subspaces	41
	2.4	Linear	Operators	42
		2.4.1	Unbounded Operators	43
		2.4.2	Adjoint Operators	43
	2.5	Two-D	Pimensional (2-D) Systems	44
		2.5.1	The Approximation of Hyperbolic PDE Systems by 2-D Models	46
	2.6	Semigr	coups of Operator and Dynamical Systems	47
		2.6.1	Linear Systems on an Inf-D Hilbert space	48
	2.7	Summ	ary	51
3	Fau	lt Dete	ection and Isolation of Multidimensional Systems	53
	3.1	Prelim	inary Results	54
		3.1.1	Discrete-Time n-D Systems	54
		3.1.2	Inf-D Representation	56
		3.1.3	The FDI Problem of n-D FMII Model	59
		3.1.4	LMI-based Observer (Detection Filter) Design	61
	3.2	Invaria	ant Subspaces for n-D FMII Models	65
		3.2.1	Unobservable Subspace	65
		3.2.2	A_k -Invariant Subspaces	69
		3.2.3	Conditioned Invariant Subspaces of n-D Systems	70
		3.2.4	Unobservability Subspace of n-D Systems	73
	3.3	Necess	ary and Sufficient Conditions for Solvability of the FDI problem	74
		3.3.1	Main Results	75
		3.3.2	Comparisons with Other Available Approaches in the Literature	81
	3.4	Simula	tion Results	85
		3.4.1	FDI of a Heat Transfer System by Using Full State Measure-	
			ments	87

		3.4.2	FDI of a Heat Transfer System Using Partial State Measure-	
			ments	. 91
	3.5	Summ	nary	. 94
4	Inva	ariant	Subspaces of Riesz Spectral (RS) Systems with Applica	a-
	tion	ı to Fa	ult Detection and Isolation	96
	4.1	RS Sy	rstems	. 97
	4.2	Invari	ant Subspaces	. 100
		4.2.1	\mathcal{A} -Invariant Subspace	. 101
		4.2.2	Conditioned Invariant Subspaces	. 104
		4.2.3	Unobservability Subspace	. 119
		4.2.4	Controlled Invariant Subspaces and the Duality Property	. 122
	4.3	Fault	Detection and Isolation (FDI) Problem	. 127
		4.3.1	The FDI Problem Statement	. 127
		4.3.2	Necessary and Sufficient Conditions	. 129
		4.3.3	Solvability of the FDI Problem Under Two Special Cases	. 135
		4.3.4	Summary of Results	. 137
	4.4	Nume	rical Example	. 140
	4.5	Summ	nary	. 145
5	Fau	lt Dete	ection and Isolation of Inf-D Systems by Using Semigrou	p
	Inva	ariant	Subspaces	147
	5.1	Inf-D	Systems	. 148
	5.2	Invari	ant Subspaces of Fin-D Systems	. 148
	5.3	Invari	ant Subspaces for Inf-D Systems	. 153
		5.3.1	\mathcal{A} -Invariant Subspace	. 154
		5.3.2	Conditioned Invariant Subspaces	. 157
		5.3.3	Controlled Invariant Subspaces	. 162

		5.3.4	Unobservability Subspace	. 165
		5.3.5	Summary	. 166
	5.4	4 Fault Detection and Isolation of Inf-D Systems		. 166
		5.4.1	The FDI Problem Statement	. 166
		5.4.2	Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for Solvability of the FDI	
			Problem	. 167
		5.4.3	Summary	. 173
	5.5	Nume	rical Example	. 174
	5.6	Concl	usions	. 177
6	Cor	nclusio	ns and Future Directions of Research	179
	6.1	FDI o	f Multi-Dimensional Systems	. 179
	6.2	Invaria	ant Subspaces of Riesz Spectral Systems	. 180
	6.3	Fault	Detection and Isolation of Infinite Dimensional Systems	. 181
Bibliography 182				

List of Figures

1.1	General fault-tolerant control methodology
1.2	General residual generation part, where $u(t)$ and $y(t)$ denote input
	and output signals of the plant, respectively
1.3	The currently available FDI approaches in the literature for Fin-D
	systems
3.1	The two-line parallel heat transfer process that is considered in this
	section
3.2	The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 91
3.3	The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 92
3.4	The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1
3.5	The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 95
4.1	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas,
4.1	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this
4.1	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.2	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.2	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.24.3	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.24.3	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.24.3	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.24.35.1	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter
4.14.24.35.1	The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter

List of Tables

3.1	Pseudo-algorithm to detect and isolate the fault f_i in the n-D system
	(3.1)
4.1	Pseudo-algorithm for detecting and isolating the fault f_i in the regular
	RS system (4.17)
4.2	Detection time delay of the faults f_1 and f_2 corresponding to various
	severities
5.1	A Pseudo-algorithm for detecting and isolating the fault f_i for the
	Inf-D system (5.10)
5.2	Detection time delay of the faults f_1 and f_2 corresponding to various
	severities

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

$\langle\cdot,\cdot angle$	$\langle x, y \rangle$, inner product of x and y.
·	x , norm of x .
⊥	$\begin{cases} \mathscr{V}^{\perp}, \text{ orthogonal complement of } \mathscr{V} \\ x \perp y, x \text{ is prependicular to } y \end{cases}$
\oplus	$\mathscr{V}_1 \oplus \mathscr{V}_2$, direct sum of \mathscr{V}_1 and \mathscr{V}_2 .
$\overline{\mathscr{V}}$	Closure of \mathscr{V} .
⊞∜	An infinite number of direct sum of \mathscr{V} .
$\bigoplus \mathscr{V} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	Largest Banach space contained in $\boxplus \mathscr{V}$.
\mathcal{A}^*	Adjoint operator of \mathcal{A} .
$\mathcal{A}^{-1}\mathscr{V}$	Inverse image of $\mathscr V$ with respect to $\mathcal A$.
\mathbb{C}	Vector space of complex numbers.
$D(\mathcal{A})$	Domain of \mathcal{A} .
$\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{A}$	Image of operator \mathcal{A} .
$\ker \mathcal{C}$	kernel of \mathcal{C} .
$L_2([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n)$	Set of all square integrable functions $f:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}^n$.
$\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$	Set of all bounded linear operator defined on \mathcal{X} .
\mathbb{N}	Set of positive integers.
\mathbb{R}	Vector space of real numbers.
$\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$	C_0 semigroup generated by the infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} .
$\mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$	An arbitrary $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant containing \mathscr{V} .
$\mathscr{V}_{\underline{\mathbf{R}}}$	An arbitrary $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant contained in \mathscr{V} .
\mathbb{Z}	Set of integers.
$< \mathscr{C} \mathcal{A} > \dots$	Largest \mathcal{A} -invariant subspace contained in \mathscr{C} .
ϕ_k	k^{th} (generalized) eigenvector of \mathcal{A} .
ψ_k	Corresponding biorthonormal vector to ϕ_k .
$ \rho(\mathcal{A}) \dots \dots$	Resolvent set of \mathcal{A} .
$ \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \dots \dots$	Largest real interval $[r, \infty) \subseteq \rho(\mathcal{A}).$
$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$	Resolvent operator of \mathcal{A} .
$\sigma(\mathcal{A})$	Spectrum of \mathcal{A} .

Chapter 1

Introduction

The fault detection and isolation (FDI) problem has attracted a considerable research interest during the past few decades [1–5]. Advancements in the control theory have resulted in development of various robust control algorithms for systems that are subject to disturbances and modeling uncertainties. Consequently, as a result of the introduced robustness of these controllers the task of early fault detection has now become even more challenging, and more advanced FDI methods should be developed and considered. During the past three decades, significant efforts have been made to address control of infinite dimensional (Inf-D) systems [6–9]. However, due to the complexity of Inf-D systems, research on FDI problem of these systems is quite limited and developing an FDI methodology for Inf-D systems is still a very active area of research.

1.1 Fault Detection and Isolation Problem

Nowadays, control algorithms need to be as reliable as possible. For example, consider a gas turbine power plant where one needs a highly accurate and reliable control algorithm to ensure that the generated power has an exact frequency (i.e., 60 Hz). Since shutting down a generator can be costly due to its effect on all power networks [1], another important issue is that one needs to minimize the maintenance time. One of the main measures that defines reliability is performance of control algorithms in presence of faults. In other words, the system can still be operational for a certain set of faults and the maintenance action is not urgent. In other words, one of the challenging issues in control theory is the development of algorithms such that the controlled system can maintain the required performance even in presence of faults. In the literature, this property is known as fault tolerant control (FTC) (refer to [1, 10] and references therein).

FTC algorithms are categorized into passive and active schemes. In the former approach, the corresponding controller is designed such that it is robust to certain set of faults. Whereas, in the active FTC, the controller is reconfigured such that the effects of faults can be rectified as much as possible [1, 10, 11]. For handling faulty scenarios, a passive FTC scheme yields a conservative result due to nature of the design framework. To overcome this drawback, active FTC methods have been proposed in the literature [1, 11].

Specifically, an active FTC approach is the methodology that is mainly concerned with reconfiguring the controllers based on the available fault information [10]. A generic FTC is depicted in Figure 1.1, where u(t) and y(t) denote input and output signals of the plant, respectively. As can be observed, the FDI unit plays a crucial role in an active FTC module and is a cornerstone for active FTC system. Indeed, The FDI analysis is the first step in order to achieve the FTC goal. Moreover, the FDI unit can provide required information for condition-based maintenance that results in a significant maintenance cost reduction [1, 10].

The main goal of an FDI unit is to generate a set of signals, so-called residual signals, such that these signals provide as much information as possible regarding the fault signals [10, 12]. More precisely, by using a residual signal the decision making unit should be able to:



Figure 1.1: General fault-tolerant control methodology.

- 1. Detect the occurrence of a fault.
- 2. Determine the location (i.e. which actuator or sensor) the fault has occurred in, which known as the fault isolation.

Therefore, the main part of the FDI problem can be summarized as that of residual generation that is subsequently addressed.

1.1.1 Residual Generation

A residual is a signal that is sensitive to certain set of faults and decoupled from the other inputs of the plant and faults [5,10]. In this thesis, we derive residuals that are decoupled from all but one fault, and consequently the decision making unit (refer to Figure 1.1) is restricted to a threshold comparison. Figure 1.2 depicts the schematic of the residual generators where the following logic is used in the decision making unit,

if
$$r_i > th_i \Rightarrow f_i$$
 has occured. (1.1)

with th_i is the threshold corresponding to r_i . Thresholds can be determined by utilizing Monte Carlo simulations [13], and this issue is formally addressed in Chapters 3 - 5.



Figure 1.2: General residual generation part, where u(t) and y(t) denote input and output signals of the plant, respectively.

It should be pointed out that one of most prominent issues related to the residual signals is the residual generator realization. For example, a residual generator can be an observer or a parameter estimator. The type of realization identifies the FDI approach (refer to Figure 1.3). However, before reviewing the approaches for FDI, we provide the motivation of the research pursued in this thesis.

1.2 Motivation

There are certain classes of engineering process that cannot be modeled as finite dimensional (Fin-D) systems. For example, heat distribution of a heat exchanger and voltage substations in a distributed transmission system are generally modeled by a set of partial differential equations (PDEs) and time-delay systems, respectively. Indeed, a large class of dynamical systems from the compression process in gas turbine engines to reaction processes in solid-fuel rockets are mathematically represented as Inf-D dynamical systems. A given Inf-D dynamical system is usually modeled by a differential equation in an appropriate Hilbert space [14, Chapter 1], which is an Inf-D vector space.

Although, certain set of Inf-D systems can be approximated by Fin-D systems, the approximation error may result in a significant performance degradation. For example, consider a neutral time-delay system that models a traffic network, where the delay is not negligible and cannot be assumed to be zero. This system cannot be represented by a Fin-D dynamical system that is governed by an ordinary differential equation (ODE) with no delays. Therefore, development of control theory for Inf-D systems is an emerging field of interest and research.

The mathematical control theory of Inf-D systems has seen a considerable progress during the past four decades [6–9]. Particularly, PDE systems have been investigated by using two schemes that are called approximate and exact methods. Both approaches extend the control theory of ODE systems to Inf-D systems, however by invoking two different methodologies. By using the approximation approach, by using finite element or finite difference methods one needs first to approximate the original PDE by an ODE system and then apply the established control theory of ODE systems to the approximated model [15–17]. On the other hand, the exact approach investigates the PDE system without any approximation [14, 18]. In other words, one first represents the PDE system as an Inf-D system and then investigates this system in the corresponding Inf-D Hilbert space by extending the available results of Fin-D control theory. This approach is also applicable to other distributed parameter systems such as time-delayed system (for more detail, refer to [14, chapters 1 and 2]).

In contrast to Fin-D systems, research on the FDI problem for Inf-D systems is quite limited due to the complicated structure of these systems. Recently, some efforts have been made to address the FDI problem for PDEs [19–21]. In this thesis, we address the FDI problem of Inf-D systems, as follows

- How and under what conditions can one detect a fault in the system? In other words, by referring to Figure 1.2 under what conditions one can generate the residual signal r_i such that it is sensitive to f_i ?
- Under what conditions can one isolate the detected fault? More precisely, under what conditions one can generate the residual signal r_i that is decoupled from all the faults but f_i (refer to the condition (1.1)).

In order to answer these questions, one needs to derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for the solvability of the FDI problem for Inf-D systems. For Fin-D systems, the geometric FDI approach is one of the main approaches that addresses the solvability of the FDI problem by using observers. The main motivation for this thesis can therefore be summarized in the following question:

• How and under what conditions can one extend the existing geometric theories on the FDI of Fin-D systems to Inf-D ones?

As reviewed subsequently, the FDI problem of Fin-D systems has extensively been addressed in the literature. Therefore, one approach to tackle the FDI problem of Inf-D systems is to generalize the existence theory to Inf-D systems. This thesis tries to investigate the FDI problem of Inf-D systems by using the available geometric theories on the Fin-D ones as a guide. More precisely, we generalize the results by using two main methodologies; namely the approximate and the exact methods. As stated earlier, in the former one we first approximate the Inf-D system and then apply the FDI theory of Fin-D system to the approximated model with certain modifications (refer to Chapter 3 for more details), whereas in the exact approach we first formulate the Inf-D system as a differential equation in an appropriate Inf-D vector space and then the FDI problem is addressed (refer to Chapters 4 and 5 for more details).

1.3 Literature Review

In this section, we first review the literature on FDI approaches for Fin-D systems followed by a description of the FDI problem of Inf-D systems.

1.3.1 FDI Methods for Fin-D Systems

In the literature, there are various methods that have been developed to tackle the FDI problem of Fin-D systems. These approaches can be categorized into two main schemes known as data driven and model-based methodologies [11, 22, 23]. Figure 1.3 depicts these two schemes.

Data Driven-based Approaches

In the case that the mathematical model of the system is not available or it is very complicated, data driven-based approaches provide the sufficient infrastructure to address the FDI problem [24,25]. Patton *et al.* proposed a neural network multiple model approach in [26]. The FDI problem was addressed by using feed-forward neural networks in [27]. A dynamic neural network is successfully applied to the gas turbines for performing fault diagnosis in [28,29]. In [30], a Bayesian neural network was used to optimize the wavelet transform of input-output signals, and then this transformation is used for FDI.

A pattern recognition approach that is based on the fuzzy logic was also applied to the FDI problem in [31]. In [32] a framework for the fault diagnosis problem by using an expert system was developed. Fault diagnosis methods based on the qualitative trend analysis were reviewed in [23]. Moreover, in the literature, the statistical analysis-based methods are also utilized for the FDI purpose. A nonlinear



Figure 1.3: The currently available FDI approaches in the literature for Fin-D systems.

principle component analysis (PCA) and a recursive PCA were used in [33] and [34], respectively. Also, independent component analysis was applied to the FDI problem in [35,36]. In [37,38], support vector machines (SVM) were utilized for performing health monitoring purposes.

It should be pointed out that since data-driven approaches are model independent, they can be applied to Fin-D and with certain modification to Inf-D systems. For example refer to [39] where a singular value decomposition was utilized for identification purpose that represents the approximated model of an Inf-D system.

Model-based FDI Approaches

In the literature, model-based FDI includes variety of techniques such as particle filters [40], observer-based [41], and parity equations [42]. The parity equation approaches use a set of functions that are so-called parity functions to extract the fault information from the measured input-output data [2, 42, 43]. However, these approaches are sensitive to measurement noise [44]. Observer-based methods that are established tools for model-based fault diagnosis include various approaches such as multiple model [45–47], high-gain observer [48], sliding mode observer [49], and geometric methods [3, 41, 50].

Due to uncertainties in modeling complex systems, a perfect mathematical model is generally not feasible. Neglected dynamics, noise, and disturbances are examples of model uncertainty [51,52]. Since in model-based approaches the model is utilized for designing detection filters, to minimize the effect of the uncertainties that is decreasing the accuracy of the FDI algorithm and increasing the false alarms, one needs to apply robust FDI algorithms. The FDI of linear systems using robust filters in presence of disturbances were considered in [53–55]. Also, a robust FDI approach for a Lipschitz nonlinear system was provided in [56]. Other important FDI approaches include parameter estimation techniques [2], particle filtering [40,57] and maximum likelihood estimation techniques [58, 59].

Hybrid FDI Approaches

The drawbacks of model-based and data-driven based methods can be addressed by applying a hybrid method of fault diagnosis by integrating the model-based and data-driven based approaches [12]. The hybrid method enables one to detect and isolate faults in presence of different uncertainties due to the modeling errors, parameter variations, unknown external disturbances and measurement noise. In [60], a parity based approach is integrated with a neural network to increase the efficiency of the fault detection. For a nonlinear system, an observer-based approach is modified by using the SVM for the fault isolation purposes. In [61], a hybrid FDI approach was developed, where a data-driven approach is combined with wavelet transformation analysis. Morevoer, various types of hybrid approaches were reviewed in [62].

Geometric FDI Methods

Since this thesis is specifically concerned with geometric approaches for the FDI problem, in this subsection we review the geometric FDI approach. The geometric FDI approach [3] is a model-based method, where necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are obtained based on geometric concepts such as invariant subspaces. For the FDI problem of Fin-D systems, the geometric approach developed by Massoumnia [3] has provided a valuable tool for studying the FDI problem not only for basic linear dynamical systems but also for more general cases such as Markovian jump systems [63, 64], time-delay systems [65, 66], linear parameter varying (LPV) systems [67, 68], linear periodic systems [69] and linear impulsive systems [70]. Moreover, the geometric approach has been also extended to affine nonlinear systems in [4,71]. Furthermore, hybrid geometric FDI approaches for linear and nonlinear systems have been provided in [72] and [73], where a set of

residual generators are equipped with a discrete-event based system fault diagnoser to solve the FDI problem.

The geometric approach is based on invariant subspaces, such as unobservable and conditioned invariant subspaces that are formally defined in the next Chapters. These subspaces can fully characterize the behavior of the investigated linear system [74]. The geometric approach also has its application in the control of disturbance decoupling problem [74]. Therefore, development of this framework for Inf-D systems allows us to have not only a novel tool for the FDI purpose of Inf-D systems but also a better understanding of the nature and behavior of these systems.

1.3.2 The FDI Approach for Inf-D Systems

As stated earlier, from the system theory point of view, there are two main approaches to investigate Inf-D systems, namely approximate and exact methods. In approximate approaches, that are applicable to PDE systems, the original PDE is approximated by using a finite element [15, 20, 21] or a finite difference method [75] and then this approximated model is used for designing a controller or FDI unit. However, in exact approaches the system is reformulated as a linear system in an appropriate Inf-D Hilbert space and a controller or FDI unit is designed for this abstract differential equation [14, 76]. In this thesis, we cover both approaches by providing necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem, in each case.

The FDI Approach Based on the Approximated Model

Two approaches to approximate a PDE system are the finite element (particularly Galerkin) [77] approach and the finite difference method [78]. Finite element-based approaches are applicable to dissipative parabolic PDE systems, for which the eigenspectrum of the spatial differential operators can be partitioned into a finite subset

containing all unstable eigenvalues (and a finite subset of stable eigenvalues) and an infinite subset of stable eigenvalues such that the gap between these two sets is sufficiently large. If such a partition exists, a Fin-D ODE could approximate the original PDE [77] which can be employed for designing the FDI filters [15, Assumption 1]. This assumption enables one to apply the singular perturbation theory to approximate the model and derive sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem. In [20, 21], it was assumed that the number of actuators (l) is equal to the number of Fin-D states (n). For the situation (l < n), the approach that is presented in [20] (Remark 6) is not applicable since the introduced transformation is not invertible. To solve this problem, in [15] we utilized a nonlinear geometric FDI approach as described in [4]. It was shown that the FDI system that is designed based on the approximated Fin-D system can detect almost all the faults injected in the original system. However, since this thesis is mainly concerned with linear Inf-D system, the results of [15] are not presented here.

In this thesis, a finite difference approach is used to approximate the original PDE system. The main reason lies on the following observations and facts:

- It is well-known that *parabolic* PDE systems can be approximated by ODE representations. These systems can be approximated through application of the finite element methods where sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem can then be derived by using the singular perturbation theory [15,20, 79]. Unlike parabolic PDE systems, one cannot apply model decomposition, order reduction and singular perturbation theory to hyperbolic PDE systems [80]. Moreover, the order of the resulting approximate Fin-D system can be high. Therefore, the Galerkin method is not applicable to hyperbolic PDE systems for solving the FDI problem.
- 2. As shown in [75], a *single* hyperbolic PDE system can be approximated by using a two-dimensional (2-D) system that is formally addressed in Section 2.5

and Chapter 3. As we shall see subsequently in Section 2.5 this approximation is also applicable to a *system* of hyperbolic PDEs. Moreover, as shown in [81], parabolic PDE systems can be approximated by three-dimensional (3-D) Fornasini and Marchesini model II (FMII) representation [82–85]. Therefore, multidimensional (n-D) (the generalization of 2-D systems for $n \ge 2$) system approximation can be applied to *both* hyperbolic and parabolic systems.

Moreover, it should be noted that the n-D system framework has other applications in the control field. For example, a class of discrete-time linear repetitive processes can be modeled by n-D systems. These processes play important roles in tracking control and robotics, where the controlled system is required to perform a periodic task with high precision (refer to [86] for more details on repetitive systems). One of the main approaches to control linear repetitive processes is the iterative learning control (ILC) [86]. Since the ILC problem can be formulated as a control problem using n-D system theory [87, 88], n-D systems have been increasingly applied to spatio-temporal and repetitive process control problems in the literature.

There are quite a few results on FDI of 2-D systems in the literature, such as dead-beat based filters [89] and parity equations [90, 91] that utilize the algebraic approaches. As shown in [92] these approaches that are based on polynomial matrices face new challenges for $n \ge 3$. More precisely, due to the complexity of the primeness properties (refer to [92, page 389] for more detail) generalizing the results in [89,91] from 2-D case to n-D systems is not straightforward. In this thesis, we are interested in developing an FDI methodology that is applicable to all n-D systems, $n \ge 2$. Motivated by the above discussion, in this thesis we investigate the FDI problem of n-D systems as the FDI approximate method of Inf-D systems.

2-D systems have been extensively investigated from a system theory point of view [82–85]. Particularly, system theory concepts such as stability [84,93], controllability [94], observability [95], and state reconstruction [96] have been investigated in the literature. However, due to complexity of 2-D systems, unlike one-dimensional (1D) systems, there are various definitions that are introduced for controllability and observability properties. Not surprisingly, the duality between observability and controllability does not hold in 2-D systems.

Recently, the geometric theory of 2-D and 3-D systems has attracted much interest, where basic concepts such as conditioned invariant and controllable subspaces are studied in detail for the FMI model [97,98]. The hybrid 2-D systems have also been investigated from the geometric point of view in [95].

Finally, it must be noted that recently related work has appeared in [99] and [100]. These two papers investigated the FDI problem of 3-D FMII models. Although a geometric FDI methodology is also developed in [99], this thesis is distinct and unique from [99] in <u>three</u> main and fundamental perspectives:

- 1. The approach proposed in [99] is based on the results of [50], whereas our approach is based on the generalization of the results of [50] as reported in [41] (the results in [41] are more general than [50]) for 2-D models.
- 2. In [99], necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem were derived for a *subclass of detection filters* where it was assumed that the output map of the detection filters and that of the system are identical. However, in this thesis we consider a *general class of detection filters* for the residual generation and relax this condition.
- 3. As shown in Section 3.3.2, the observability property of the 3-D model is a fundamental requirement and assumption in [99] (although it is stated in [99] that this assumption was made for simplicity of their presentation). However, our proposed solution *does not* require this condition and assumption, and consequently our approach leads to a less restrictive solution.

FDI Approaches Based on the Exact Model

As we shall see in the next chapter, the systems governed by PDE can be reformulated as an abstract differential equation in an appropriate Hilbert space which is an Inf-D function space. The system theory of Inf-D systems has attracted an increasing attention during the past few decades [7,8,14,101,102]. Not surprisingly, the control problems of Inf-D systems are more complicated as compared to those of Fin-D systems.

In [7, 8], the optimal control problem of systems governed by PDE (hyperbolic and parabolic) was addressed. The observability and controllability concepts were investigated in [14, 102]. The geometric approaches for Inf-D systems have been addressed for the first time in [18, 101]. Like the Fin-D systems, the geometric approaches in [18, 101, 103] are based on certain invariant subspaces. One of main differences between Fin-D and Inf-D spaces which cause many difficulties is summarized in the following fact [14, 101, 102] that a Fin-D subspace is always closed, whereas an Inf-D subspace can be closed or only dense in a closed subspace. This fact results in a set of open problems in the system theory of linear Inf-D systems [101]. Therefore, geometric approaches on the Inf-D subspaces (such as those used in [101]) need to be investigated with more sophisticated mathematical tools such as topological vector spaces that address the above difficulties. In other words, in a general topological vector space the completeness of a subspace is not a trivial property and there exit subspaces that are not closed [104].

The disturbance decoupling problem has attracted attention in Inf-D systems [103, 105] and has partially been solved. Very recently, the disturbance decoupling of Inf-D systems has been addressed in [106]. However, compared with the Fin-D systems, the currently available results in the literature for the FDI problem of Inf-D systems is very limited [19, 76, 107]. In [19], The FDI problem of positive Inf-D systems was investigated by using the parameter estimation technique.

A cornerstone of the geometric control theory is the invariance properties such as A-invariance, conditioned and controlled invariance. There are various definitions of invariance properties that are equivalent in Fin-D systems, whereas they are not in Inf-D systems. Specifically, due to the complexity of working with unbounded operators, the invariant subspace investigation of Inf-D systems is quite limited and equivalence of different definitions has been shown only for single-input, single-output systems [103, 108]. Also, in [103] a sufficient condition for equivalence of various definitions are provided. Moreover, in [14, 101] by applying the resolvent operators necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various \mathcal{A} -invariant definitions, that are addressed subsequently in Chapters 4 and 5, are presented. However, deriving necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various definitions of conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces has been open since middle 1980's [101, 109]. In this thesis, we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various definitions of the above invariant subspaces for a class of multi-input multi-output Inf-D systems.

1.4 General Problem Statement

As stated earlier, one of the fundamental problems that is related to dynamical systems is the FDI problem. The available geometric FDI methods for Fin-D provide useful tools for addressing the FDI problem by taking advantages of invariant subspaces.

The FDI problem of Inf-D systems can be handled by invoking approximate or exact methods. Each method has its own advantages and limitations. On one hand, in the approximate methods the extension of the currently available results for Fin-D system is more straightforward than the exact approach. On the other hand, development of geometric FDI approaches by invoking exact schemes provides a more fundamental and better understanding of the Inf-D systems. For example, as shown in Chapters 4 and 5, we investigate duality of Inf-D systems that enables one to address and investigate the disturbance decoupling problem by using the results of this thesis.

The main objective of this thesis is to investigate the FDI problem of Inf-D systems by using both approximate and exact approaches and to develop new geometric frameworks for Inf-D systems that not only are applicable to the FDI problem, but also can be extended to other fundamental problems, such as the disturbance decoupling problem.

1.4.1 Thesis Objectives

As mentioned earlier, the FDI problem of Inf-D systems can be addressed by using approximate and exact methods. This thesis first provides and develops a geometric framework for the FDI problem of Inf-D systems based on the approximate method (Chapter 3). We then address the FDI problem of Inf-D system by using an exact approach that investigates the FDI problem of Inf-D systems without any approximation (Chapters 4 and 5).

As shown subsequently in Section 2.5, one can approximate a hyperbolic PDE system that is defined on a single spatial coordinate through the finite difference method that results in a 2-D model. By following along the same steps one can show that a hyperbolic PDE defined on an m spatial coordinates can be approximated by a (m + 1)-D system. Therefore, one can address the FDI problem of a hyperbolic PDE system by using the results of the n-D systems. However, for n-D models [82], the FDI problem is still a challenging task. The geometric analysis of n-D systems are relatively new and for the first time in the literature we address the geometric FDI problem of n-D systems such that it is applicable to any dimension (i.e. $n \ge 2$), as the first objective of this thesis. In other words, the proposed approach can be

applied to a large class of PDE systems such as m-D PDE systems (where $m \ge 1$ is the dimension of the spatial coordinates).

We also address the FDI problem of Inf-D systems by using geometric exact methods. This scheme is more general than the n-D methodology and can be applied to a larger class of Inf-D systems. As stated earlier, although there are some results in the literature on the geometric disturbance decoupling problem of Inf-D systems, the geometric FDI problem of these systems has not yet been addressed. In this thesis, we formally formulate the FDI problem of Inf-D systems, and by providing necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various types of invariant subspaces, we investigate the solvability of the FDI problem.

To analyze invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems, we develop and provide two main methodologies that are based on (generalized) eigenvectors and resolvent operators. The former is applicable to Riesz spectral (RS) systems, whereas the latter approach can be applied to a more general class of Inf-D system. Note that a large class of hyperbolic and parabolic PDE systems can be represented and formulated as RS systems in an Inf-D Hilbert space [110].

To summarize, this thesis focuses on development of a geometric FDI framework for Inf-D systems. The main objectives of this thesis are as follows.

- 1. Develop FDI units that are based on approximated models that are obtained by using the finite difference methods.
- 2. Geometric analysis of RS systems that are a subclass Inf-D systems and its application to the FDI problem of RS systems
- 3. Address the FDI problem of a general Inf-D system by developing and utilizing a new geometric framework for Inf-D systems.

1.4.2 Thesis Contributions

The main contributions of this thesis are summarized as follows:

• Geometric FDI of n-D systems

- By reformulating n-D models as Inf-D systems, the invariance property of an unobservable subspace is investigated as provided in Section 3.2, where an Inf-D unobservable subspace is also introduced. Unlike the work in [99, 100], this result enables one to formally address the solvability of the FDI problem without a restriction on the initial conditions.
- 2. Two important Inf-D invariant subspaces, namely, the conditioned invariant and the unobservability, are introduced for the FMII-based n-D models. Although, these subspaces are Inf-D, we provide explicit algorithms that can be invoked to compute these subspaces in a finite and known number of steps.
- 3. A novel procedure is developed for designing a detection filter by utilizing the linear matrix inequalities (LMI) technique.
- 4. The FDI problem of n-D systems is formulated in terms of the introduced invariant subspaces, and necessary and sufficient conditions for its solvability are derived and formally analyzed by using our proposed LMI-based detection filter.

• Invariant subspaces of RS systems with their applications to the FDI problem.

- 1. Necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various conditionedinvariant subspaces for RS systems are obtained and analyzed.
- 2. By using duality properties, necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various controlled invariant subspaces are provided.

- 3. An unobservability subspace for RS systems is introduced, and algorithms that converge in a finite number of steps are proposed.
- 4. By taking advantage of the introduced subspaces, the FDI problem of RS systems is formulated and necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are developed and provided.

• Semigroup invariant concepts and the FDI problem of Inf-D systems

- 1. Necessary and sufficient conditions are obtained for equivalence of conditioned invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems.
- Necessary and sufficient conditions are obtained for equivalence of controlled invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems.
- 3. The unobservability subspaces of Inf-D systems is addressed.
- 4. The FDI problem of Inf-D systems based on the introduced invariant subspaces is formulated and necessary and sufficient conditions for the FDI problem solvability are derived.

1.5 Thesis Organization

In Chapter 2, we briefly review the geometric FDI approach and invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems. Moreover, in this chapter we address Inf-D vector spaces and the system theory of Inf-D systems that is available in [14, 101, 104].

In Chapter 3, we formulate the FDI problem of n-D systems. More precisely, the *preliminary* results including the Inf-D representation, the FDI problem formulation and the n-D Luenberger observers (detection filters) are presented in Section 3.1. The unobservable subspaces of the FMII-based n-D model are introduced in Section 3.2. The geometric property of these subspaces and the invariant concept of n-D models are presented in Section 3.3. In Section 3.4, necessary and sufficient
conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are derived and developed. Analytical comparisons between our proposed approach and the available geometric methods in the literature, namely [99] and [100] are also provided in this section. Furthermore, numerical comparisons with both geometric and algebraic methods in [89,91,99,100] are presented in this section. Simulation results for the FDI problem of a heat transfer process in a thermal-fluid system that is expressed as a PDE system are conducted in Section 3.5. Finally, Section 3.6 concludes the chapter.

Chapter 4 focuses on RS systems. In Section 4.1, RS systems are reviewed. The invariant subspaces are developed and analyzed in Section 4.2. In Section 4.3, the FDI problem is first formulated and then its solvability is addressed. A numerical example is provided in Section 4.4 to demonstrate the capability of our proposed strategy. Finally, Section 4.5 provides the conclusions.

Chapter 5 is devoted to the geometric analysis of a general Inf-D system. It is worth nothing that as compared to Chapter 4, in this chapter we consider a more general Inf-D system and provide the results by using the resolvent operators. In Section 5.1, we first review Inf-D systems and our assumption on these systems in this chapter. Then, certain simple but crucial results on geometric theory of Fin-D system that are not available in the literature are presented. These results are based on resolvent operators. The invariant subspaces are investigated in Section 5.2, where we first derive necessary and sufficient conditions for both conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces. The unobservability subspace is also addressed in this section. Section 5.3 is dedicated to the FDI problem of Inf-D systems, where first the FDI problem is precisely formulated and then we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for the FDI problem solvability. Finally, Section 5.4 provides the conclusions.

Chapter 6 concludes the thesis and provides suggestion for future work.

1.6 Notation

The subspaces (Fin-D and Inf-D) are denoted by $\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}, \cdots$. The notations $\overline{\mathscr{V}}$ and \mathscr{V}^{\perp} denote the closure and orthogonal complement of the subspace $\mathscr{V},$ respectively. For a given operator L, the subspace of image of L is denoted by \mathscr{L} . The maps between two finite dimensional vector spaces are designated by A, B, \cdots . The inverse image of the subspace $\mathscr V$ with respect to the operator A is denoted by $A^{-1}\mathscr V.$ The block diagonal matrix $\begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}$ is denoted by diag(A, B). The real, complex, integer and positive integer numbers are denoted by \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{N} , respectively. The notation $\underline{\mathbb{N}}$ denotes the set $\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Let m < n and $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$. The corresponding embedded subspace of \mathscr{V} in \mathbb{R}^n is denoted by $\tilde{\mathscr{V}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. In other words, $\tilde{\mathscr{V}} = Q\mathscr{V}$, where Q is the embedding operator from \mathbb{R}^m into \mathbb{R}^n . In Chapter 3, we deal with special Inf-D subspaces that are defined as follows. The Inf-D subspace $\cdots \boxplus \mathscr{V} \boxplus$ $\mathscr{V} \boxplus \cdots$ (which represents the direct sum of an infinite number of \mathscr{V}) is denoted by $\boxplus(\mathscr{V})\subseteq \mathbb{R}^{\infty}$, where $\mathscr{V}\subseteq \mathbb{R}^{m}$. Let $\mathbf{x}=(x_{j})_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}=(\cdots,x_{-1}^{\mathrm{T}},x_{0}^{\mathrm{T}},x_{1}^{\mathrm{T}},\cdots)^{\mathrm{T}}\subseteq\boxplus(\mathscr{V})$ and $|\mathbf{x}|_{\infty} = \sup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} |x_i|$, where $x_i \in \mathscr{V}$. The vector space $\mathscr{V}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{V})$ is defined by $\{\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x} \in \boxplus(\mathscr{V}) \text{ and } |\mathbf{x}|_{\infty} < \infty\}$. It can be shown that \mathscr{V}_{∞} is a Banach (but not necessarily Hilbert) space. Let $i, j \in \mathbb{Z} \cup \{-\infty, \infty\}$ and $j \ge i$. The Inf-D vector $\mathbf{x}_i^j \in \bigoplus (\mathscr{V})$ is expressed as $\mathbf{x}_i^j = [\cdots, 0, 0, x_i^{\mathrm{T}}, \cdots, x_j^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, 0, \cdots]^{\mathrm{T}}$, where $x_\ell \in \mathscr{V}$ for all $i \leq \ell \leq j$, and associated with $\mathbf{x}_{-\infty}^{\infty}$ we simply use \mathbf{x} . Consider the real subspace $\mathscr{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{x_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}} \ (\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}).$ The corresponding complex subspace $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is defined as all vectors z that can be expressed as $z = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{I}} \zeta_i x_i$, where $\zeta_i \in \mathbb{C}$. The notations $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \cdots$ denote the maps between two vector spaces such that at least one of them is Inf-D. Particularly, the notions I and \mathcal{I} denote the identity operators on Fin-D and Inf-D subspaces, respectively. The set of all bounded operators defined on \mathcal{X} are designated by $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$. The domain of an unbounded operator \mathcal{A} is denoted by $D(\mathcal{A})$. The resolvent set of \mathcal{A} is the set of all λ such that $(\lambda I - \mathcal{A})$ is invertible

and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}$ is bounded. This set is denoted by $\rho(\mathcal{A})$. Also, the operator $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1} (\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1})$ denotes the resolvent operator of \mathcal{A} (\mathcal{A}). $\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ denotes the largest interval $[r, \infty)$ such that for all $\lambda \in [r, \infty)$, we have $\lambda \in \rho(\mathcal{A})$ (we have the same notations for operator \mathcal{A}). $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{R}}$ denote arbitrary $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspaces containing and contained in a given subspace \mathscr{V} , respectively. The operator of strongly continuous semigroup that is generated by \mathcal{A} is denoted by $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$. The largest invariant subspace with respect to $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ that is contained in the subspace \mathscr{V} is designated by $< \mathscr{V} | \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} >$. The other notations are defined within the text of the thesis.

Chapter 2

Background Information

In this chapter, we first review invariant subspaces and the FDI problem of Fin-D systems. The Inf-D vector spaces and Inf-D system theory are then briefly addressed.

2.1 Geometric Analysis of Linear Systems on a Fin-D Hilbert Space

Consider a linear time-invariant state space equation defined on an *n*-dimensional real Hilbert space. Based on the fact that every *n*-dimensional real Hilbert space is isometrically isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n [104], we can represent any linear operator between two Fin-D Hilbert spaces by a matrix. Therefore, without loss of any generality a linear Fin-D dynamical system can be represented as follows

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$

 $y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t),$
(2.1)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The above equation has a regular (sufficiently smooth and unique) solution for x is given by

$$x(t) = \Phi(t)x_0 + \int_0^t \Phi(t-s)Bu(s)ds$$
 (2.2)

where $\Phi(\cdot)$ is the fundamental matrix which can be computed as

$$\Phi(t) = e^{At} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{A^k t^k}{k!}.$$
(2.3)

Jordan Decomposition

In Chapter 4, we define the class of Inf-D RS systems and develop a number of results which lead to necessary and sufficient conditions for FDI. This work requires a generalization of the Jordan canonical form of Fin-D operators. In this subsection, we briefly review the Jordan-form operator and its invariant subspaces.

Definition 2.1. (General Jourdan Decomposition) [74] For every operator A: $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a isomorphism $T : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ such that $J = T^{-1}AT = diag(J_1, \dots, J_{\ell_1})$, where $J_i : \mathbb{C}^{n_i} \to \mathbb{C}^{n_i}$, $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_1} n_i = n$ and

$$J_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{i} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & \lambda_{i} & 1 & 0 & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \lambda_{i} & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \lambda_{i} \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.4)

where $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenvalue of A.

Since in the FDI problem we are interested in real systems and real subspaces, the following definition is more suitable for our purpose.

Definition 2.2. (Real Jordan Decomposition) [74] For every operator $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists an isomorphism $T : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $J = T^{-1}AT = diag(J_1, \cdots, J_\ell)$ such that $J_i : \mathbb{R}^{n_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_i}, \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} n_i = n$. The Jordan block J_i corresponding to a real eigenvalue is defined as per equation (2.4), otherwise

$$J_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda_{i} & I & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & \Lambda_{i} & I & 0 & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \cdots \\ \vdots & 0 & \cdots & \Lambda_{i} & I \\ \vdots & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \Lambda_{i} \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.5)

where $\Lambda_i = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{i,1} & \mu_{i,2} \\ -\mu_{i,2} & \mu_{i,1} \end{bmatrix}$, such that $\mu_{i,1} \pm j\mu_{i,2}$ are two complex eigenvalues of A. Also, I is an identity operator defined on \mathbb{R}^2 .

Invariant subspaces play a central role in the geometric FDI approach. To define invariant subspaces, we need the following notation. Consider a linear operator $A: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and a subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, we have

$$A\mathscr{V} = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n | \ y = Ax, \ x \in \mathscr{V} \}$$

$$(2.6)$$

Definition 2.3. A subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is called A-invariant if $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$.

By considering the Jordan blocks J_i defined by (2.4) and (2.5), it follows that one can decompose \mathbb{R}^n into $\mathbb{R}^n = \tilde{\mathscr{V}}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \tilde{\mathscr{V}}_\ell$, where $J|\mathscr{V}_i = J_i$, and $\tilde{\mathscr{V}}$ is the embedded subspace of \mathscr{V} into \mathbb{R}^n . In other words, $\tilde{\mathscr{V}} = Q\mathscr{V}$, where Q is the embedding operator from \mathbb{R}^m into \mathbb{R}^n , where $m = \dim(\mathscr{V})$. The following lemma shows a relationship between the Jordan decomposition and the *J*-invariant subspaces.

Lemma 2.4. [74, Proposition 0.4] The subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is J-invariant that is $J\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ if $\mathscr{V} = \widetilde{\mathscr{V}_1}^1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{V}_\ell}^1$, such that $\widetilde{\mathscr{V}_i}^1 \subseteq \widetilde{\mathscr{V}_i}$ and \mathscr{V}_i^1 is J_i-invariant for $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$.

It is worth noting that reverse of the above lemma only holds for the operators

with distinct eigenvalues. For example, consider $J = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$ that is already

in the Jordan canonical form and the subspace $\mathscr{V} = \operatorname{span}\{[1, 1, 0, 0]^{\mathrm{T}}\}$. It follows that \mathscr{V} cannot be decomposed into $\mathscr{V} = \tilde{\mathscr{V}}_1^1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \tilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\ell}^1$, however it is *J*-invariant. This problem has its roots in the fact that Lemma 2.4 considers different Jordan blocks without any special concern about the eigenvalues as to whether they are distinct or multiple. In other words, Lemma 2.4 is not a coordinate-free result and the structure of *J* and the decomposition of \mathscr{V} are based on the coordinates that are defined by the (generalized) eigenvectors. To tackle this problem, one needs to merge all the Jordan blocks corresponding to a given eigenvalue as shown in the next lemma.

Lemma 2.5. [101] The subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is J-invariant (that is, $J\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$) if and only if $\mathscr{V} = \widetilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_1}^1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \widetilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_m}^1$, where $\widetilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i}$ is the corresponding eigenspace to λ_i $\widetilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i}^1 \subseteq \widetilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i}$ and $\mathscr{V}_{\lambda_i}^1$ is J_{λ_i} -invariant $i = 1, \cdots, m$, $J_{\lambda_i} = diag(J_{i,1}, \cdots, J_{i,n_i})$, n_i is the algebraic multiplicity of λ_i and $J_{i,k}$ is the Jordan block corresponding to λ_i .

Fin-D Spectral Projection

According to the above discussion, the subspaces $\tilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$ in Lemma 2.5 are of importance, and consequently it is necessary to formally characterize these subspaces for Inf-D systems. In Fin-D systems, it is obvious that $\tilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i} = \operatorname{span}\{\phi_{\lambda_i,k}\}_{k=1}^{n_i}$, where $\phi_{\lambda_i,k}$ are the (generalized) eigenvectors corresponding to λ_i and n_i is the algebraic multiplicity of λ_i . However, to generalize the above results we need to investigate the subspaces $\tilde{\mathscr{V}}_{\lambda_i}$ from a more abstract point of view. To generalize Jordan form to Inf-D systems we need the following projection operator

$$P_{\lambda_i} : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n, \quad P_{\lambda_i} z = \frac{1}{2j\pi} \int_{\Gamma_i} (\lambda I - A)^{-1} z \mathrm{d}\lambda,$$
 (2.7)

where Γ_i is a simple curve in \mathbb{C} surrounding only λ_i . Indeed, it can be shown that

$$P_{\lambda_i} z = \begin{cases} z & z \in \tilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\lambda_i} \\ 0 & \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

This is concluded from the Cauchy's integral formula for holomorphic functions ([14, Appendix A]).

By following Definition 2.2, one can construct real subspaces corresponding to a complex eigenvalue λ and its complex conjugate $\overline{\lambda}$. Therefore, we have $\sum_i P_{\lambda_i} = I$ and $P_{\lambda_i} \mathbb{R}^n = \tilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\lambda_i}$. In Chapter 4 by generalizing the above operator for Inf-D systems, we formally define the RS operators.

2.2 Geometric FDI Approach for Finite Dimensional (Fin-D) Systems

In this section, we briefly review the geometric FDI approach for the Fin-D systems that has been developed in [3, 41, 50]. This approach is a cornerstone for this dissertation.

Consider the following linear Fin-D system

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} L_i f_i(t),$$

$$y(t) = Cx(t),$$
(2.9)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote state, input and output vectors, respectively. Moreover, L_i and f_i denote fault signatures and fault signals, respectively. For example, by setting p = m, $f_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ and $L = [L_1 \cdots L_p] = B$, one can model the actuator faults in the system (2.9). In other words, $L_k f_k(t)$ represents the faulty behavior of the k^{th} actuator. For example, by setting $f_k(t) = -0.2u_k(t)$ for all $t \geq t_{\text{f}}$, one can model the permanent fault of 20% loss of effectiveness in the k^{th} actuator that occurs at $t = t_{\text{f}}$. Also, be setting

$$f_k(t) = \begin{cases} -0.1u_k(t) & t_{f_1} \le t \le t_{f_2} \\ 0 & \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

we model the intermittent fault of 10% loss of effectiveness in the k^{th} actuator that occurs at the interval $[t_{\text{f}_1}, t_{\text{f}_2}]$.

As stated in the previous chapter, the FDI problem solvability is accomplished by generating a set of residual r_i , i = 1, ..., p such that each residual is decoupled from all inputs and faults but one fault. In other words, each r_i has the following properties,

- In absence of the fault f_i the residual r_i decays to a neighborhood of zero.
- When the fault f_i occurs, the residual r_i exceeds a predefined threshold.

It should be pointed out that based on the above definition we have one residual for each fault signal. However, one can use a coding approach to use a smaller set of residuals to detect and to isolate the faults (refer to [3,5] for more details). The detection filters are the realization that is utilized in this thesis for the residual generators. In other words, we use a set of filters such that output of each filter is a residual signal corresponding to one and only one fault.

In the geometric FDI approach for Fin-D systems, the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem (generating the residual) have been developed based on invariant subspaces [3]. In particular, the A-invariant (Definition 2.3), conditioned invariant ((C, A)-invariant) and unobservability subspaces play a crucial role in this area. By considering the dynamical system (2.9), these subspaces are defined as follows.

Definition 2.6. A subspace \mathscr{W} is called conditioned invariant if there exists an output injection map $D : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $(A + DC)\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

It can be shown that the subspace \mathscr{W} is conditioned invariant if and only if $A(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ [3]. The set of all conditioned invariant subspaces containing a given subspace \mathscr{L} is closed respect to intersection, and consequently this set always holds a minimal subspace in the inclusion sense. The minimal conditioned invariant subspace containing the subspace \mathscr{L} (that is denoted by $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})$) is the limiting subspace of the following algorithm,

$$\mathscr{W}_0 = \mathscr{L},$$

$$\mathscr{W}_k = \mathscr{L} + A(\mathscr{W}_{k-1} \cap \ker C), \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(2.11)

where $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L}) = \mathscr{W}_n$. Another cornerstone of geometric FDI is the unobservability subspace that is defined as follows.

Definition 2.7. A subspace S is called unobservability subspace if there exist two maps $D : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and $H : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^{q_0}$ such that $q_0 \leq q$ and $S = \langle \ker HC | A + DC \rangle$ (that is largest A + DC-invariant contained in ker HC).

The notation $\underline{\mathcal{S}}(\mathscr{L})$ denotes the family of all unobservability subspaces \mathcal{S} containing the subspace \mathscr{L} . As above, it can be shown that the set $\underline{\mathcal{S}}(\mathscr{L})$ always holds a minimal (that is denoted by $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L})$) [3, Chapter 2, Theorem 18]. The subspace $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L})$ is given by the following algorithm,

$$S_0 = \mathbb{R}^n,$$

$$S_k = \mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L}) + A^{-1}(S_{k-1} \cap \ker C), \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(2.12)

where $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})$ is the limiting subspace of the algorithm (2.11) and $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L}) = \mathcal{S}_n$.

The main result on the geometric FDI approach of Fin-D systems has been provided in [3] as follows.

Theorem 2.8. [3, Chapter 4, Theorem 2] The FDI problem defined above is solvable if and only if there exist the unobservability subspaces

$$\mathcal{S}_i^* \cap \mathscr{L}_i = 0, \ i = 1, \dots, p, \tag{2.13}$$

where $\mathscr{L}_i = \operatorname{span}\{L_i\}$ and \mathscr{S}_i^* is the smallest unobservability subspace containing $\mathscr{L} = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^p \mathscr{L}_j$ by using algorithm (2.12).

The prominent feature of the above theorem is that the sufficient part has been shown by a constructive method. Specifically, to show the sufficient part a systematic method to design the filters and residual generators has been provided. The geometric FDI approach for Fin-D systems includes three major steps, namely a signature mapping, factoring out and filter design.

- Signature mapping: In this step, one obtains the maps D and H such that the signatures of all faults but f_i (i.e., L_j, j ≠ i) are contained in the unobservability subspace defined by D and H (that is S*(L) =< ker HC|A + DC >, L = ∑^p_{j=1,j≠i} L_j).
- 2. Factoring out: If condition (2.13) is satisfied, the unobservability subspace (that is computed in the previous step) is factored out from the linear system (HC,A+DC), where the resulting quotient subsystem is an observable system which is decoupled from all faults but f_i .
- 3. *Filter Design*: In the filter design step, one designs an observer to decouple the residual (that is output of the observer) from input signal(s) and initial state error. Below, we formulate these steps.

As mentioned above, one needs to factor out unobservability subspaces. Below, we shows the steps. Let S_i^* be the unobservability subspace containing all fault signatures $L_j, j \neq i$ such that $S_i^* \cap \mathscr{L}_i = 0$. Also, there exist the maps D_i and H_i are such that $S_i^* = \langle \ker H_i C | A + D_i C \rangle$. By definition, S_i^* is an $(A + D_i C)$ -invariant subspace.

Now, consider the the canonical projection map $P_i : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n / \mathcal{S}_i^*$ and the

following detection filter,

$$\dot{\omega}_i(t) = F_i \omega_i(t) + G_i u(t) - E_i y(t),$$

$$r_i(t) = H_i y(t) - M_i \omega_i(t),$$
(2.14)

where $\omega(t) \in \mathbb{R}^o$, $D_f = D + P_i^{-r} D_o H_i$, D_o is the observer gain, $E_i = P_i D_f$, $G_i = P_i B$, A_p is an operator such that $A_p P_i = P_i (A + D_i C)$ and $F_i = A_p + D_o M_i$. Also, M_i is the unique solution of $M_i P_i = H_i C$. Note that P_i is a monic operator and hence, the M_i exists and is unique, and $\dim(\mathbb{R}^o) = n - \dim(\mathcal{S}_i^*)$ that is factoring out of \mathcal{S}_i^* - Step 2.

Define $e(t) = P_i x(t) - \omega_i(t)$. It follows that

$$\dot{e}(t) = P_i A x(t) + G_i u(t) + P_i L_i f_i(t) - (F_i \omega_i(t) + G_i u(t) - P_i D_i C x(t) - D_o H_i C x(t))$$

$$= P_i (A + D_i C) x(t) - F_i \omega_i(t) + D_o H_i C x(t) + P_i L_i f_i(t)$$

$$= A_p P_i x(t) + D_o M_i P_i x(t) - F_i \omega_i(t) + P_i L_i f_i(t) = F_i e(t) + P_i L_i f_i(t)$$
(2.15)

Moreover, since $r_i(t) = H_i y(t) - M_i \omega_i(t)$ and $M_i P_i = H_i C$, one obtains $r_i(t) = M_i P_i x(t) - M_i \omega(t) = M_i e(t)$.

Note that based on the fact that S_i^* is the unobservable subspace, by factoring out this subspace the subsystem (M_i, A_p) . The gain D_o is an observer gain for the system (M_i, A_p) that is designed to eliminate the effects of input and initial state error. This is Step 3.

Now, if $f_i(t) \equiv 0$ the residual vanishes to a small neighborhood of origin. However, if $f_i(t) \neq 0$, r(t) exceeds a threshold (that are defined by using Monte Carlo simulation - refer to Chapter 3 for more details). Therefore, the filter (2.14) can detect and isolate the fault f_i .

As can be observed from the above procedure, the unobservability subspace is a central concept in the geometric FDI approach. Therefore, to generalize this approach to a more general class of dynamical systems, defining this subspace is inevitable. For instance, this concept is generalized to Markovian-Jump and Time-Delay systems in [64–66, 111].

2.3 Inf-D Vector Spaces

In this section, we review certain basic mathematical tools that are essential for studying Inf-D systems. These tools can be categorized into two main groups, namely topological (more particularly Hilbert) spaces and theory of semigroups of operators. In the geometric theory of Fin-D systems developed in [74,112], one does not need to deal with a linear space equipped with a norm function, and a basis that fully characterizes the corresponding space. The main reason lies on the fact that every Fin-D subspaces \mathscr{V} is isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^{n_v} (i.e. there exists an invertible linear operator $T : \mathscr{V} \to \mathbb{R}^{n_v}$), where $n_v = \dim(\mathscr{V})$. Therefore, every Fin-D subspace is closed. However, Inf-D vector subspaces are not necessarily closed and one usually deals with limits. To define a limit in a vector space one needs to define a norm, or in more general sense, a topology on the corresponding vector spaces [104].

This section focuses only on the special class of topological spaces that are induced by an inner product defined on the corresponding spaces. More precisely, we only review the Hilbert spaces in an arbitrary dimension.

However, before going into more detail, we first provide an example which clearly shows that dealing with Inf-D subspaces are more complicated than Fin-D subspaces. Consequently, it leads us to more sophisticated mathematical tools that are provided in this section. Indeed, this example emphasizes the fact that trivial results in Fin-D spaces are not easy to show for Inf-D subspaces and even certain set of them does not hold true.

Example 2.9. Basis of Inf-D vector spaces:

Consider an *n*-dimensional vector space \mathcal{X} . It is well-known that every set of *n*

linearly independent vectors is a basis for \mathcal{X} . Now, assume that \mathcal{X} is an Inf-D space and consider $B_1 = \{\phi_1, \phi_2, \cdots\}$ as a set of *infinite* number of linear independent vectors of \mathcal{X} . Although cardinality of B_1 is infinite, B_1 is not necessarily a basis for the space \mathcal{X} . To see this, let us define a set of linearly independent vectors as $B_2 = \{\phi_2, \phi_4, \cdots, \phi_{2k}, \cdots\}$ which is a subset of B_1 . It follows that the number of vectors in B_2 is also infinite, however, it cannot span the space that is constructed by B_1 . This lack of completeness causes a set of challenging concepts such as non-closed subspaces, non-complete subspaces, etc.

As emphasized in the above examples, for investigating the Inf-D spaces we need more sophisticated tools and even by using these tools certain results in Fin-D spaces do not hold for Inf-D vector spaces. This section attempts to review certain concepts of linear vector spaces from an abstract point of view that allows one to address both Fin-D and Inf-D dynamical systems by using a unique methodology.

This section is organized as follows. In the next subsection, we investigate the inner product vector spaces from the topological point of view. Hilbert vector spaces are reviewed in Subsection 2.3.2. Basis, dimension, dual spaces and quotient subspaces are briefly addressed in Subsections 2.3.3-2.3.6.

2.3.1 Topological Spaces

In this subsection, we review topological subspaces and focus on the topologies induced by norm. Consider the set \mathcal{X} and a collocation of subsets of \mathcal{X} , denoted by \mathfrak{T} such that the elements of \mathfrak{T} (that are subsets of \mathcal{X}) satisfy

- 1. $\mathcal{X}, \emptyset \in \mathfrak{T}$.
- 2. $V_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{T} \Rightarrow \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{I}} V_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{T}$ for arbitrary index set \mathbb{I} (finite, infinite or even uncountable).
- 3. $V_1, V_2 \in \mathfrak{T} \Rightarrow V_1 \cap V_2 \in \mathfrak{T}$.

 V_{α} and \mathfrak{T} are called open sets and topology, respectively. We denote this topological set as $(\mathcal{X}, \mathfrak{T})$ or simply \mathcal{X} when the topology is known from the context.

Generally, topology is a tool which enables one to define continuity for a map between sets. Consider two topological sets $(\mathcal{X}, \mathfrak{T}_x)$ and $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathfrak{T}_y)$ and the map F : $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$. Then, we say F is continuous at x_0 if and only if for all open sets containing $F(x_0)$, say V_y , $F^{-1}(V_y)$ is an open set of \mathcal{X} . This definition is more general than the ε, δ definition that is used usually in the ordinary calculus [113].

As stated earlier, in this section we are only interested in the topology that is defined on a vector space and not on a set. In certain literature [104], the set \mathcal{X} with the topology \mathfrak{T} is called as the topological vector space. However, here we reserve this name for the case when the set \mathcal{X} is a linear vector space that is equipped by a topology. We have:

Definition 2.10. The vector space \mathcal{X} with the topology \mathfrak{T} is called the topological vector space if the vector addition and scalar product operations defined on \mathcal{X} are continuous with respect to the topology of $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X}$ and $\mathbb{F} \times \mathcal{X}$, respectively, where \mathbb{F} is the scalar field on which the space \mathcal{X} is defined.

In this thesis, we are mainly concerned with Hilbert spaces defined on \mathbb{R} , so we focus on the topologies that are induced by using norm. Note that every inner product space is a normed space with the norm induced from the inner product. Consider the normed vector space \mathcal{X} and the corresponding norm function $|| \cdot ||$. One can define a topology for this vector space by using the norm as follows. We call a set V as an open set (to define topology) if for every $x_0 \in V$, one can find $r_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $B(x_0, r_0) = \{x \in \mathcal{X} | ||x - x_0|| < r_0\} \subseteq V$.

Based on the norm (or generally, open sets and topological structure), one can define the limit as follows. We write $x_1 \to x_2$ when $||x_1 - x_2|| \to 0$ which is well-defined because $||x|| \in \mathbb{R}$ and the limit is well-defined on \mathbb{R} . Also, one can define the Cauchy and convergent sequence as usual. Recall that the sequence $\{x_i\}$ is called a Cauchy sequence if for any given $\varepsilon > 0$ one can find a number $N_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\forall n, m > N_{\varepsilon} \Rightarrow ||x_n - x_m|| < \varepsilon \tag{2.16}$$

Now, we have following definitions.

Definition 2.11. Open Covers: The collection of open sets $\{U_{\alpha}\}$ (finite, countable or uncountable) is an open cover of subspace \mathscr{V} if $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \bigcup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}$.

Definition 2.12. Completeness: The topological vector space \mathcal{X} is said to be complete if every Cauchy sequence is convergent.

Remark 2.13. As we shall see in the next subsection, in Inf-D subspaces we usually work with the limits of sequences, and the completeness property is crucial to show the existence of limits in the corresponding subspaces.

2.3.2 Hilbert Spaces

As mentioned earlier, in this dissertation we focus on Hilbert spaces. In this part, we first define Hilbert spaces and then important concepts that relate to our research are provided. In this section, \mathcal{X} denote a Fin-D or Inf-D systems. In other words, all the results are applicable to both Fin-D and Inf-D vector spaces.

Definition 2.14. Consider the vector space \mathcal{X} , the inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and the induced norm that is defined as $|| \cdot || : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$, $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}$. We call \mathcal{X} a Hilbert space if \mathcal{X} is complete.

Therefore, the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} is naturally equipped with a topological structure that is induced by a norm.

Example 2.15. *Hilbert vector space:*

Consider the space $L_2([0,1],\mathbb{R})$ that is the space of all square integrable functions

defined on [0, 1], and the inner product $\langle f, g \rangle = \int_0^1 f(x)g(x)dx$. The induced norm is defined by $||f|| = \sqrt{\int_0^1 f(x)^2 dx}$, and it can be shown that this normed space is complete [104].

2.3.3 Basis

One of the important concepts in vector spaces is the basis. Although, to define a basis the corresponding vector space does not need to be even a normed space, in this section we focus on the Hilbert spaces.

There are various definitions of basis. However, here we review two of these definitions.

Definition 2.16. Consider the vector space \mathcal{X} and the set of independent vectors $H = {\phi_i}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}$, where \mathbb{I} is an index set (not necessarily countable) and $\phi_i \in \mathcal{X}$. The set H is a Hamel basis of \mathcal{X} if every $x \in \mathcal{X}$ can be expressed as a linear combination of a finite number of ϕ_i .

In the literature, the Hamel basis is also called an algebraic basis [104]. For the Fin-D vector spaces (dimension is formally defined in the next subsection), every basis is a Hamel basis, and every Hamel basis is a countable basis. However, for Inf-D Banach space (that is a complete vector space equipped with a norm), every Hamel basis is essentially *uncountable* that makes analysis of Inf-D system by using Hamel spaces much more difficult. In other words,

Lemma 2.17. ([104, Problem i.11.2]) Le \mathcal{X} be an Inf-D vector space. Then, every Hamel basis for \mathcal{X} is uncountable.

Since in Inf-D systems we deal with Hilbert spaces with a countable dimension (that is more structured) one can utilize the following countable basis (that is called as Riesz basis) which has certain nice properties. The following definition formally introduces the Riesz basis. **Definition 2.18.** [14] The set of vectors $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$, $\mathbb{I}\subseteq\mathbb{N}$ is called the Riesz basis for the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} if $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}} = \mathcal{X}$.

It can be shown that if $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ is a Riesz basis for \mathcal{X} , then there exists a set of vectors $\{\psi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ such that $\psi_i \in \mathcal{X}$ and $\langle \psi_i, \phi_k \rangle = \delta_{ik}$ (δ_{ik} denotes the Dirac delta function), for all $i, k \in \mathbb{I}$ [14, Section 2.3]. In other words, ψ_i 's and ϕ_k are biorthonormal vectors [14].

Example 2.19. Riesz basis:

Consider the space $L_2([0,1],\mathbb{R})$. It can be shown that $\{\sin(2n\pi x), \cos(2n\pi x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Riesz spectral basis for $L_2([0,1],\mathbb{R})$ (that is a countable basis).

Definition 2.20. [104] A Hilbert space that admits a countable orthonormal basis is called a separable Hilbert space.

Since the Riesz bases are equivalent to a countable orthonormal basis, every Hilbert space that has a Riesz basis is separable [104]. The Inf-D systems that are addressed in this thesis are defined on separable Hilbert spaces.

Another difference between Definitions 2.16 and 2.18 does show up in Inf-D vector spaces. By using a Hamel basis, each vector is presented by a finite number of basis vectors. In other word, $x = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} \zeta_j \phi_j$, where $\mathbb{J} \subseteq \mathbb{I}$ is a finite subset. Since \mathbb{J} is finite, the equality $x = \sum_{j \in J} \zeta_j \phi_j$ is well-defined. However, for the Riesz basis (Definition 2.18) in fact we have $x = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \zeta_k \phi_k$, where the limit is well-defined by using the norm defined on the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} and the fact that \mathcal{X} is complete.¹

2.3.4 Dimension

Generally, the dimension of a vector space is defined based on the basis (as stated above subsequently we deal with Definition 2.18). Based on the basis, we have three

¹As can be observed, to define a countable basis we need only norm functions (and no inner product). However, for the consistency we provided the Definition 2.18 for Hilbert spaces.

types of Hilbert spaces as follows:

- Fin-D Hilbert spaces the corresponding basis is a finite set. It includes all the Fin-D spaces.
- Inf-D separable Hilbert spaces the corresponding basis is an infinite, countable set. For instance $L_2([0, 1], \mathbb{R})$.
- Inf-D and uncountable vector spaces the corresponding basis is an infinite, uncountable set. For example, consider the vector space ℓ^{∞} that is the space of all sequences $(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \cdots)$ such that $\zeta_k \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\sup_k(|\zeta_k|) < \infty$ (refer to [104, page 57]).

Since the state space of PDE and time-delay systems can be formulated in an appropriate Hilbert space with a countable basis, in this thesis, we are interested on the first two types of Hilbert spaces.

Remark 2.21. The dimension of a vector space is directly related to its field. For example, consider the plane E^2 (which is all the points in a plane- but it is not still a vector space). Let \mathbb{R}^2 and \mathbb{C}^1 be the corresponding vector spaces of E^2 defined on \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{C} , respectively. It follows that a basis for \mathbb{R}^2 is $\{\phi_1, \phi_2\}$, where $\phi_1 = [1, 0]^T$ and $\phi_2 = [0, 1]^T$, and every $x \in E^2$ can be expressed as $x = \zeta_1 \phi_1 + \zeta_2 \phi_2$ ($\zeta_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for i = 1, 2). Hence, dim(\mathbb{R}^2) = 2. Now, consider \mathbb{C}^1 (that is, E^2 on \mathbb{C}). We claim that the dimension of \mathbb{C}^1 is one. Towards this end, consider an arbitrary point $x \in E^2$, where $x = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2)$. It is clear, one can represent x as $x = (\gamma_1 + j\gamma_2)$. Let $\phi_1 = 1$ and $\gamma = \gamma_1 + j\gamma_2 \in \mathbb{C}$. Therefore, $\{\phi_1\}$ is a basis for \mathbb{C}^1 , and dim(\mathbb{C}^1) = 1.

Now, we are in a position to show the main feature of the Riesz basis.

Consider a Hilbert space with two bases $B_1 = \{\phi_{1,i}\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}$ and $B_2 = \{\phi_{2,i}\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}$, $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. We say the bases B_1 and B_2 are equivalent if there exists a topological isomorphism $\mathcal{T} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ (that is, \mathcal{T} is a linear continuous map with continuous inverse) such that $\phi_{2,i} = \mathcal{T}\phi_{1,i}$. The main features that we are interested in are as follows [104]:

- Every separable Hilbert space has a countable orthogonal basis.
- Every countable basis of a Hilbert space is equivalent to all orthogonal bases.
- A basis of the Hilbert space X is countable if and only if it is equivalent to a Riesz basis of X.

Therefore, a Riesz basis is an extension of common definition of basis in Fin-D spaces to countable Hilbert spaces. Also, we have the following important theorem.

Theorem 2.22. [114, Theorem 9] Consider the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} and the set $E = \{\phi_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}} \text{ such that } \overline{\operatorname{span}\{E\}} = \mathcal{X}$. Then, E is a Riesz basis if and only if there exist two positive numbers M_1 and M_2 (independent of n) such that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $M_1 \sum_{k=1}^n |\alpha_k|^2 \leq ||\sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_k \phi_k||^2 \leq M_2 \sum_{k=1}^n |\alpha_k|^2$, where $|| \cdot ||$ denotes the norm induced from $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n |\alpha_k|^2 \leq \infty$.

In the literature, a Riesz basis is defined by using the above theorem (refer to [14, Definition 2.3.1]).

2.3.5 Orthogonal Space

Dual spaces are of special importance in the system theory of Inf-D dynamical systems. For instance, they are essential to address the duality of observability and controllability. Let us first define an orthogonal subspace.

Definition 2.23. Consider the inner-product vector space \mathcal{X} (not necessarily Fin-D) and the subspace \mathscr{V} (not necessarily closed). Then the orthogonal subspace to \mathscr{V} that is denoted by \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is defined as

$$\mathscr{V}^{\perp} = \{ x \in \mathscr{X} | \langle x, y \rangle = 0, \ \forall y \in \mathscr{V} \}$$

$$(2.17)$$

This definition is valid for all inner product spaces. However, if \mathcal{X} is a Hilbert space \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is a closed subspace (even if \mathscr{V} is not). One of most important results on Hilbert spaces is the *Riesz Projection Theorem* that is given below.

Theorem 2.24. [14, Theorem A.3.52] Consider the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} and the closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$. Then each $x \in \mathcal{X}$ can be represented uniquely by x = v + w, such that $v \in \mathscr{V}$ and $w \in \mathscr{V}^{\perp}$.

In the above theorem v is called as the projection of x on \mathscr{V} . Also, this theorem is of special interest to us because it shows that we can define quotient subsystems (by factoring out an unobservability subspace).

Remark 2.25. The "closed" condition in the above theorem is crucial. Indeed, this condition is necessary even for Fin-D subspaces. However, since every Fin-D subspace is closed, the above theorem is valid for all Fin-D subspaces.

2.3.6 Quotient Subspaces

For Inf-D Hilbert spaces, quotient subspaces are defined as in Fin-D spaces. Quotient subspaces play a key role in the FDI problem. More precisely, by using the quotient subspace we derive a subsystem that is decoupled from all faults but one.

Consider the Hilbert vector space \mathcal{X} and the subspace $\mathscr{M} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$. Then for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$, the element [x] of the quotient subspace \mathcal{X}/\mathscr{M} is defined by the set $\{u|(x-u) \in \mathscr{M}\}$. Now, we have the following result for the Banach spaces.

Theorem 2.26. [104] Consider the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} and the closed subspace \mathcal{M} . Then the subspace \mathcal{X}/\mathcal{M} is a complete (Banach) space with respect to the following norm

$$||[x]||_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{M}} = \inf_{u \in [x]} |u| = \inf_{m \in \mathscr{M}} |x - m|$$
(2.18)

where $|\cdot|$ is the norm defined on \mathcal{X} .

Again, note that one needs the closeness in the above theorem.

Example 2.27. Quotient Subspace:

Consider the vector space $L_2([0, 1], \mathbb{R})$ and the closed subspace $\mathscr{M} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\sin(2n\pi x)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\}}$. It follows that $L_2([0, 1], \mathbb{R})/\mathscr{M}$ is also closed and isomorphic to $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\cos(2n\pi x)\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}}$.

2.4 Linear Operators

Given that this thesis is concerned with linear Inf-D systems, in this section we review the linear operators that are defined on Fin-D and Inf-D Hilbert spaces. Generally, one can define two different types of operators on Hilbert spaces as follows:

- 1. Bounded Operator: An operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is a bounded operator, if there exists a positive number $M_0 > 0$ such that $||\mathcal{D}|| < M$, where $|| \cdot ||$ is the operator norm. The bounded operators have the following properties,
 - $D(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{X}$, where $D(\mathcal{D})$ denotes the domain of \mathcal{D} .
 - A operator *D* is bounded if and only if it is continuous (on every point in *X*).
- 2. Unbounded Operator: An operator that is not bounded, is unbounded.

It should be pointed out that an unbounded operator can only be defined on Inf-D vector space (refer to the following subsection).

Moreover, finite-rank operators are of a special interest that are defined as follows.

Definition 2.28. The operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is finite-rank if $D(\mathcal{D})$ and/or Im \mathcal{D} is Fin-D.

Without loss of any generality we can assume \mathcal{D} is onto \mathcal{Y} and $\overline{D(\mathcal{D})} = \mathcal{X}$. Therefore, \mathcal{D} is finite-rank if at least one of the vector spaces \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} is Fin-D.

2.4.1 Unbounded Operators

Since in the Inf-D system theory unbounded operators have a special interest, we review these operators here in more details. As stated earlier, an unbounded operator can only be defined on Inf-D spaces. In other words, we have:

Lemma 2.29. [104] Consider the operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$. Then, \mathcal{D} is unbounded only if dim $(\mathcal{X}) = \infty$.

A very important corollary from the above fact can be stated as follows:

Corollary 2.30. Consider the operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ such that $\dim(\mathcal{X}) < \infty$. Then, \mathcal{D} is bounded.

Remark 2.31. Note that \mathcal{D} can still be unbounded even if \mathcal{Y} is Fin-D. More precisely, finite-rankness is not a sufficient condition for boundedness.

A-Bounded Operators

A special unbounded operator that is related to another unbounded operator (that is denoted as \mathcal{A}) is the \mathcal{A} -bounded operator.

Definition 2.32. [101, Definition II.4] Consider an unbounded operator $\mathcal{A} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$. The operator $\mathcal{F} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is \mathcal{A} -bounded if $D(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq D(\mathcal{F})$ and $\mathcal{F}(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}$ is bounded.

Note that every bounded operator \mathcal{F} is \mathcal{A} -bounded. Moreover, \mathcal{A} -boundedness is only defined for the operators that are defined on the same vector space (that is \mathcal{X}) as \mathcal{A} .

2.4.2 Adjoint Operators

To apply and utilize the duality concept in linear systems, one needs to deal with adjoint operators. In this subsection, we review adjoint operators in more detail. **Definition 2.33.** [14, Definition A.3.57] Consider a bounded operator $\mathcal{T} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$. There exists the unique operator $\mathcal{T}^* : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$ such that for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and $y \in \mathcal{Y}$

$$\langle \mathcal{T}x, y \rangle = \langle x, \mathcal{T}^*y \rangle.$$
(2.19)

It is worth noting that the left dot product is defined on \mathcal{Y} , whereas the right dot product is defined on \mathcal{X} . However, since it is clear from the context, we do not use subscript for the dot products. The adjoint operator of an unbounded operator is defined as follows.

Definition 2.34. [104] Consider an unbounded operator $\mathcal{T} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ such that $\overline{D(\mathcal{T})} = \mathcal{X}$. Then, let $D(\mathcal{T}^*) \subseteq \mathcal{Y}$ be all $y \in \mathcal{Y}$ such that there exists $x^* \in \mathcal{X}$ such that $\langle \mathcal{T}x, y \rangle = \langle x, x^* \rangle$ for all $x \in D(\mathcal{A})$. We define $\mathcal{T}^* : D(\mathcal{T}^*) \to \mathcal{X}$ and $\mathcal{T}^*y = x^*$.

The following facts are useful once we deal with adjoint operators.

- 1. If \mathcal{T} is bounded, then $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{T})^* = \mathcal{A}^* + \mathcal{T}^*$.
- 2. Adjoint operator of a finite-rank operator is finite-rank.
- In general, (𝔅^{*})^{*} ≠ 𝔅. For example, consider 𝔅 : 𝔅 → 𝔅, where dim(𝔅) < ∞.
 By Definition 2.34, we have 𝔅^{*} : 𝔅 → 𝔅 and since 𝔅 is Fin-D, by Corollary 2.30 𝔅^{*} is bounded. Moreover, given that 𝔅^{*} is bounded, (𝔅^{*})^{*} is bounded.
 Therefore, (𝔅^{*})^{*} ≠ 𝔅. However, if 𝔅 is bounded, we obtain (𝔅^{*})^{*} = 𝔅.

2.5 Two-Dimensional (2-D) Systems

In this section, we briefly review 2-D systems. The results that are provided in Chapter 3 are applicable to n-D systems, for $n \ge 2$.

There are various models that are adopted in the literature for 2-D systems including the Rosser model [115], the Fornasini-Marichesini model I (FMI) and

model II (FMII) [82,85]. The FMI can be formulated as a Roesser model and the Roesser model is a special case of the FMII model [82]. In this section, we consider and concentrate on the FMII model, and consequently our results are also derived for this general class of 2-D systems.

Consider the following FMII model [85],

$$x(i+1, j+1) = A_1 x(i, j+1) + A_2 x(i+1, j) + B_1 u(i, j+1) + B_2 u(i+1, j)$$

+
$$\sum_{k=1}^{p} L_k^1 f_k(i, j+1) + \sum_{k=1}^{p} L_k^2 f_k(i+1, j),$$

$$y(i, j) = C x(i, j), \ i, j \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(2.20)

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$, and $y \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote the state, input and output vectors, respectively. The fault signals and the corresponding fault signatures are designated by f_k , L_k^1 and L_k^2 , respectively. Since in this thesis all the introduced invariant subspaces are based on the operators A_1 , A_2 and C, we designate the system (2.20) by the triple (C, A_1, A_2) .

Remark 2.35. Note that the system (2.20) represents and captures the presence of both actuator and component faults. To represent sensor faults, one can augment the sensor dynamics and model the sensor faults as actuator faults in the augmented system (for a complete discussion on this issue refer to [3] - Chapters 3 and 4). Also, it should be pointed out that the fault signal f_k affects the system through two different fault signatures L_k^1 and L_k^2 . An alternative fault model could have been expressed according to the following representation,

$$x(i+1, j+1) = A_1 x(i, j+1) + A_2 x(i+1, j) + B_1 u(i, j+1) + B_2 u(i+1, j) + \sum_{k=1}^{p} L_k g_k(i, j), y(i, j) = C x(i, j).$$
(2.21)

Model (2.20) is more general than the one given by equation (2.21). This is due to

the fact that by denoting $f_k(i+1,j) = g_k(i,j)$ for all k = 1, ..., p, one can represent the model (2.21) as the model (2.20).

Let us now consider the Roesser model [115] which is expressed as

$$\begin{bmatrix} r(i+1,j) \\ s(i,j+1) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} r(i,j) \\ s(i,j) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} \\ B_{21} \end{bmatrix} u(i,j) + \sum_{k=1}^{p} L_k f_k(i,j),$$

$$y(i,j) = C \begin{bmatrix} r(i,j) \\ s(i,j) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(2.22)$$

and where $\begin{bmatrix} r^{\mathrm{T}} & s^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ represents the state, and the variables u, y, f_k and L_k are defined as in equation (2.20). By defining

$$x = \begin{bmatrix} r \\ s \end{bmatrix}, A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, A_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$B_1 = \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, B_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ B_{21} \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.23)

one can formulate the Roesser model (2.22) as in equation (2.20).

2.5.1 The Approximation of Hyperbolic PDE Systems by 2-D Models

Let us first illustrate and demonstrate how one can approximate a general hyperbolic PDE system by using the 2-D models and representation. Consider the following hyperbolic PDE system

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial t} = \tilde{A}_1 \frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial z} + \tilde{A}_2 \tilde{x} + \tilde{B}u + \sum_{k=1}^p \tilde{L}_k \tilde{f}_k, \qquad (2.24)$$

where z denotes the spatial coordinate, $\tilde{x}(z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u(z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ and $\tilde{f}_k(z,t) \in \mathbb{R}$ denote the state, input and fault signals, respectively. Also, the operators $\tilde{A}_1, \tilde{A}_2, \tilde{B}$ and \tilde{L}_k are real matrices with appropriate dimensions. Note that every hyperbolic PDE system with constant coefficient can be represented in the form (2.24) with a diagonalizable \tilde{A}_1 [116] (Chapter 1, Detention 1.1.1).

By applying the finite difference method to the system (2.24), one obtains

$$\frac{\tilde{x}(i\Delta z, (j+1)\Delta t) - \tilde{x}(i\Delta z, j\Delta t)}{\Delta t} = \tilde{A}_1 \frac{\tilde{x}(i\Delta z, j\Delta t) - \tilde{x}((i-1)\Delta z, j\Delta t)}{\Delta z} + \tilde{A}_2 \tilde{x}(i\Delta z, j\Delta t) + \tilde{B}\tilde{u}(i\Delta z, j\Delta t) + \sum_{k=1}^p \tilde{L}_k \tilde{f}_k(i\Delta z, j\Delta t).$$

$$(2.25)$$

By setting $x(i,j) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}((i-1)\Delta z, j\Delta t) \\ \tilde{x}(i\Delta z, j\Delta t) \end{bmatrix}$, we can now write $x(i+1,j+1) = A_1x(i,j+1) + A_2x(i+1,j) + B_1u(i+1,j) + \sum_{k=1}^p L_kf_k(i+1,j),$

where
$$u(i+1,j) = \tilde{u}(i,j)$$
 for all i and j , $A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and

$$A_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta z}\tilde{A}_1 & (I + \frac{\Delta t}{\Delta z}\tilde{A}_1 + \Delta t\tilde{A}_2) \end{bmatrix}, \ B_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \tilde{B} \end{bmatrix}, \ L_k = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \tilde{L}_k \end{bmatrix}, \ f(i,j) = \tilde{f}(i+1,j)$$

(2.26)

Therefore, the PDE system (2.24) can be approximated by the FMII 2-D model (2.26).

2.6 Semigroups of Operator and Dynamical Systems

In this section, we review some basic concepts of Inf-D dynamical systems.

2.6.1 Linear Systems on an Inf-D Hilbert space

As stated earlier, we mainly focus on systems that are defined on real separable Hilbert vector spaces. Consider the following system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t)$$
(2.27)

where $x(t) \in \mathcal{X}$ and \mathcal{X} is a real separable Hilbert space. Also, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ are the input and output signals. The above equation has a regular (sufficiently smooth and unique) solution for if $u(\cdot) \in L_2((0,\infty),\mathbb{R}^m)$ [14] and the operator \mathcal{A} is an infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous (C_0) semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$. Let $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$ denotes the set of all bounded operators defined on \mathcal{X} . A C_0 semigroup $\mathbb{T}: \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$ is the operator where the following conditions hold [14, Definition 2.1.2]:

- $\mathbb{T}(t+s) = \mathbb{T}(t)\mathbb{T}(s)$ for all $t, s \ge 0$.
- $\mathbb{T}(0) = \mathcal{I}.$
- If $t \to 0^+$, then $||\mathbb{T}(t)x x|| \to 0$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

The $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the semigroup that is generated by \mathcal{A} and is related to \mathcal{A} as

$$\mathcal{A}z = \lim_{t \to 0^+} (\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t) - \mathcal{I})z, \ z \in \mathcal{X}$$
(2.28)

 $D(\mathcal{A})$ is all the $z \in \mathcal{X}$ such that the above limit exists.

The solution x to (2.27) is given by

$$x(t) = \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)x_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t-s)\mathcal{B}u(s)ds$$
(2.29)

It is worth noting that

• By comparing the solutions (2.2) and (2.29), it follows that $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$ plays the same role as e^{At} in Fin-D systems.

- Due to complexity of Inf-D systems (i.e. unboundedness of \mathcal{A}), unlike e^{At} (equation (2.3)), $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ cannot be computed by using \mathcal{A} .
- $\overline{D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathcal{X}.$
- The solution (2.29) involves integral of functions that are Hilbert space valued (note $x \in \mathcal{X}$). This type of integral is known as the Bochner integral that is a generalized version of the Lebesgue integral.

Example 2.36. Representation of a PDE system as an Inf-D System.

Consider the following dynamical system that is governed by a parabolic PDE [15]

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial t} = A_1 \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{x}}{\partial z^2} + A_2 \frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial z} + A_3 \tilde{x} + B(z)u$$
(2.30)

where $z \in [0, 1]$. Note that in general $z \in [z_1, z_2]$. However it can be easily transformed to $z \in [0, 1]$ as in [7], $t \in [0, \infty)$. The input operator B(z) is also defined as

$$B(z) = \mathbf{1}_{z_{\alpha},\epsilon} \tag{2.31}$$

in which $\mathbf{1}_{z_{\alpha},\epsilon} = \begin{cases} 1 \ ; z \in [z_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha} + \epsilon] \\ 0 \ ; \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}$. The measurements are collected at certain locations as

$$y_i = \int_{z_i}^{z_i + \epsilon} \tilde{x} dz , \ i = 1, \cdots, q, z_i \in [0, 1]$$
 (2.32)

Note that the boundary control (that is $B(z) = \{ \begin{smallmatrix} 1 & x=0 \\ 0 & Otherwise \end{smallmatrix} \}$) and the boundary measurement (that is $y_0 = \tilde{x}(0,t)$) can be approximated by equation (2.31) and (2.32), respectively, where ϵ is sufficiently small.

Moreover, the operators that are defined by (2.31) and (2.32) are finite-rank [14]. The Boundary condition of the system (2.30) is governed by

$$C_1 \tilde{x}(t,0) + D_1 \frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial z}(t,0) = R_1,$$

$$C_2 \tilde{x}(t,1) + D_2 \frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial z}(t,1) = R_2,$$
(2.33)

where C_i , D_i and R_i are real matrices. Also, the initial condition is given by $\tilde{x}(0, z) = \tilde{x}_0$.

Now consider $\mathscr{X} = L_2([0,1],\mathbb{R})$ and

$$\mathcal{A}h = A_1 \frac{d^2h}{dt^2} + A_2 \frac{dh}{dt} + A_3h$$

$$D(\mathcal{A}) = \{h \in \mathscr{X} | h, \frac{dh}{dx} \text{ are absolutely continuous, } h \text{ satisfies the initial condition}\},$$
(2.34)

Consequently, the input and output operators can be defined according to

$$\mathcal{B}: \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathscr{X} , \ \mathcal{B}u = B(z)u$$

$$\mathcal{C}: \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R}^q , \ \mathcal{C}x = <\mathbf{1}_{z_i,\epsilon}, x >$$
(2.35)

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the inner product defined on \mathscr{X} . Therefore, the system (2.30) can be represented as in (2.27).

Compared to the PDE system, expressing a time-delay system as an Inf-D system is more challenging. First, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.37. [14, Lemma 2.1.11] Consider C_0 semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and its corresponding infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} . Then

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} x \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (2.36)$$

where $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}$ is the resolvent operator of \mathcal{A} .

Example 2.38. Representation of a time-delay system as an Inf-D system.

Consider the following time-delay system

$$\dot{x}(t) = A_0 x(t) + A_1 x(t-h),$$

$$y(t) = C x(t), x(0) = x_0, x(\gamma) = g_0(\gamma), \ -h \le \gamma < 0,$$
(2.37)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote state, input and output, respectively. Also, h is a positive real constant.

For every $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $g(\cdot) \in L_2([-h, 0], \mathbb{R})$, the unique solution to the above system is given by [14, Theorem 2.4.1]

$$x(t) = e^{A_0 t} x_0 + \int_0^t e^{A_0(t-s)} A_1 x(s-h) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.38)

Therefor, by defining $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{R}^n \oplus L_2([-h, 0], \mathbb{R})$, the corresponding semigroup is expressed as [2, 2.4.4]

$$\mathbb{T}(t) \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ g(\cdot) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x(t) \\ x(t+\cdot) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.39)$$

where $x(\cdot)$ is the solution (2.38). Now, by using Lemma 2.37, one can write [14, Lemma 2.4.5]

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ g_0(\cdot) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} g_1(0) \\ g_1(\cdot) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$g_1(\gamma) = e^{\lambda\gamma} g_1(0) - \int_0^{\gamma} e^{\lambda(\gamma-s)} g_0(s) \mathrm{d}s,$$

$$g_1(0) = [\Delta(\lambda)]^{-1} \left(x_0 + \int_h^0 e^{-\lambda(s+h)} A_1 g_0(s) \mathrm{d}s \right),$$
(2.40)

where $\Delta(\lambda) = (\lambda I - A_0 - A_1 e^{-h})$. Finally, by using the fact that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{I}$, it can be shown that

$$\mathcal{A}\begin{bmatrix}x\\g(\cdot)\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}A_0x + A_1g(-h)\\\frac{\mathrm{d}g}{\mathrm{d}\gamma}(\cdot)\end{bmatrix},$$

$$D(\mathcal{A}) = \{\begin{bmatrix}x\\g(\cdot)\end{bmatrix} | g \text{ is absolutely continuous}, \frac{\mathrm{d}g}{\mathrm{d}\gamma} \in L_2([-h, 0], \mathbb{R}), g(0) = x\}.$$
(2.41)

Therefor, the time-delay system (2.37) can be represented as an Inf-D system (2.27).

2.7 Summary

In this chapter, we have reviewed linear Fin-D systems and the FDI problem of Fin-D systems. Moreover, Inf-D vector spaces and Inf-D systems have been addressed.

In the following chapters, we use this background information to provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the FDI problem solvability of Inf-D systems.

Chapter 3

Fault Detection and Isolation of Multidimensional Systems

In this chapter, we develop a novel FDI scheme for discrete-time multidimensional (n-D) systems for the first time in the literature. These systems represent as generalization of the Fornasini-Marchesini model II (FMII) two- and three-dimensional (2-D and 3-D) systems. This is accomplished by extending the geometric FDI approach of one-dimensional (1-D) systems to n-D systems. The basic invariant subspaces including unobservable, conditioned invariant and unobservability subspaces of 1-D systems are generalized to n-D models. These extensions have been achieved and facilitated by representing a n-D model as an Inf-D system, and by particularly constructing algorithms that compute these subspaces in a *finite and known* number of steps. By utilizing the introduced subspaces the FDI problem is formulated and necessary and sufficient conditions for its solvability are provided. Sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem for n-D systems using LMI filters are also developed. Moreover, the capabilities and advantages of our proposed approach are demonstrated by performing an analytical comparison with the currently available methods in the literature. Finally, numerical simulations corresponding to an approximation of a hyperbolic PDE system of a heat transfer process, that is mathematically represented as a 2-D model, have also been provided.

3.1 Preliminary Results

In this section, we first review n-D systems and their various representational models. Subsequently, an n-D system is expressed as an Inf-D system that allows one to geometrically analyze the unobservable subspaces (this is to be defined and specified in the next section). The FDI problem of n-D systems is also formulated in this section. Finally, an LMI-based approach is introduced to design an n-D Luenberger observer (also known as a detection filter) for n-D systems.

3.1.1 Discrete-Time n-D Systems

As stated in the previous chapter , the n-D models can be used to represent a large class of problems, such as approximating hyperbolic PDE systems [16, 75], image processing and digital filtering [115] (as 2-D systems) and approximate 2-D parabolic PDE system (as 3-D systems). System theory concepts such as observability, controllability and feedback stabilization have also been investigated in the literature for 2-D systems [16, 82, 85, 95, 98]. However, as emphasized in [92, Section 2] extending the available algebraic methods for $n \geq 3$ deals with certain difficulties. As we shall see, unlike algebraic approaches one can extend the available geometric results of 2-D systems to n-D system.

As stated earlier in Chapter 2, there are various models that are adopted in the literature for 2-D systems including the Roesser model [115], the Fornasini-Marichesini model I (FMI) and FMII [82, 85]. The FMI can be formulated as a Roesser model and the Roesser model is a special case of the FMII model [82]. In this chapter, we consider and concentrate on the FMII model to formulate n-D systems, and consequently our results are also derived for this general class of n-D systems.

To formulate an n-D system we use the following notations. Consider the coordinates (i_1, \ldots, i_n) , where $i_k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the vector $x(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \mathbb{R}^m$. We denote σ_k to be a shift operator on the k^{th} coordinate (i.e. $\sigma_k x(i_1, \cdots, i_n) = x(i_1, \cdots, i_k + 1, i_{k+1}, \cdots, i_n)$). Also, let us set $\delta = \prod_{k=1}^n \sigma_k$ (i.e., $\delta x(i_1, \ldots, i_n) = x(i_1 + 1, \cdots, i_n + 1)$) and $\delta_k = \prod_{i=1, i \neq k}^n \sigma_k$, that is $\delta_k x(i_1, \cdots, i_n) = x(i_1 + 1, \cdots, i_{k-1} + 1, i_k, i_{k+1} + 1, \cdots, i_n + 1)$.

Consider the following FMII-based n-D model (that is a generalized version of 2-D systems in [85]),

$$\delta x(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n A_k \delta_k x(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k \delta_k u(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{j=1}^p \sum_{k=1}^n L_j^k \delta_k f_j(i_1, \dots, i_n), \qquad (3.1)$$
$$y(i_1, \dots, i_n) = C x(i_1, \dots, i_n), \ i_k \in \mathbb{Z},$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$, and $y \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote the state, input and output vectors, respectively. The fault signals and the corresponding fault signatures are designated by f_k and $L_i^k : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^m$, respectively. Since in this chapter all the introduced invariant subspaces are based on the operators A_k and C, we designate the system (3.1) by the pair (C,A), where $A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & \cdots & A_n \end{bmatrix}$.

Remark 3.1. Note that system (3.1) represents and captures the presence of both actuator and component faults. To represent sensor faults, one can augment the sensor dynamics and model the sensor faults as actuator faults in the augmented system (for a complete discussion on these issues refer to [3, Chapters 3 and 4]). Moreover, the fault signal f_j affects the system through n different fault signatures L_j^k and $k = 1, \dots, n$. However, in [99] an alternative fault model is utilized. The n-D extension of the fault model in [99] is expressed according to the following representation

$$\delta x(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n A_k \delta_k x(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k \delta_k u(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{j=1}^p L_j g_j(i_1, \dots, i_n), y(i_1, \dots, i_n) = C x(i_1, \dots, i_n), \ i_k \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(3.2)

Model (3.1) is more general than the one given by equation (3.2). This is due to the fact that by denoting $f_j(i_1 + 1, i_2, ..., i_n) = g_j(i_1, i_2, ..., i_n)$ for all j = 1, ..., p, one can represent the model (3.2) as in the model (3.1).

In this work, we will investigate and develop FDI strategies for the model (3.1) such that they are applicable to any $n \ge 2$. It is assumed that A_k in model (3.1) are not necessarily commutative. It should be emphasized that the commutativity of A_k is a strong condition that renders the results in [95] (where for $n = 2 A_1$ and A_2 are assumed to commutate) not applicable to Roesser systems.

3.1.2 Inf-D Representation

In this subsection, we reformulate the n-D model (3.1) as an Inf-D system that will be used to derive the invariance property of unobservable subspaces (for details refer to Subsection 3.2.1).

Consider the fault free system (3.1), that is with $f_j(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \equiv 0$, $j = 1, \ldots, p, i_k \in \mathbb{Z}$, and with zero input (we are mainly interested in the unobservable subspaces and do not need to be concerned with the control inputs in the FDI problem). Let $\mathbf{x}(i) \in \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$ $(i \in \underline{\mathbb{N}})$ denote an Inf-D vector that is constructed by using all $x(j_1, \ldots, j_n)$, where $j_k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\sum_{k=1}^n j_k = i$ and the position of each $x(j_1, \ldots, j_n)$ in $\mathbf{x}(i)$ is determined by a selected ordering index (refer to the Example 3.1 to observe how one can define an ordering index). Under the above condition
and for a given ordering index, the system (3.1) can be represented as,

$$\mathbf{x}(i+1) = \mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}(i), \quad i \in \underline{\mathbb{N}}$$

$$\mathbf{y}(i) = \mathcal{C}\mathbf{x}(i), \qquad (3.3)$$

where $\mathbf{x}(i) \in \mathcal{X} = \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$, $\mathbf{y}(i) \in \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^q)$ (with the same ordering index that is used to construct $\mathbf{x}(i)$), and \mathcal{A} is an Inf-D block matrix such that each A_k $(k = 1, \dots, n)$ does appear at every row-block of \mathcal{A} once and only once, with the remaining elements set to zero. Also, we have $\mathcal{C} = \text{diag}(\dots, C, C, \dots)$. For example,

$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \cdots & 0 & A_1 & 0 & A_2 & \cdots & A_n & \cdots \\ \cdots & A_1 & 0 & 0 & A_2 & \cdots & A_n & \cdots \\ \cdots & \cdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \cdots \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{C} = \begin{bmatrix} \ddots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ \cdots & 0 & C & 0 & \cdots \\ \cdots & 0 & 0 & C & \cdots \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.4)

where the position of A_k at each row is determined such that the order that is obtained for $\mathbf{x}(i+1)$ is the same as that of $\mathbf{x}(i)$. For more clarification, consider the following example for n = 3.

Example 3.2. Let n = 3 and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Set

$$I_{k}(i) = ((k+i, -k, 0), (k+i, -k+1, -1), (k+i, -k-1, 1), (k+i, -k+2, -2), (k+i, -k-2, 2), \ldots)$$
$$I(i) = (\dots, I_{-1}(i), I_{0}(i), I_{1}(i), \ldots)$$
(3.5)

and let $I_k^j(i)$ denote the j^{th} index in $I_k(i)$. For example, $I_k^3(0) = (k, -k - 1, 1)$ (the third element in $I_k(0)$). It follows that for each $I_k^j(i)$ in $I_k(i)$, the summation of its element is equal to i (for example for $I_k^3(i)$ we have (k+i)+(-k-1)+1=i). Also, the ordering index for all $\mathbf{x}(i)$ are identical. In other words, the position of (k+i, -k, 0) is the first element of $I_k(i)$ for all $i \in \underline{\mathbb{N}}$. Therefore, without loss of any generality, we show the position of elements by $I_k^j = I_j^k(0)$. By using the above ordering index (that is, I = I(0)), we have $\mathbf{x}(0) = (\dots, x(-1, 1, 0), x(-1, 2, , -1), x(-1, 0, 1), \dots)$.

Also, \mathcal{A} is constructed such that the order index of $\mathbf{x}(1)$ is the same as that of $\mathbf{x}(0)$. Towards this end, first set $\mathbf{x}(1) = (\dots, x(1, -1, 1), x(1, 0, 0), x(1, 1, , -1), x(1, 2, -2))$, \dots) (the same order as $\mathbf{x}(0)$). Each row-block of \mathcal{A} is individually constructed. For example, the row corresponding to x(1, 0, 0) (that is the row, \mathbf{a}^{T} of \mathcal{A} such that $x(1, 0, 0) = \mathbf{a}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{x}(0)$) has A_1 , A_2 and A_3 in the I_0^1 , I_1^1 and I_1^2 (by applying the same ordering index that is used in $\mathbf{x}(0)$ for \mathbf{a}), respectively (note that $x(1, 0, 0) = A_1x(0, 0, 0) + A_2x(1, -1, 0) + A_3x(1, 0, -1)$). In other words, we have,

$$\mathbf{a}^{\mathrm{T}} = \begin{bmatrix} \cdots & 0 & \underbrace{A_1}_{\text{position } I_0^1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \underbrace{A_2}_{\text{position } I_0^1} & \underbrace{A_3}_{\text{position } I_1^2} & 0 & \cdots \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.6)

Therefore, the system (3.1) (for n = 3, fault free and zero input) can be represented as in equation (3.3).

Various formulations for the initial conditions of the FMII model (3.1) are possible that are based on the separation set introduced in [117]. There are two separation sets that are commonly used in the literature for 2-D systems (refer to [85] and [82]). The generalization of these two formulations to n-D systems are as follows. In the first formulation, the initial conditions are denoted by $\mathbf{x}(0) =$ $(\dots, x(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n)^T, \dots)^T \in \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$ (this is compatible with the model (3.3)), where $i_k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n i_k = 0$. The second formulation is expressed as $x(0, \dots, 0, i_k, 0, \dots, 0) = h_k(i_k)$ for all $k = 1, \dots, n$, where $h_k(i_k) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $i_k \in \mathbb{N}$. This formulation is more compatible with different applications (particularly, in case that the system (3.1) is an approximate model of a PDE system - (refer to [16])). It will be shown subsequently that since we derive our conditions based on an invariant unobservable subspace (this is formally defined in the next section), our proposed methodology is applicable to <u>both</u> initial condition formulations.

As stated in the Notation Section 1.6, it can be shown that $\mathcal{X} = \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$ (which the vector space for equation (3.3)) is an Inf-D Banach space. The system theory corresponding to Inf-D systems poses a more significantly challenging task than that of the Fin-D system theory (1-D systems) (refer to [101, Chapters I and II]). However, as shown subsequently, for any ordering index the operator \mathcal{A} is bounded (refer to Subsection 2.4 for definition of bounded operators), and consequently, one can readily extend the results of 1-D systems to the system (3.3) [14,101] (for example, refer to [101, Lemma I.3]).

Lemma 3.3. The operator \mathcal{A} , as defined in the Inf-D system (3.3), is bounded.

Proof. Let $G = n \max_{k=1}^{n} (|A_k|)$, where $|A_k|$ denotes the norm of A_k and $\mathbf{x} = (x_j)_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \mathcal{X}$. For each row-block of \mathcal{A} , set the map $m_I^k : \{1, \dots, n\} \to \mathbb{Z}$ such that $m_I^k(j)$ determines the position of A_j in the k^{th} row-block of \mathcal{A} . It follows readily that $|\mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}|_{\infty} = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\sum_{j=1}^{n} A_j x_{m_I^k(j)}| \leq \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} G \max_{j=1}^{n} (|x_{m_I^k(j)}||) = G \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |x_k|$. Therefore, $|\mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}|_{\infty} \leq G |\mathbf{x}|_{\infty}$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

Note that the above lemma is independent from the chosen ordering index. The map m_I^k in the above proof is indeed a combination of two maps; first map is from $\{1, \dots, n\}$ to I (i.e., any ordering index), and second, a map from I to \mathbb{Z} . Moreover, The above lemma enables one to formulate the unobservable subspace of the n-D system (3.1) in a geometric framework (for details refer to Section 3.2) based on the operator \mathcal{A} (and consequently, in terms of A_k , where $k = 1, \dots, n$).

3.1.3 The FDI Problem of n-D FMII Model

In this subsection, we formulate the FDI problem for the n-D system (3.1). Without loss of any generality, it is assumed that the system (3.1) is subject to two faults, and therefore we construct two residuals such that each one is sensitive to only one fault and is decoupled from the other. Our approach can be extended trivially to more than two faults.

More precisely, consider the faulty n-D model (3.1). The solution to the FDI problem of the n-D FMII system can be stated as that of generating two residuals

 $r_j(i_1, ..., i_n), j \in \{1, 2\}$ such that,

$$\forall u, f_2 \text{ and } f_1 = 0 \quad \text{then } \lim_{\sum_{k=1}^n i_k \to \infty} r_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) \to 0,$$
(3.7a)
and if $f_1 \neq 0$ $\text{then } \exists N_0 \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } r_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) > \epsilon_1; \text{ for } \sum_{k=1}^n i_k > N_0$
 $\forall u, f_1 \text{ and } f_2 = 0 \quad \text{then } \lim_{\sum_{k=1}^n i_k \to \infty} r_2(i_1, \dots, i_n) \to 0,$ (3.7b)
and if $f_2 \neq 0$ $\text{then } \exists N_0 \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } r_2(i_1, \dots, i_n) > \epsilon_2; \text{ for } \sum_{k=1}^n i_k > N_0,$

where $\epsilon_1 > 0$ and $\epsilon_2 > 0$ and $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ is a sufficiently large integer (refer to Remark 3.23).

The above residuals are to be constructed by employing the fault detection filters. For the n-D system (3.1), we consider the following FMII-based *fault detection filter*,

$$\delta\omega_{j}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} F_{k}\delta_{k}\omega_{j}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} K_{k}\delta_{k}u(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} E_{k}\delta_{k}y(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}),$$

$$r_{j}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) = H_{j}y(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) - M_{j}\omega_{j}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}),$$
(3.8)

where $\omega(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \mathbb{R}^o$ denotes the state of the filter and is used to define the residual signal $r_j(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$. The solution to the FDI problem is now reduced to that of selecting the filter gains F_k , K_k , E_k , M_j and H_j corresponding to the filter structure given by (3.8).

Remark 3.4. The detection filter (3.8) can be selected as a full-order $(H_j = I)$ or as a partial-order (ker $H_j \neq 0$) n-D Luenberger observer. As shown subsequently in Section 3.3, this level of generality allows one to analytically compare our proposed methods with the results reported in [99].

Remark 3.5. In this chapter, we investigate the FDI problem by employing two main steps, namely (i) decoupling the faults, and (ii) designing a filter for each fault.

The first step addresses the existence of a subsystem of (3.1) such that it is decoupled from f_2 and sensitive to f_1 . By the existence of a subsystem, we imply the existence of n + 1 maps D_k , and H, such that all fault signatures of f_2 (namely L_2^k for all $k = 1, \dots, n$) are members of the unobservable subspace (defined in the next section) of the system $(H_1C, A + D^1C)$ (where $A + DC = \left[A_1 + D_1^1C \cdots A_n + D_n^1C\right]$). Moreover, the second step is mainly concerned with the existence of the filter (3.8) (i.e., the residual generation) such that the stability of the error dynamics is guaranteed. Indeed, the second step is mainly concerned with a realization of the detection filter (as shown subsequently this could be a Luenberger-based filter). In this chapter, if the first step is solvable for the fault f_1 we say that f_1 is detectable and isolable. We use the same procedure for the fault f_2 (i.e., if there exists a subsystem of (3.1) such that it is decoupled from f_1 and sensitive to f_2 , we say that f_2 is detectable and isolable). Finally, we will state that there is a solution to the FDI problem if for both fault signals f_1 and f_2 <u>both</u> steps above are solvable.

3.1.4 LMI-based Observer (Detection Filter) Design

As shown in [118], design of a deadbeat observer requires that one works with polynomial matrices (this is not always a straightforward process). Moreover, polynomiyal matrices face certain difficulties for $n \ge 3$ (refer to [92, Section 2]). In this subsection, we address the design process for the n-D system observer, or the detection filter gains, by using the linear matrix inequalities (LMI) properties. These results will be used subsequently in Section 3.3 to explicitly design an n-D Luenberger detection filter (that can also be formulated as in equation (3.8)) for the purpose of accomplishing the solution to the FDI problem.

In order to show the asymptotic stability of the state estimation error dynamics, one needs to invoke the following stability lemmas. Lemma 3.6 is the generalization of the Proposition 2.1 (and equation (2.7)) in [93], where sufficient conditions for the stability of 2-D systems are provided.

Lemma 3.6. (Generalization of [93, equation (2.7)]) Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & \cdots & A_n \end{bmatrix}$, $A_k \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ (refer to the system (3.1)). The n-D FMII system (3.1) (under the fault free situation) is asymptotically stable if there exist n symmetric positive definite matrices $R_k \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$, $k = 1, \cdots, n$ such that

$$A_c \triangleq A^{\mathrm{T}}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_k)A - R < 0,$$
 (3.9)

where $R = \operatorname{diag}(R_1, \cdots, R_n)$.

Proof. Consider the characteristic polynomial matrix $p(z) = (I - \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k z_k), z \in \mathbb{C}^n$. By using the Theorem 41 in [119], the system (3.1) is shown to be stable if and only if the equation $\det(p(z)) = 0$ has no zero in the region $\overline{U}^n = \{(z_1, \dots, z_n) | |z_k| \leq 1, \ k = 1, \dots, n\}$. We show the results by invoking contradiction. Let $A_c < 0$ and there exists $z_0 = (z_1^0, \dots, z_n^0) \in \overline{U}^n$ and a non-zero $x \in \mathbb{C}^m$ such that $p(z_0)x = 0$. Hence, one can write $x = (\sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k z_k^0)x$ (i.e., $x = Ax_z$, where $x_z = \left[z_1^0 I, \dots, z_n^0 I\right]^T x$), and

$$x^{*}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{k})x = x_{z}^{*}A^{\mathrm{T}}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{k})Ax_{z} = x_{z}^{*}(A_{c} + R)x_{z}$$

$$x_{z}^{*}Rx_{z} = x^{*}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{k}|z_{k}^{0}|^{2})x,$$
(3.10)

where superscript * is used as the complex conjugate transpose. Therefore, we obtain $x^*(\sum_{k=1}^n R_k)x - x^*(\sum_{k=1}^n R_k |z_k^0|^2)x = x_z^* A_c x_z$, i.e., $0 < x^*(\sum_{k=1}^n R_k (1 - |z_k^0|^2))x = x_z^* A_c x_z$ (since $|z_k^0| \le 1$). Consequently, given that A_c is a real matrix there exists $x_r^T A_c x_r > 0$, where x_r is the real part of x_z . This is in contradiction with the assumption $A_c < 0$. This now completes the proof of the lemma.

Lemma 3.7. [120, Lemma 3.1] Consider the matrices $\Phi \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$, $P \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times m}$, $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times m}$ and the LMI condition $\Phi + P^{\mathrm{T}}\Lambda^{\mathrm{T}}Q + Q^{\mathrm{T}}\Lambda P < 0$. Also, define the matrices W_p and W_q such that the columns of W_p and W_q are bases of ker P and ker Q, respectively. There exists a matrix $\Lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times p}$ satisfying the previous LMI condition if and only if $W_p^{\mathrm{T}} \Phi W_p < 0$ and $W_q^{\mathrm{T}} \Phi W_q < 0$,

Now consider the n-D system (3.1) under the fault free situation and the corresponding state estimation observer that is given by,

$$\delta \hat{x}(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n (A_k + D_{ok}C) \delta_k \hat{x}(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k \delta_k u(i_1, \dots, i_n) - \sum_{k=1}^n D_{ok} \delta_k y(i_1, \dots, i_n),$$
(3.11)
$$\hat{y}(i_1, \dots, i_n) = C \hat{x}(i_1, \dots, i_n).$$

It follows readily that the state estimation error dynamics, as defined by $e(i, j) = x(i_1, \ldots, i_n) - \hat{x}(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$, is governed by,

$$\delta e(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n (A_k + D_{ok}C) \delta_k e(i_1, \dots, i_n).$$
(3.12)

The following theorem and corollary provide an LMI-based condition for existence of the state estimation observer gains D_{ok} such that the error dynamics (3.12) is asymptotically stable.

Theorem 3.8. Consider the n-D system (3.1) under the fault free situation. Also, let $W_{c_n} = \operatorname{diag}(\underbrace{W_c, \cdots, W_c})$ where the columns of $W_c \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times (m-q)}$ are the basis of ker C. There exist n maps $D_{ok} : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and n symmetric positive definite matrices R_k (with $G = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 + D_{o1}C & \cdots & A_n + D_{on}C \end{bmatrix}$ and R defined in Lemma 3.6) such that, the LMI $G^{\mathrm{T}}(\sum_{k=1}^n R_k)G - R < 0$ is satisfied if and only if all R_k satisfy the LMI condition $W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}}A_cW_{c_n} < 0$, where A_c is defined in (3.9).

Proof. Note that without loss of any generality, it is assumed that C is full row rank, and m > q that is equivalent to partial state measurement. Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & \cdots & A_n \end{bmatrix}$

and $\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} -(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_k)^{-1} & A \\ A^{\mathrm{T}} & -R \end{bmatrix}$. By using the Schur complement lemma, we have $W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}} A_c W_{c_n} < 0$ if and only if,

$$\begin{bmatrix} -(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_k)^{-1} & AW_{c_n} \\ W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}} A^{\mathrm{T}} & -W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}} RW_{c_n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & W_{c_n} \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$
(3.13)

Therefore, $\begin{bmatrix} 0_{nm \times m} & I_{nm \times nm} \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 0_{m \times nm} \\ I_{nm \times nm} \end{bmatrix} = -R < 0$, if and only if R > 0 (or $R_k > 0$

0 for all $k = 1, \dots, n$). By defining $P = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{nq \times m} & C_n \end{bmatrix}$ and $Q = \begin{bmatrix} I_{m \times m} & 0_{m \times nm} \end{bmatrix}$, where $C_n = \text{diag}(\underbrace{C, \dots, C}_{n \text{ times}})$, and using Lemma 3.7, the LMI condition (3.13) is

satisfied if and only if there exits a matrix $\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} D_{o1} & \cdots & D_{on} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times nq}$ such that,

$$\Phi + \begin{bmatrix} 0_{m \times nq} \\ C_n^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix} \Lambda^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} I_{m \times m} & 0_{m \times nm} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} I_{m \times m} \\ 0_{nm \times m} \end{bmatrix} \Lambda \begin{bmatrix} 0_{nq \times m} & C_n \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (-\sum_{k=1}^n R_k)^{-1} & G \\ G^{\mathrm{T}} & R \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$

$$(3.14)$$

Again, by using the Schur complement lemma, we have $G^{\mathrm{T}}(\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_k)G - R < 0$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

An important corollary to the above theorem and Lemma 3.6 can be stated as follows.

Corollary 3.9. Consider the n-D system (3.1) under the fault free situation and the state estimation observer (3.11). If there are n symmetric positive definite matrices R_k satisfying the LMI condition $W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}} A_c W_{c_n} < 0$, then there exists n maps D_{ok} such that the error dynamics (3.12) is asymptotically stable.

Proof. Follow directly from the proofs of Theorem 3.8 and Lemma 3.6, and therefore the details are omitted for sake of brevity. \Box

Remark 3.10. Note that by solving the LMI condition $W_{c_n}^{\mathrm{T}}A_cW_{c_n} < 0$, one can obtain symmetric positive definite matrices R_k . Hence, the state estimation observer gains D_{ok} are computed by solving the LMI (3.14) (which is an LMI condition in terms of the gains D_{ok}). Therefore, Corollary 3.9 not only provides sufficient conditions for existence of a state estimation observer, but also provides an approach for computing the observer gains D_{ok} .

The results of this section will now be used subsequently in Section 3.2 to address the unobservable subspace of the system (3.1) as well as to provide sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem, respectively.

3.2 Invariant Subspaces for n-D FMII Models

As described earlier, n-D systems can be represented by Inf-D systems (i.e., the initial condition is a vector of an Inf-D subspace). In this section, we first use the Inf-D representation (3.3) to formally define and construct an unobservable subspace. Next, we define a subspace of the unobservable subspace (this we call as an invariant unobservable subspace) of the n-D system (3.1) that can be represented as an infinite sum of the same Fin-D subspaces. Therefore, one can compute the invariant unobservable subspace (that is, the Inf-D subspace) in a finite number of steps (that is at most equal to m). Also, it is shown that the invariant unobservable subspace property that is crucial for solving the FDI problem.

3.2.1 Unobservable Subspace

The unobservable subspace of the system (3.3) (and consequently of the system (3.1)) is defined as,

$$\mathcal{N}_g \triangleq \bigcap_{i=0}^{\infty} \ker \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}^i, \tag{3.15}$$

where \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} are defined as in (3.3). Note that we define the above unobservable subspace by following along the steps in [103, page 1013], the results in [101, Chapter I], and the fact that the operator \mathcal{A} in (3.3) is bounded (refer to Lemma 3.3).

One of the main difficulties in geometric analysis of Inf-D systems is the convergence of any developed algorithm that involves computation of certain set of subspaces in a <u>finite</u> number of steps. For example, consider the unobservable subspace (3.15). In Fin-D systems, the algorithm for computing the unobservable subspace converges in a finite number of steps [74] (for example, Lemma 5.1). Moreover, one is generally interested in investigating the FMII models in a Fin-D representation (3.1). Motivated by the above, below two important subspaces denoted by $\mathcal{N}_{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{N}_g$ and $\mathcal{N}_{s,\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{N}_g$ are introduced. The subspaces \mathcal{N}_{∞} and $\mathcal{N}_{s,\infty}$ can be computed in a *finite* number of steps. This also allows one to derive necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem.

Consider the initial condition $\mathbf{x}(0) = (\dots, 0, x_0, 0, \dots)$ and

$$u(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \begin{cases} u_0 & i_k = 0\\ 0 & \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}, \qquad (3.16)$$

where $u_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ and $k = 1, \dots, n$. One can show that the state solution of the model (3.1) under the fault free situation is given by (through generalizing the results of [85] for n-D systems),

$$x(i_1, \dots, i_n) = A^{(i_1, \dots, i_n)} x_0 + A^{(i_1, \dots, i_n)}_B u_0,$$
(3.17)

where the matrices $A^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}$ and $A^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}_B$ are defined by the following recursive expressions,

$$\Delta A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} = \sum_{k=1}^n A_k \Delta_k A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}, \quad A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} = 0 \quad \text{if any } i_k < 0,$$

$$\Delta A_B^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} = \sum_{k=1}^n \Delta_k A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} B_k, \quad A^{(0,\dots,0)} = I,$$
(3.18)

where by following the notation that is used in equation (3.1) we apply the shift operators to $A^{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}$ as

$$\Delta A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} = A^{(i_1+1,\dots,i_n+1)}, \ \Delta_k A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} = A^{(i_1+1,\dots,i_{k-1}+1,i_k,i_{k+1}+1,\dots,i_n+1)}$$
(3.19)

For example, in the case n = 3, we have $\Delta A^{(i_1,i_2,i_3)} = A^{(i_1+1,i_2+1,i_3+1)}$ and $\Delta_2 A^{(i_1,i_2,i_3)} = A^{(i_1+1,i_2,i_3+1)}$. Based on the solution that is given by (3.17), and considering that $u_0 = 0$, a finite observability matrix (given that its null space is a finite dimensional subspace) can be defined as follows,

$$O \triangleq \left[C^{\mathrm{T}}, (CA_1)^{\mathrm{T}}, (CA_2)^{\mathrm{T}}, \cdots, (CA^{(i_1, \dots, i_n)})^{\mathrm{T}}, \cdots \right]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (3.20)

Let $\mathscr{N} \triangleq \ker \ O = \bigcap_{i_k \ge 0} \left(\ker CA^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} \right)$. Since $\dim(\mathscr{N}) \le m < \infty$, we designate \mathscr{N} as the *finite* unobservable subspace of the system (3.1). Also, recall from the generalized n-D Cayley-Hamilton theorem [121] that for all $\sum_{k=1}^{n} i_k \ge m$, one sets $A^{(j_1,\dots,j_n)} = \sum_{\sum i_k < m} \zeta_{i_1,\dots,i_n} A^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}$, where ζ_{i_1,\dots,i_n} are real numbers. Therefore, for all $\sum_{k=1}^{n} j_k \ge m$, we have

$$\bigcap_{\sum_{k=1}^{n} i_k < m} \ker CA^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)} \subseteq \ker CA^{(j_1,\dots,j_n)}.$$
(3.21)

Consequently, \mathcal{N} can be computed in a finite number of steps as,

$$\mathcal{N} \triangleq \ker O = \bigcap_{i_k \ge 0, \sum_{k=1}^n i_k < m} \left(\ker CA^{(i_1, \dots, i_n)} \right).$$
(3.22)

Now, we consider the following subspace,

$$\mathscr{N}_{\infty} \triangleq \bigoplus (\mathscr{N}). \tag{3.23}$$

It follows that if $\mathbf{x}_0 = (\dots, x_{-1}, x_0, x_1, \dots) \in \mathscr{N}_{\infty}$, then $x_j \in \mathscr{N}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, and given the zero input assumption one gets $\mathbf{y}(i) = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ (in (3.3)). By considering \mathcal{A}^i , where \mathcal{A} is defined as in (3.3) and $i \in \mathbb{N}$, it can be shown that $\mathscr{N}_{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_g$. Also, note that although \mathscr{N}_{∞} is an Inf-D subspace, it can be computed in a finite number of steps (one only needs to compute \mathscr{N}). However, as explained in [16,122] the invariance property (this is addressed in the next subsection) of \mathscr{N} is not lucid (even for the case n = 2). Therefore, in the following a subspace of \mathscr{N} (that is denoted by \mathscr{N}_s) is introduced such that it enjoys this geometric property. To define the subspace \mathscr{N}_s one needs the following notation.

Let us express A^{α} to denote the sequence of multiplications of A_k , where α is a multi-index parameter that specifies the sequence of the multiplications. For example, for $\alpha = (2, 1, 1, 3, 6)$, we obtain $A^{\alpha} = A_2 A_1 A_1 A_3 A_6$. The notation $||\alpha||$ denotes the number of all A_k that are involved in the corresponding multiplications (for the above example, we have $||\alpha|| = 5$). Now, consider the following subspace,

$$\mathcal{N}_s \triangleq \bigcap_{||\alpha|| < m} \ker CA^{\alpha}.$$
(3.24)

Similar to the above, let us define $\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty} \triangleq \bigoplus (\mathscr{N}_s)$. The following lemma shows that the subspace that is employed in [98–100] as the unobservable (non-observable) subspace is indeed \mathscr{N}_s for the special cases n = 2, 3.

Lemma 3.11. The subspace \mathcal{N}_s (as defined in (3.24)) can be computed in a finite number of steps according to the following algorithm,

$$\mathscr{V}_{0} = \ker C \text{ and } \mathscr{V}_{k} = \left(\bigcap_{j=1}^{n} A_{j}^{-1} \mathscr{V}_{k-1}\right) \cap \ker C,$$

$$\mathscr{V}_{m} = \mathscr{N}_{s}.$$
(3.25)

Proof. First, note that $\mathscr{V}_1 = (\bigcap_{j=1}^n A_j^{-1} \ker C) \cap \ker C$. In other words, $\mathscr{V}_1 = (\bigcap_{||\alpha||=1}^n (A^{\alpha})^{-1} \ker C) \cap \ker C$, and $\mathscr{V}_2 = \mathscr{V}_1 \cap (\bigcap_{||\alpha||=2}^n (A^{\alpha})^{-1} \ker C)$. Hence, we obtain $\mathscr{V}_k = \bigcap_{||\alpha|| \leq k} (A^{\alpha})^{-1} \ker C$. Note that for every pair of operators $C : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^q$ and $F : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$, one can show that $\ker CF = F^{-1} \ker C$, where $F^{-1} \ker C$ denotes the inverse image of $\ker C$ with respect to F (even if F is non-invertible $F^{-1} \ker C$ is well-defined). Therefore, by setting $F = A^{\alpha}$ in the above equations it follows that $\mathscr{V}_m = \mathscr{N}_s$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

3.2.2 A_k -Invariant Subspaces

As stated in Subsection 3.1.2, the n-D system (3.1) can be represented as an Inf-D system (3.3) (with $u \equiv 0$ and $f \equiv 0$). In order to formulate the corresponding Inf-D invariant subspaces one needs the next two definitions.

Definition 3.12. [101, Definition I.2 for bounded operators] Consider the Inf-D system (3.3), where the operator \mathcal{A} is bounded (according to Lemma 3.3). The closed subspace $\mathscr{V}_{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{X} = \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$ is called \mathcal{A} -invariant if $\mathcal{A}\mathscr{V}_{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$.

Definition 3.13. A subspace $\mathscr{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ is said to be an $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant subspace for the n-D system (3.1) if $\sum_{k=1}^n (A_k \mathscr{V}) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$, where A_k , $k = 1, \ldots, n$ are the state operators in (3.1).

Note that \mathscr{V} is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant if and only if it is invariant with respect to <u>all</u> A_k (i.e., $A_k \mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ for all k = 1, ..., n). The following theorem provides the connection between the Definitions 3.12 and 3.13.

Theorem 3.14. Consider the n-D system (3.1) and the Inf-D system (3.3). Let $\mathscr{V}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{V})$, where $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$. The subspace \mathscr{V}_{∞} is \mathcal{A} -invariant if and only if \mathscr{V} is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant.

Proof. First, note that every $\mathbf{x} \in \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$ can be expressed as $\mathbf{x} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{x}_{j}^{j}$, where $\mathbf{x}_{j}^{j} = (\ldots, 0, 0, x_{j}^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, 0 \ldots)^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$ and $x_{j} \in \mathscr{V}$. Therefore, one only needs to show the result for \mathbf{x}_{j}^{j} .

(If part): Assume \mathscr{V} is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant. Consider the Inf-D vector \mathbf{x}_{j}^{j} . It follows that $\mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}_{j}^{j} = (\ldots, 0, (A_{n}x_{j})^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, \ldots, (A_{1}x_{j})^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, 0 \ldots)^{\mathrm{T}}$ (where the position of $A_{k}x_{j}$ are determined from the position of \mathcal{A}_{k} in \mathcal{A} . For example, if A_{1} is at k^{th} row and j^{th} column, we have $A_{1}x_{j}$ at k^{th} position in the above Inf-D vector). Since \mathscr{V} is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant, it follows that $\mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}_{j}^{j} \in \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$.

(Only if part): Let $\mathcal{A}\mathscr{V}_{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$ and $\mathbf{x}_0^0 \in \mathscr{V}_{\infty}$. Consequently, $x_0 \in \mathscr{V}$. Since

 $\mathcal{A}\mathbf{x}_{0}^{0} = (\dots, 0, (A_{n}x_{0}))^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, \dots, (A_{1}x_{0})^{\mathrm{T}}, 0, 0, \dots)^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathscr{V}_{\infty} \text{ (where the position of } A_{k}x_{j}$ are determined from the position of \mathcal{A}_{k} in \mathcal{A} . For example, if A_{1} is at k^{th} row and j^{th} column, we have $A_{1}x_{j}$ at k^{th} position in the above Inf-D vector), it follows that $A_{k}x_{0} \in \mathscr{V}$ for all $k = 1, \dots, n$, and consequently \mathscr{V} is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant. This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Consider subspaces $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ and $\mathscr{C} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$. If \mathscr{V} is the largest $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant subspace that is contained in \mathscr{C} , we denote $\mathscr{V} = \langle \mathscr{C} | A_{\underline{k}} \rangle$. By generalizing the results in [16] (from 2-D to *n*-D), it follows that $\mathscr{N}_s \subseteq \mathscr{N}$, and \mathscr{N}_s is the largest $A_{\underline{k}}$ invariant subspace contained in ker C. Therefore, one can write $\mathscr{N}_s = \langle \ker C | A_{\underline{k}} \rangle$. Since \mathscr{N}_s is $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant, by invoking Theorem 3.14, $\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}$ is \mathcal{A} -invariant. Therefore, if $\mathbf{x}(0) = (\cdots, x_{-1}, x_0, x_1, \cdots) \in \mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}$ (that is, $x_j \in \mathscr{N}_s$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$) and zero input, $\mathbf{x}(i) \in \mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}$ and $\mathbf{y}(i) = 0$ for all $i \in \underline{\mathbb{N}}$ (in equation (3.3)). We designate $\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}$ as the invariant unobservable subspace.

Remark 3.15. As stated in Subsection 3.1.1, there are two different types of initial condition formulations. In this chapter, we use the first formulation that is compatible with the Inf-D system (3.3). Recall that the second formulation is expressed as $x(\dots, 0, i_k, 0, \dots) = h_k(i_k)$ for all $k = 1, \dots, n$, where $i_k \in \mathbb{N}$. Now, let $x(\dots, 0, i_k, 0, \dots) \in \mathcal{N}_s$. In this case, the $A_{\underline{k}}$ -invariance property of \mathcal{N}_s also ensures that $y(i_1, \dots, i_n) = 0$. In other words, $\mathcal{N}_{s,\infty}$ is also the invariant unobservable subspace of system (3.1) with the second formulation of the initial conditions. Therefore, without loss of any generality, one can apply our proposed approach to both initial condition formulations as provided in Subsection 3.1.1.

3.2.3 Conditioned Invariant Subspaces of n-D Systems

Another important subspace in the geometric FDI toolbox is the conditioned invariant (i.e., the (C, A)-invariant) subspace that is defined next. This definition is an extension of the one that has appeared and presented in [123, Definition 3.2]. **Definition 3.16.** A subspace $\mathscr{W}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{W})$ (where $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$) is said to be the conditioned invariant subspace for the n-D system (3.1) if there exist n output injection maps $D_k : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $(A_k + D_k C) \mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ for all $k = 1, \dots, n$.

In other words, \mathscr{W} is $[A + DC]_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant (i.e., invariant with respect to $A_k + D_k C$). We designate \mathscr{W} as the finite conditioned invariant subspace (since dim(\mathscr{W}) < ∞) of the n-D system (3.1).

Similar to 1-D systems, one can now state the following result.

Lemma 3.17. The following statements are equivalents.

- (i) The subspace \mathscr{W}_{∞} is conditioned invariant.
- (*ii*) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} (A_k(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C)) \subseteq \mathscr{W}.$
- (*iii*) $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}_{\infty} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\infty}$.

where $\mathscr{W}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{W}).$

Proof. $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$ and $(i) \Leftrightarrow (iii)$: By definition, there exist n maps D_k such that \mathscr{W} is $[A + DC]_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant. By utilizing Theorem 3.14, \mathscr{W}_{∞} is \mathcal{A}_d -invariant, where for example

$$\mathcal{A}_{d} = \begin{bmatrix} \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ \cdots & 0 & A_{1} + D_{1}C & 0 & \cdots & A_{n} + D_{n}C & \cdots \\ \cdots & A_{1} + D_{1}C & 0 & A_{2} + D_{2}C & \cdots & A_{n} + D_{n}C & \cdots \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \ddots & \ddots & \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.26)

in which the position $A_k + D_k C$ is defined by the position of A_k in \mathcal{A} (i.e., the chosen ordering index). By following along the same lines as in Lemma 3.3, one can show that \mathcal{A}_d is bounded. Consequently, the result of 1-D system is also valid for the Inf-D system (3.3). Hence, we have $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}_{\infty} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\infty}$ (which shows that $(i) \Leftrightarrow (iii)$). By considering the structure of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} it follows that $\sum_{k=1}^n (A_k(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C)) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. $(iii) \Leftrightarrow (i)$: Since \mathcal{A} is bounded, the domain of \mathcal{A} is equal to $\mathcal{X} = \bigoplus (\mathbb{R}^m)$, and therefore, the results of 1-D system are also valid for the Inf-D system (3.3). Therefore, there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that \mathscr{W}_{∞} is $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$ -invariant. By considering the structure of \mathscr{W}_{∞} and ker \mathcal{C} , it is easy to show that one solution for \mathcal{D} is given by (the position of D_k are determined by the positions of A_k in \mathcal{A})

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{bmatrix} & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ & \ddots & 0 & D_1 & 0 & \cdots & D_n & 0 & \cdots \\ & \ddots & D_1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & D_n & \cdots \\ & \ddots & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.27)

Hence, by using Theorem 3.14, the subspace \mathscr{W} is $[A + DC]_{\mathbf{k}}$ -invariant, and consequently \mathscr{W}_{∞} is a conditioned invariant subspace. This completes the proof of the lemma.

In the geometric FDI approach, one is interested in conditioned invariant subspaces that are containing a given subspace [41]. By following along the same lines as in 1-D systems (refer to [112, Section 4.1.1]), let us define all the conditioned invariant subspaces containing a subspace $\mathscr{L}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{L}) \ (\mathscr{L} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m)$ as $\mathfrak{Q}(\mathscr{L}) = \{\mathscr{W}_{\infty} \mid \exists D_k \ (A_k + D_k C) \mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W} \text{ and } \mathscr{W} \supseteq \mathscr{L}, k = 1, \cdots, n\}$. It can be shown that for a given subspace \mathscr{L}_{∞} (or \mathscr{L}), the set $\mathfrak{Q}(\mathscr{L})$ is closed under intersection, and hence the set $\mathfrak{Q}(\mathscr{L})$ has a minimal member as $\mathscr{W}^*_{\infty}(\mathscr{L})$. The minimal conditioned invariant subspace containing a given subspace $\mathscr{L}_{\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathscr{L})$ (that is, $\mathscr{W}^*_{\infty}(\mathscr{L})$) is obtained by invoking the following non-decreasing algorithm that is provided below,

$$\mathscr{W}^{0} = \mathscr{L},$$

$$\mathscr{W}^{i} = \mathscr{L} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} (A_{k}(\mathscr{W}^{i-1} \cap \ker C)),$$
(3.28)

 $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L}) = \mathscr{W}^{i_0}, i_0 \leq m \text{ and } \mathscr{W}^*_{\infty}(\mathscr{L}) = \bigoplus (\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})).$

Note that the above algorithm converges in a <u>finite</u> number of steps (since $\mathscr{W}^i \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$, the above algorithm converges in maximum *m* number of steps). Also, let \mathscr{W} be a finite conditioned invariant subspace. The set of all maps $D = \begin{bmatrix} D_1 & \cdots & D_n \end{bmatrix}$ such that \mathscr{W} is $[A + DC]_{\mathbf{k}}$ -invariant is designated by $\underline{D}(\mathscr{W})$.

3.2.4 Unobservability Subspace of n-D Systems

The unobservability subspace [3, Chapter 4 - Theorem 2] is the cornerstone of geometric FDI approach in 1-D systems. The following definition generalizes and extends this concept to the FMII n-D models.

Definition 3.18. A subspace S_{∞} is said to be an unobservability subspace for the n-D system (3.1) if there are n+1 maps D_k and H such that $S = \langle \ker HC | [A+DC]_{\underline{k}} \rangle$ and $S_{\infty} = \bigoplus (S)$. We designate S as the finite unobservability subspace of the n-D system (3.1).

Note that \mathcal{S}_{∞} is also conditioned invariant subspace and an invariant unobservable subspace of the systems (C,A) and (HC, A+DC), respectively. For accomplishing the goal of the FDI task, one first computes an unobservability subspace and then obtains the map H [3, Chapter 2 - Theorem 18]. Therefore, it is necessary to compute the unobservability subspace without having any knowledge of H. Let \mathscr{W}^* be the minimal finite conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L} . One can show that the limit of the following algorithm is the smallest unobservability subspace $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L})$ (and consequently $\mathcal{S}^*_{\infty}(\mathscr{L})$) that contains a given subspace \mathscr{L} .

$$\mathscr{Z}^{0} = \mathbb{R}^{m} \text{ and } \mathscr{Z}^{i} = \mathscr{W}^{*}(\mathscr{L}) + \left(\bigcap_{k=1}^{n} A_{k}^{-1} \mathscr{Z}^{i-1} \cap \ker C\right),$$

$$\mathcal{S}^{*} = \mathscr{Z}^{m},$$
(3.29)

and $\mathcal{S}^*_{\infty}(\mathscr{L}) = \bigoplus (\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L}))$. Finally, it is worth noting that $\underline{D}(\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})) \subseteq \underline{D}(\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L}))$ (since $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L}) = <\ker C + \mathscr{W}^* | [A + DC]_{\underline{k}} >$, and consequently $\mathcal{S}^*(\mathscr{L})$ is $[A + DC]_{\underline{k}}$ -invariant). To summarize, in this section, we first defined the invariance property of the n-D system (3.1) that are Inf-D subspaces of the Inf-D system (3.3). Next, an invariance unobservable subspace (that is generically equivalent to an unobservable subspace) $\mathcal{N}_{s,\infty} = \bigoplus (\mathcal{N}_s)$ was introduced. Moreover, the conditioned and unobservability subspaces that are crucial in determining the solution to the FDI problem have been introduced. By utilizing the above results necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are subsequently derived and provided.

3.3 Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for Solvability of the FDI problem

In this section, we first present necessary and sufficient conditions for detectability and isolability of faults. Next, by employing an LMI-based filter sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are presented.

Consider the faulty FMII model (3.1) (i.e., the system is subjected to two faults f_1 and f_2) and the detection filter (3.8) designed to detect and isolate the fault f_1 . By augmenting the detection filter dynamics (3.8) with the faulty n-D model (3.1), one obtains,

$$\delta x_e(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n A_k^e \delta_k x_e(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k^e \delta_k u(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n L_{1,e}^k \delta_k f_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n L_{2,e}^k \delta_k f_2(i_1, \dots, i_n), \qquad (3.30)$$
$$r_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) = C^e x_e(i_1, \dots, i_n),$$

where $x_e = \begin{bmatrix} x^{\mathrm{T}} & \omega_1^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathscr{X}^e = \mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{R}^o$ (*o* refers to the dimension of ω_1), $C^e = \begin{bmatrix} HC & M \end{bmatrix}$ and,

$$A_{k}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{k} & 0 \\ E_{k}C & F_{k} \end{bmatrix}, B_{k}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{k} \\ K_{k} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$L_{i,e}^{k} = \begin{bmatrix} (L_{i}^{k})^{\mathrm{T}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, i = 1, 2, k = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(3.31)

In this section, by considering the invariance unobservable subspace of the above augmented an analytical comparison between our proposed approach and the method developed in [99] is also provided to highlight the strength and capabilities of our proposed methodology when compared to the currently available results in the literature.

3.3.1 Main Results

The following lemma provides an important property for the invariant unobservable subspace $\mathscr{N}^{e}_{s,\infty}$ (and \mathscr{N}^{e}_{s}) that is associated with the system (3.30).

Lemma 3.19. Consider the n-D system (3.30) and its invariant unobservable subspace $\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}^e$. Let Q represent the embedding operator into \mathscr{X}^e (i.e., $Q : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathscr{X}^e$ and $Qx = \begin{bmatrix} x^T & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T$), and $Q = \operatorname{diag}(\cdots, Q, Q, \cdots)$. Then $Q^{-1}\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}^e$ is an unobservability subspace of the n-D system (3.1).

Proof. First, recall that $\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}^e = \bigoplus (\mathscr{N}_s^e)$. Note that, $Q^{-1}\mathscr{N}_s^e = \mathscr{S} = \{x | \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}_s^e\}$, and assume that $\begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}_s^e$. According to the fact that \mathscr{N}_s^e is $A_{\underline{k}}^e$ -invariant, we have $A_k^e \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}_s^e$, and if $x \in \ker C$ then $A_k x \in \mathscr{S}$ and it follows that $A_k(\mathscr{S} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{S}$ for all $k = 1, \cdots, n$. Therefore, by using Lemma 3.17, $\mathscr{S}_\infty = \mathcal{Q}^{-1}\mathscr{N}_{s,\infty}^e = \bigoplus (\mathscr{S})$ is a conditioned invariant subspace. Moreover, given that \mathscr{N}_s^e is contained in $\ker C^e$, we have $\mathscr{S} \subseteq \ker HC$. Therefore, the subspace \mathscr{S} is a finite conditioned invariant subspace contained in $\ker HC$. Since \mathscr{N}_s^e is the largest $A_{\underline{k}}^e$ -invariant subspace in $\ker C^e$, it follows that \mathscr{S} is the largest $[A + DC]_{\underline{k}}$ invariant subspace in $\ker HC$ (i.e., \mathscr{S} is a finite unobservability subspace of the *n*-D

system (3.1)). In other words, \mathscr{S} is a finite unobservability subspace of the system (3.1). This completes the proof of the lemma.

The following theorem provides a <u>single</u> necessary and sufficient condition for detectability and isolability of faults (i.e., the existence of a subsystem such that it is decoupled from all faults but one - refer to Subsection 3.1.3 for more details).

Theorem 3.20. Consider the n-D system (3.1) that is subject to two faults f_1 and f_2 . Also, let $\mathscr{L}_1^k = \operatorname{span}\{L_1^k\}$ and \mathscr{S}_1^* denote the smallest finite unobservability subspace of the n-D system (3.1) containing $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$ (this represents the limit of the algorithm (3.29), where one sets $\mathscr{L} = \sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$ in the algorithm (3.28)). The fault f_1 is detectable and isolable if and only if the following condition is satisfied,

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{1}^{k}\right) \not\subseteq \mathcal{S}_{1}^{*} \tag{3.32}$$

Proof. (If part): By the definition of S_1^* , there exist n+1 maps D_k and H such that $S_1^* = \langle \ker H_1C | [A + D^1C]_{\underline{k}} \rangle$. Since $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k \subseteq S^*$, it follows that the output of the system $(H_1C, A + D^1C)$ is decoupled from f_2 . In other words, f_2 has no effect on the output of the system as defined above. Now consider the following detection filter

$$\delta\omega_{1}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} F_{k}\delta_{k}\omega_{1}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{1}B_{k}\delta_{k}u(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{1}L_{1}^{k}\delta_{k}f_{1}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}),$$

$$r_{1}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}) = M_{1}\omega_{1}(i_{1},\ldots,i_{n}),$$
(3.33)

where $P_1 : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m / S_1^*$ is the canonical projection of \mathbb{R}^m on \mathbb{R}^m / S_1^* (for simplicity, this map is denoted as the canonical projection of S_1^*). Since S_1^* is $[A + D^1C]_{\underline{k}}$ invariant, there exist n maps A_k^p such that $A_k^p P_1 = P_1(A_k + D_k^1C)$ for all $k = 1, \cdots, n$. Also, $F_k = A_k^p + D_{ok}M_1$, where H_1 can be obtained from ker $H_1C = S_1^* + \ker C$, and M_1 is the unique solution to $M_1P_1 = H_1C$. Moreover, D_{ok} denote the filter gains. Note that $P_1L_2^k = 0$ (since $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k \subseteq \mathcal{S}_1^*$).

Now, by defining $e_1(i_1,\ldots,i_n) = P_1 x(i_1,\ldots,i_n) - \omega_1(i_1,\ldots,i_n)$, one obtains

$$\delta e_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n F_k \delta_k e_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n P_1 L_1^k \delta_k f_1(i_1, \dots, i_n), \qquad (3.34)$$
$$r_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) = M_1 e_1(i_1, \dots, i_n),$$

According to the condition in equation (3.32), one has $PL_1^k \neq 0$ for at least one $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. Hence, the residual signal (3.34) is decoupled from the fault f_2 , and it follows that the fault f_1 is detectable from the output of the residual signal (3.34). Therefore, the fault f_1 is detectable and isolable in the sense of Remark 3.5.

(Only if part): We show the result by contradiction. Assume $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{1}^{k} \subseteq \mathscr{S}_{1}^{*}$. By using Lemma 3.19, it follows that $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{1,e}^{k} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_{s}^{e}$. As discussed in Subsection 3.2.1, $\mathscr{N}_{s}^{e} \subseteq \mathscr{N}^{e}$, and consequently $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{1,e}^{k} \subseteq \mathscr{N}^{e}$. In other words, the fault f_{1} is not detectable. This is in contradiction with the assumption. This completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 3.21. It should pointed out that since L_1^k , k = 1, ..., n are defined on \mathbb{R} (refer to the system (3.1)), one obtains dim $(\mathscr{L}_1^k) = 1$. This shows that the condition (3.32) is consistent with the condition (2.13) for the case n = 1 that is the 1-D system.

As stated in Remark 3.5, the FDI problem has two main steps. Theorem 3.20 provides a necessary and sufficient condition for the first step (that is, detectability and isolability of fault f_1). Therefore, condition (3.32) is also necessary for solvability of the FDI problem. For the second step (that is, designing a filter that can detect f_1 and the corresponding error dynamics is asymptotically stable), one needs to design a detection filter. Design of a residual generator to detect and isolate the fault f_1 in the n-D system (3.1) is reduced to that of detecting this fault in the system (3.33) by using an observer. In other words, one needs to determine D_{ok} and consequently F_k in (3.33), such that the error dynamics (3.34) is asymptotically stable. For the special case n = 2 one can use deadbeat observers [89, 118]. However, as stated earlier and emphasized in [92], the algebraic approach (that is based on polynomial matrices) faces certain difficulties (for $n \ge 3$). Moreover, as pointed out in [118], design of a deadbeat observer for FMII models is based on polynomial matrices. This method is unfortunately not always numerically or analytically straightforward (even in the case n = 2) to develop and therefore, in this work we develop a set of sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem by using an n-D Luenberger observer.

Towards the above end, let $k = 1, \dots, n, P_1$ is the canonical projection of S_1^* , and A_k^p are defined from (3.33). Also, H_1 and D_k^1 denote the operators that are defined by the smallest unobservability subspace that contains $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$. The operator P_1^{-r} is the right-inverse of P_1 and D_{ok} are the state estimation observer gains as given by the Corollary 3.9. The residual generator n-D detection filter that is governed by (3.8) is utilized where the filter gains are selected according to,

$$F_k = A_k^p + D_{ok}M_1, \ K_k = P_1B_k, \ D_k^e = D_k^1 + P_1^{-r}D_{ok}H_1, \ E_k = P_1D_k^e,$$
(3.35)

The next corollary provides sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem by using an n-D Luenberger observer.

Corollary 3.22. Consider the n-D model (3.1), where the condition (3.32) is satisfied. Let $A_p = \begin{bmatrix} A_1^p & \cdots & A_n^p \end{bmatrix}$ (A_k^p are defined in (3.33)), and define W_m such that the columns of W_m are the basis of ker M_1 . The FDI problem is solvable if there exist n symmetric positive definite matrices R_k such that,

$$W_m^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{diag}(R_1,\ldots,R_n) - A_p^{\mathrm{T}}(\sum_{k=1}^n R_k)A_p)W_m < 0.$$
 (3.36)

Proof. By invoking Theorem 3.20, the fault f_1 is detectable and isolable, and consequently the subsystem (3.33) exists (and is decoupled from all faults but f_1).

Moreover, Corollary 3.9 guarantees the existence of n observer gains D_{ok} that one can construct for the detection filter (3.8), where the operators are defined as in (3.33). Therefore, the state estimation error dynamics can be expressed according to,

$$\delta e(i_1, \dots, i_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n F_k \delta_k e(i_1, \dots, i_n) + \sum_{k=1}^n P_1 L_1^k \delta_k f_1(i_1, \dots, i_n),$$

$$r_1(i_1, \dots, i_n) = M_1 e(i_1, \dots, i_n),$$
(3.37)

where $e(i_1, \ldots, i_n) = P_1 x(i_1, \ldots, i_n) - \omega_1(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$. By considering the LMI condition (3.36) and invoking results from Corollary 3.9, the error dynamics (3.37) is asymptotically stable. If $f_1 \equiv 0$, the residual signal r_1 converges to zero as $\sum_{k=1}^{n} i_k \to \infty$. Otherwise, the residual has a value that is different from zero. Therefore, the condition (3.7a) is satisfied and the FDI problem is solvable. By following along the same lines as those above one can also design another state estimation observer to detect and isolate the fault f_2 . Therefore, this completes the proof of the corollary.

Remark 3.23. The parameters ϵ_i (refer to equation (3.7)) are determined by using Monte Carlo simulations as follows. When the detection filter gains are obtained, one performs Monte Carlo simulations for the healthy system. Subsequently, one sets $\epsilon_i = Th_i$, where Th_i is the upper bound of r_i in all the simulations. Also, N_0 is dependent to application and selected such that the effects of the initial condition errors are eliminated from r_i .

Remark 3.24. It is worth noting that one can directly work with \mathcal{N}_g (as defined in (3.15)) and derive necessary and sufficient conditions by following along the same steps as those that have been proposed in [124]. However, there are two main drawbacks associated with this approach that are as follows:

1. The invariant subspaces are <u>not</u> necessarily computed in a finite number of steps.

 By factoring out N_g, the resulting subsystem does not necessarily have a Fin-D representation. For more clarification on n-D realization, refer to the work in [125].

To summarize, Theorem 3.20 provides a single necessary and sufficient condition for detectability and isolability of the faults (refer to Remark 3.5) that is also necessary for solvability of the FDI problem. Then, a set of sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem by utilizing an n-D Luenberger observer are derived in Corollary 3.22. Note that the provided results are applicable to any n-D system, whereas the algebraic approaches need more investigation for the cases $n \geq 3$.

Table 3.1 summarizes the main results that are developed and presented in this subsection.

Table 3.1: Pseudo-algorithm to detect and isolate the fault f_i in the n-D system (3.1).

- 1. Compute the minimal conditioned invariant subspace \mathscr{W}_i^* containing all $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_j^k$ subspaces such that $j \neq i$ (by invoking the algorithm (3.28), where $\mathscr{L} = \sum_{j \neq i} \sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_j^k$).
- 2. Compute the unobservability subspace \mathcal{S}_i^* containing \mathscr{L} (by using the algorithm (3.29)).
- 3. Compute the operators D_k^i such that \mathscr{W}_i^* is the minimal conditioned invariant subspace of the n-D system (3.1).
- 4. Find the operator H_i such that $\ker H_i C = \mathcal{S}_i^* + \ker C$.
- 5. If $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{i}^{k} \not\subseteq S_{i}^{*}$, then the fault f_{i} is detectable and isolable (refer to Remark 3.5 and Theorem 3.20), and
- 6. If the conditions of Corollary 3.22 are satisfied, there exists an LMI-based observer for detection and isolation of the fault f_i . The operator of the detection filter is defined in (3.35).

The output norm of the above detection filter is the residual that satisfies the condition (3.7).

3.3.2 Comparisons with Other Available Approaches in the Literature

In this subsection, our proposed approach is compared and evaluated with existing geometric methods in the literature [99,100]. We first show that if the FDI problem is solvable by using the approach in the above literature, our approach can also detect and isolate the faults. Furthermore, we provide a numerical example where it is shown that our approach is capable of detecting and isolating a fault, however, the necessary conditions provided in [99] are not satisfied.

The equivalent n-D version of the necessary condition (as derived in [99], Theorems 2 and 3) to detect and isolate two faults can be summarized as follows: The faults f_1 and f_2 in the n-D system (3.1) are detectable and isolable according to [99] if $C\mathcal{W}_1^* \cap C\mathcal{W}_2^* = 0$, where \mathcal{W}_1^* and \mathcal{W}_2^* denote the minimal finite conditioned invariant subspaces that contain $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_1^k$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$, respectively. It should be pointed out that the observability assumption of (C, A) is a fundamental requirement and condition in [99] (although it was stated in [99] that this assumption was made for simplicity of the presentation). The main reason for the above limitation lies on and is due to the fact that the approach in [99] is based on results of [50]. However, as stated in [50] the observability assumption is quite a crucial and critical condition (refer to Section III, Lemma 5, Proposition 6 and Theorem 7 in [50]).

For further illustration and clarification of the above serious concern consider the following 3-D system,

$$\begin{aligned} x(i+1,j+1,k+1) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(i,j+1,k+1) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} x(i+1,j,k+1) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} x(i+1,j+1,k) + \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} f_1 + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} f_2, \quad (3.38) \\ y(i,j,k) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} x(i,j,k). \end{aligned}$$

We have $\mathscr{W}_1^* = \mathscr{L}_1 = \ker C$, $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{L}_2$, and consequently $C\mathscr{W}_1^* \cap C\mathscr{W}_2^* = 0$. Therefore, the sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem under the zero initial condition in [99] (Theorem 2) is satisfied. However, it is easy to verify that $\mathscr{L}_1 \subseteq \mathscr{N}$, and consequently f_1 is <u>not even detectable</u> (in other words, f_1 has no effect on the output signal). It should be pointed out that our proposed methodology does not suffer from the above limitation and restriction.

We are now in a position to state the following theorem.

Theorem 3.25. Consider the n-D system (3.1) and assume that the FDI problem is solvable by using the approach that is proposed in [99]. Then the approach proposed in this work can also detect and isolate the faults in the system (3.1).

Proof. According to Theorem 3 in [99], $C\mathscr{W}_1^* \cap C\mathscr{W}_2^* = 0$, and \mathscr{W}_1^* and \mathscr{W}_2^* are internally/externally stabilizable. Therefore, there exist n maps D_k such that \mathscr{W}_1^* and \mathscr{W}_2^* are both $[A + DC]_k$ -invariant, and the system $(A_1 + D_1C, \cdots, A_n + D_nC)$ is stable (that is, the corresponding n-D system is asymptotically stable). Since $C\mathscr{W}_1^* \cap C\mathscr{W}_2^* = 0$, there exists a map H such that $HC\mathscr{W}_1^* = C\mathscr{W}_1^*$ and $HC\mathscr{W}_2^* = 0$ (i.e., ker $H = C\mathscr{W}_2^*$ and $H|_{C\mathscr{W}_1^*} = I$). Let \mathscr{N}_s^h denote the invariant unobservable subspace of (HC, A + DC). It follows that $\mathscr{N}_s^h \cap \mathscr{W}_1^* = 0$. Note that \mathscr{N}_s^h is an unobservability subspace of (C, A) containing $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$, and since \mathcal{S}_1^* is the smallest unobservability subspace containing $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_2^k$, it follows that $\sum_{k=1}^n \mathscr{L}_1^k \not\subseteq \mathcal{S}_1^*$. Also, since $(A_1 + D_1C, \cdots, A_n + D_nC)$ is stable, it can be shown that (A_1^p, \cdots, A_n^p) is also stable, where $P[A_k+D_kC] = A_k^p P$ and P is the canonical projection of S_1^* . Therefore, one can also construct an observer for the quotient system (3.33) to detect and isolate the fault f_1 (by choosing $D_{ok} = 0$ for all $k = 1, \dots, n$). By following along the same lines, one can detect and isolate the fault f_2 . This completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 3.26. Theorem 3.25 shows that our proposed approach can detect and isolate faults that are detectable and isolable by using the geometric method in [99]. However, below an example is provided where this approach fails whereas our proposed approach can still detect and isolate the faults.

Illustrative Example (Limitations of the Method in [99])

Consider the 3-D system (3.1) that is subjected to two faults
$$f_1$$
 and f_2 where,

$$A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}, A_2 = 0.5 \begin{bmatrix} 0_{2\times 2} & 0_{2\times 2} \\ I_{2\times 2} & I_{2\times 2} \end{bmatrix}, A_3 = 0.5I_{4\times 4}, L_1^i = L_2^i = 0, i = 2, 3,$$

$$B_1 = B_2 = B_3 = 0, L_1^1 = [0, 0, 0, 1]^T, L_2^1 = [0, 0, -1, 1]^T, C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The necessary condition to detect and isolate the fault f_1 by using the approach in [99] is $C\mathscr{W}_1^* \cap C\mathscr{W}_2^* = 0$. Since $\mathscr{L}_1^1, \mathscr{L}_2^1 \notin \ker C$, by invoking the algorithm (3.28), one obtains $\mathscr{W}_1^* = \mathscr{L}_1$ and $\mathscr{W}_2^* = \mathscr{L}_2$. It follows that, $C\mathscr{W}_1^* \cap C\mathscr{W}_2^* = \operatorname{span}\{[0, 1]^T\}$. Therefore, the necessary condition in [99, Theorems 2 and 3] is not satisfied. In other words, the fault f_1 cannot be detected and isolated by using the detection filter (3.8), if one restricts the filter to the case with M = C (or H = I), according to the required results in [99].

Finally, it is now shown and demonstrated that one can detect and isolate both faults f_1 and f_2 by using our proposed methodology. Towards this end, by invoking the algorithm (3.29), one can write $S_1^* = \mathscr{L}_2^1$ (that is, the finite unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_2^1) that satisfies the condition (3.32). By considering $D_1 =$ $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0.5 & -0.5 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, D_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0.5 & -0.5 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } D_{3} = 0, \mathscr{W}_{2}^{*} \text{ is } [A + DC]_{\underline{\mathbf{k}}}^{-}$ invariant. Also, since ker $C + \mathcal{S}_{1}^{*} = \ker H_{1}C$ and $M_{1}P_{1} = H_{1}C$, one gets $H_{1} = [1, 0]$ and $M_{1} = [1, 0, 0]$. Hence, the quotient subsystem (3.33) that is only affected by the fault f_{1} is given by

$$A_{1}^{p} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \\ 0 & 0.5 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, A_{2}^{p} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}, A_{3}^{p} = 0.5I, B_{1} = B_{2} = B_{3} = 0.$$
(3.39)

Since the triple (A_1^p, A_2^p, A_3^p) is stable (since det $(I - z_1A_1 - z_2A_2z_3A_3) \neq 0$ for all $|z_j| \leq 1, j = 1, 2, 3$ - [119, Theorem 41]), by considering $D_{o1} = D_{o2} = 0$, the detection filter for the fault f_1 (as given by equation (3.8)) is obtained according to,

$$\omega_{1}(i_{1}+1, i_{2}+1, i_{3}+1) = A_{1}^{p}\omega_{1}(i_{1}, i_{2}+1, i_{3}+1) + A_{2}^{p}\omega_{1}(i_{1}+1, i_{2}, i_{3}+1) + A_{3}^{p}\omega_{1}(i_{1}+1, i_{2}+1, i_{3}),$$
(3.40)
$$r_{1}(i, j) = M_{1}\omega_{1}(i, j) - H_{1}y(i, j).$$

By following along the same procedure, one can also design a detection filter to detect and isolate the fault f_2 . Therefore, our proposed approach can accomplish the FDI objectives while the approach that is proposed in [99] cannot achieve this goal.

Remark 3.27. All the conditions for solvability of the FDI problem in the literature (for both 1-D, 2-D and 3-D systems) and also our proposed conditions (for n-D systems) are generic, although this fact is not explicitly mentioned. In other words, for every system that satisfies the proposed conditions in the literature (i.e. [89, 91, 99]) or our proposed conditions, the developed methods can detect and isolate almost all the fault signals. For clarification, consider the faulty model (3.1), where $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $A_1 = A_2 = 0.4 * I$, $B_1^1 = L_1^1 = [1, 1]^T$, $B_2^2 = L_2^2 = [0, 1]$ and $C = [1, -1]^T$. Let the initial condition $\mathbf{x}(0) = 0$ and $f_1(i, j) = 1$ for all $i+j \ge 0$. It follows that $y \equiv 0$, and consequently f_1 is not detectable. However, below we show that sufficient conditions in the literature [89, 91, 99] as well as our proposed conditions are still all satisfied.

- 1. (Conditions in [89] and [91]). It follows that $N(z_1, z_2)PHB(z_1, z_2) = 0$, where $N(z_1, z_2) = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0.4(z_1 + z_2) - 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0.4(z_1 + z_2) - 1 \end{bmatrix}$, and consequently the condition of Theorem 1 in [91] is also satisfied.
- (Conditions in [99]). By following the algorithm (3.28) we obtain 𝒞₁^{*} = ℒ₁ and 𝒱₂^{*} = ℒ₂. It follows that C𝒱₁^{*} ∩ C𝒱₂^{*} = 0, and consequently the condition in [99] is also satisfied.
- 3. (Our proposed Conditions) By following the algorithm (3.29) we obtain S₁^{*} = L₁ and S₂^{*} = L₂. It follows that S₁^{*} ∩ L₂ = 0, and consequently the condition (3.32) is also satisfied.

To summarize, in this section we have developed and presented a solution to the FDI problem of n-D systems by invoking an Inf-D framework for the first time in the literature and by utilizing invariant subspaces and derived necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the problem. It was shown that if the sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem that are provided in [99,100] are satisfied, then our proposed approach can also detect and isolate the faults. However, as shown above there are certain systems that the method in [99] are not applicable to and capable of detecting and isolating faults, whereas our proposed approach can solve this problem successfully.

3.4 Simulation Results

In this section, we apply our proposed FDI methodology to a heat transfer process [75,126]. Figure 3.1 shows a two-line parallel heat transfer system. This process can



Figure 3.1: The two-line parallel heat transfer process that is considered in this section.

be considered as a model for the heat transfer in a thermal-hydraulic system and heat exchangers.

In this section, we verify the necessary and sufficient conditions that are derived in the previous section, and also design a set of filters to detect and isolate faults under both full and partial state measurement scenarios (this is to be realized by an appropriate selection of the output matrix C).

The heat transfer system is usually subject to two different types of faults, namely the fouling and the leakage [126]. The mathematical model of a typical heat transfer system is governed by the following hyperbolic PDEs,

$$\frac{\partial T_f}{\partial t} = -\alpha_f \frac{\partial T_f}{\partial z} - \beta (T_f - T_g) - f_2(z, t),
\frac{\partial T_g}{\partial t} = -\alpha_g \frac{\partial T_g}{\partial z} - \beta (T_g - T_f) + f_1(z, t) + f_2(z, t),$$
(3.41)

where $z \in [0, 1]$, and T_f and T_g denote the temperature of the cold (fuel) and the hot (exhaust gas) sections, respectively. The coefficients α_f and α_g are proportional on the speed of the fluid and the gas, respectively, and the coefficient β is related to the heat transfer coefficient of the wall [126]. Moreover, f_1 and f_2 denote the leakage and the fouling effects, respectively. Finally, it is assumed that the boundary conditions (the inlet temperature) $T_f(t, 0)$ and $T_g(t, 0)$ are given and only the outer section (i.e. T_g) is subject to the leakage. For the purpose of conducting simulations, the parameters in equation (3.41) are taken as $\alpha_f = \alpha_g = \beta = 1$. Also, by considering $\Delta z = \Delta t = 0.1$, and following along the same lines as in subsection 2.5.1, one can discretize the system (3.41) as,

$$\begin{aligned} x(i+1,j+1) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0_{2\times 2} & I_{2\times 2} \\ 0_{2\times 2} & 0_{2\times 2} \end{bmatrix} x(i,j+1) + \begin{bmatrix} 0_{2\times 2} & 0_{2\times 2} \\ I_{2\times 2} & -0.1 & 0.1 \\ I_{2\times 2} & 0.1 & -0.1 \end{bmatrix} x(i+1,j) + L_1^1 f_1(i+1,j) \\ &+ B_2^1 u(i+1,j) + L_2^1 f_2(i+1,j), \\ y(i,j) &= C x(i,j), \end{aligned}$$
(3.42)

where $L_1^1 = [0, 0, 0, 1]^{\mathrm{T}}, L_2^1 = [0, 0, -1, 1]^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $x(i, j) = [T_g((i-1)\Delta z, j\Delta t), T_f((i-1)\Delta z, j\Delta t), T_f(i\Delta z, j\Delta t)]^{\mathrm{T}}$. Finally, one obtains $B_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{2\times 2} \\ 1.1 & -0.1 \\ -0.1 & 1.1 \end{bmatrix}, u(0, j) = [T_f(0, \Delta t), T_g(0, \Delta t)]^{\mathrm{T}}$ and u(i, j) = u(0, j) for all i.

We first assume that both temperatures T_f and T_g are available for measurement along the spatial coordinates at discrete points (i.e., $T_f(i\Delta z, j\Delta t)$ and $T_g(i\Delta z, j\Delta t)$ are available from sensors). Next, we consider the case where only the outer temperature (that is, T_g) is available for measurement. As we shall show subsequently, in the latter case by using the 1-D approximate ODE model (for example, as in [127]), the faults f_1 and f_2 are not isolable, whereas by using our proposed n-D FDI methodology one can detect and isolate both faults.

3.4.1 FDI of a Heat Transfer System by Using Full State Measurements

Let us assume that both temperatures (namely, T_f and T_g) are available for measurement. Therefore, one can select the output matrix as $C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$.

Detectability and Isolability Conditions

By applying the algorithm (3.28), the minimal finite conditioned invariant subspace containing $\mathscr{L} = \operatorname{span}\{L_2^1\}$ is obtained as $\mathscr{W}_2^* = \mathscr{L}_2^1$, and by applying the algorithm (3.29), one obtains $\mathcal{S}_1^* = \mathscr{W}_2^* = \mathscr{L}_2^1$. It follows that $\mathscr{L}_1^1 \cap \mathcal{S}_1^* = 0$. Therefore, the sufficient condition of Theorem 3.20 is satisfied. By following along the same lines the necessary and sufficient condition for detectability and isolability of the fault f_2 can also be shown to be satisfied.

FDI 2-D Luenberger Filter Design

As stated earlier, we are interested in designing 2-D Luenberger detection filters by using the LMI condition that is proposed in the Subsection 3.1.4. In this part of the chapter, we design a filter for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 (without loss of any generality, by following along the same lines as conducted below one can also design a filter to detect and isolate the fault f_2). The 2-D detection filter must be decoupled from the fault f_2 (refer to the conditions in equation (3.7)). As stated above, the finite unobservability subspaces containing the subspace \mathscr{L}_2^1 is obtained by using the algorithm (3.29) and is given by $\mathscr{S}_1^* = \mathscr{W}_2^* = \mathscr{L}_2^1$.

The output injection matrices D_1^1 and D_2^1 for \mathscr{W}_2^* are to be derived such that \mathscr{W}_2^* is $[A + D^1C]_{1,2}$ -invariant. Therefore, one can write $(A_1 + D_1^1C)W_2^c = 0$ and $(A_2 + D_2^1C)W_2^c = 0$, where the columns of W_2^c are the basis of $\mathscr{W}_2^* \cap (\mathscr{W}_2^* \cap \ker C)^{\perp}$. In other words, for the above example, we have $W_2^c = L_2^1$. One solution to D_1 and D_2^1 is $D_1^1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $D_2^1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -0.2 & 0.2 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$. Also, let $P_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ (which is the canonical projector of the subspace S^*) where P_2 is used in equation

(which is the canonical projector of the subspace S_1^*), where P_1 is used in equation (3.33). By using ker $H_1C = S_1^* + \ker C$ and $M_1P_1 = H_1C$, we have $H_1 = [1, 0, 0]$ and the output matrix M_1 becomes $M_1 = [1, 0, 0]$. Hence, the factored out 2-D system is now expressed as,

$$\omega(i+1,j+1) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1.42 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \omega(i,j+1) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -0.7 & -0.7 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \omega(i+1,j) \\
+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0.7 & 0.7 \end{bmatrix} u(i+1,j) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} f_1(i+1,j), \\
y_p(i,j) = [1,0,0]\omega(i,j),$$
(3.43)

where $\omega(i, j) = P_1 x(i, j)$. It is straightforward to show that the positive definite matrices $R_1 = \text{diag}(0.4, 1, 2.133)$ and $R_2 = \text{diag}(0.4, 2.15, 0.86)$ satisfy the inequality $W_{c_d}^{\mathrm{T}} A_C W_{c_d} < 0$. By using Remark 3.10, one can obtain $D_{o1} = 0$ and $D_{o2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -0.7 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$. Therefore, the filter to detect and isolate the fault f_1 is given by,

$$\begin{split} \omega_1(i+1,j+1) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1.42 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \omega_1(i,j+1) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -0.7 & -0.7 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \omega_1(i+1,j) \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0.7 & 0.7 \end{bmatrix} u(i+1,j) + D_{o2}P_1y(i,j+1), \\ r_1(i,j) &= M_1\omega_1(i,j) - H_1y(i,j). \end{split}$$

Designing a filter to detect and isolate the fault f_2 follows along the same lines as those given above for the fault f_1 . These details are not included for brevity.

Threshold Computation

Due to presence of input and output noise, disturbances, and uncertainties in the model, the value of the residual $r_k(i, j)$ is not exactly equal to zero under the fault free situation. Therefore, to reduce the number of false alarm flags one needs to apply threshold bands to the residual signals. In this subsection, we present an approach for determining the thresholds that are needed for achieving the FDI task. For 1D systems, there are a number of approaches for computing a threshold, e.g. based on the maximum or the root mean square (RMS) of the residual signal [128]. In this chapter, we use the maximum residual norm. However, one can also apply the RMS approach to 2-D systems.

Consider the FMII 2-D model (3.1) subject to the fault free situation. The threshold th_k is then determined from,

$$th_k = \max_{\ell < N_0} |r_k^{\ell}(i,j)| , \text{ for } i,j \le N_1$$
 (3.44)

where $|\cdot|$ denotes a norm function (in this chapter we use the norm-2), N_0 is the number of the Monte Carlo simulations (refer to [13]) that are used to determine the threshold, $r_k^{\ell}(\cdot, \cdot)$ denotes the signal of k^{th} residual in the ℓ^{th} length and N_1 is a sufficiently large number.

By utilizing predefined thresholds that are denoted by $th_k, k = 1, 2$, the FDI logic can be summarized as follows,

if
$$r_1 > th_1 \Rightarrow$$
 the fault f_1 has occurred.
(3.45)
if $r_2 > th_2 \Rightarrow$ the fault f_2 has occurred.

Let us now consider two scenarios. In the first scenario, a single fault f_1 with the severity of 1 occurs at $(i = 5 \text{ and } j \ge 60)$. In the second scenario, multiple faults f_1 and f_2 with the severity of 1 occur at $(i = 5 \text{ and } j \ge 50)$ and (i = 5and $j \ge 70)$, respectively. The residual r_1 for the first scenario is shown in Figure



Figure 3.2: The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 .

3.2. For the second scenario, the results are shown in Figure 3.3. The thresholds are determined by conducting Monte Carlo simulations [13] corresponding to the healthy 2-D system. As shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3, our proposed methodology can detect and isolate the faults in both single- and multiple-fault scenarios (according to the FDI logic that is given by equation (3.45)).

3.4.2 FDI of a Heat Transfer System Using Partial State Measurements

In this section, we assume that only the outer temperature (T_g) is available for measurement. This corresponds to a more practical and physically feasible scenario in various applications (sensing the inner temperature requires a more sophisticated hardware). In this case, we set $C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ (in other words, we measure $T_g(i - 1, j)$ and $T_g(i, j)$). In this subsection, we demonstrate and illustrate the capabilities



Figure 3.3: The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 . of our proposed FDI approach based on the 2-D system modeling, whereas it is shown that by using a *1D approximation* of the PDE system (3.41) the FDI problem *cannot* be solved.

1-D Approximation of the Heat Transfer System

The hyperbolic PDE system (3.41) can be approximated by applying discretization through the z coordinates as follows. Let ℓ denote the length of the heat transfer system that is discretized into N equal intervals (i.e., $\Delta z = \frac{\ell}{N}$). By using the approximation $\frac{\partial T_g(k\Delta z,t)}{\partial z} = \frac{T_g(k\Delta z,t) - T_g((k-1)\Delta z,t)}{\Delta z}$, one can represent the PDE system (3.41) by the following 1D approximate model,

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} (L_1^k f_1^k(t) + L_2^k f_2^k(t)),$$

$$y(t) = Cx(t),$$
(3.46)
where
$$x(t) = \left[T_g(\Delta z, t), T_f(\Delta z, t), \cdots, T_g(N\Delta z, t), T_f(N\Delta z, t) \right]^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}, \ f_i^k(t) = f_1(k\Delta z, t) \ (i = 1, 2) \text{ and } B = \begin{bmatrix} 1, 0, 0, 0, \cdots, 0\\ 0, 1, 0, 0, \cdots, 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 Also, $L_1^k = \underbrace{[0, \cdots, 0]}_{(k-1)}, -1, 1, 0, \cdots]^{\mathrm{T}}$

and the fault signatures L_2^k are 2N-dimensional vectors such that only the k^{th} element is 1 and the rest are zeros. Moreover,

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ A_2 & A_1 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & A_2 & A_1 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}, C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.47)

in which $A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1+\Delta z}{\Delta z} & 1\\ 1 & -\frac{1+\Delta z}{\Delta z} \end{bmatrix}$ and $A_2 = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{\Delta z} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\Delta z} \end{bmatrix}$. Now, consider the faults f_1^k and f_2^k . It can be shown that $\mathscr{W}_2^* = \operatorname{span}\{L_1^k, L_2^k\}$, where \mathscr{W}_2^* is the minimal conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L}_2^k (from the 1-D system perspective). Consequently, $\mathcal{S}_{1D}^* \cap \mathscr{L}_1^k \neq 0$ (\mathcal{S}_{1D}^* denotes the unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_2^k in the 1D system sense). Consequently, the faults f_1^k and f_2^k are not isolable. However, we show below that the faults can be detected and isolated if one approximates the system (3.41) by using the 2-D model representation.

2-D Representation of the Heat Transfer System

Let us set $x_1(i,j) = T_g(i,j) + \frac{\Delta t}{\Delta z} f_1(i,j)$ and $x_2(i,j) = T_f(i,j)$, so that the system (3.41) is approximated by the system (3.42) where all the operators are defined as before except for $L_1^1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Note that since only the state T_g is assumed to be available for measurement, we sense $T_g(i-1,j)$ and $T_g(i,j)$. By applying the algorithm (3.29), where $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_2^1$, one gets $\mathcal{S}_1^* =$ $\operatorname{span}\{L_2^1, \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T, \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^T\}$. Since, $\mathscr{L}_1^1 \cap \mathcal{S}_1^* = 0$, the fault f_1 is both detectable and isolable (according to Theorem 3.20). It should be noted that by



Figure 3.4: The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 .

applying the approaches in [89,91,99], one can also detect and isolate the fault f_1 . By following along the same lines as the ones given earlier one can show that the fault f_2 is also detectable and isolable, where one can design the required detection filters. Figures 3.4 and 3.5 depict the simulation results for the scenarios that presented above. As can be observed from Figures 3.3 and 3.5, it follows that fewer available information (recall that both T_f and T_g are measurable in Figure 3.3, whereas in Figure 3.5, only T_g is measurable) results in a situation where the spatial coordinate of a fault cannot be estimated accurately.

3.5 Summary

The FDI problem for n-D systems represented by the Fornasini-Marchesini model II was investigated In this chapter. In order to derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem, the notion of the conditioned invariant and unobservability subspace of 1-D systems was generalized to n-D systems by



Figure 3.5: The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 .

using an Inf-D framework and representation. Moreover, algorithms for computing and constructing these subspaces are introduced and provided that converge in a finite and known number of steps. By applying the LMI approach, sufficient conditions for existence of an asymptotically convergent n-D state estimation observer is derived. Necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are also provided. It was shown that although the sufficient conditions for applicability of the currently available geometric results in the literature are also sufficient for our proposed approach to accomplish the FDI goal, however, there are n-D systems where the geometric approaches in the literature are not applicable to detect and isolate the faults, whereas our approach can still achieve the FDI objective and goal. Finally, simulation results are provided for the application of our proposed FDI methodology to a heat transfer process to demonstrate and illustrate the capabilities and advantages of our proposed solution as compared to the alternative 1-D representation and 1-D FDI approaches.

Chapter 4

Invariant Subspaces of Riesz Spectral (RS) Systems with Application to Fault Detection and Isolation

A large class of parabolic PDE systems, such as reaction-diffusion processes can be represented as a RS system in the Inf-D framework. Compared to Fin-D systems, the geometric theory of Inf-D systems to address certain fundamental control problems, such as disturbance decoupling and FDI, is quite limited due to existence of various types of invariant notions and complexity of working with them. Interestingly enough, these invariant concepts are equivalent in Fin-D systems, although they are different in Inf-D representation. In this chapter, first the equivalence of various types of invariant subspaces that are defined for RS systems is investigated. This enables one to define and specify the unobservability subspace for the RS system. Specifically, necessary and sufficient conditions are derived for equivalence of various types of conditioned invariant subspaces. Moreover, by using duality properties the controlled invariant subspaces are investigated and necessary and sufficient conditions of equivalence of various types of controlled invariant subspaces are addressed. It is shown that finite-rank output operator enables one to derive algorithms for computing the invariant subspaces that under certain conditions, and unlike methods in the literature, converge in a finite number of steps. An FDI methodology for RS systems is then developed by using a geometric approach where the FDI problem is formally investigated by invoking the introduced invariant subspaces. Finally, the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are provided.

4.1 RS Systems

In this section, we review some of the basic concepts that are associated with a class of RS systems that will be considered in this chapter. This class of RS is mainly categorized by the state operator \mathcal{A} and the output operator \mathcal{C} as follows.

Consider the following Inf-D system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t),$$
(4.1)

where $x(t) \in \mathcal{X}$, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote the state, input and output vectors, respectively, and \mathcal{X} is a real Inf-D separable Hilbert space equipped with the dot-product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. Moreover, we consider the following finite rank output operator

$$\mathcal{C} = \left[\langle c_1, \cdot \rangle, \langle c_2, \cdot \rangle, \cdots, \langle c_q, \cdot \rangle \right]^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where $c_i \in \mathcal{X}$.

In this chapter, we assume that the model (4.1) represents a well-posed system that is suitable from practical point of view. This implies that the solution of system (4.1) is continuous with respect to the initial conditions for all $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ [14]. This assumption is equivalent to stating that \mathcal{A} is a closed infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous (C_0) semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$.

The solution of system (4.1) is given by $x(t) = \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)x_0 + \int_0^t \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t-s)\mathcal{B}u(s)ds$ [14], where $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ denotes the initial condition. The following lemma provides an important feature and property of the Riesz basis (refer to Definition 2.18).

Lemma 4.1. [14, Lemma 2.3.2-b] Consider the Riesz basis $\{\phi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ of the Hilbert space \mathcal{X} ($\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$). Then every $z \in \mathcal{X}$ can be uniquely represented as $z = \sum_{i\in\mathbb{I}} \langle z, \psi_i \rangle \phi_i$, where ψ_i is biorthonormal vector to ϕ_i for all $i \in \mathbb{I}$.

By following the same steps as in Subsection 2.1, one can define the following projection operator for each eigenvalue λ_i of \mathcal{A} [129], namely

$$\mathcal{P}_i : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}, \ \ \mathcal{P}_i = \frac{1}{2\pi j} \int_{\Gamma_i} (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1} \mathrm{d}\lambda,$$
 (4.3)

where $i \in \mathbb{I}_{\lambda}$ (\mathbb{I}_{λ} is an index set for $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$), Γ_i is a simple closed curve surrounding only the eigenvalue λ_i . This represents the projection on the subspace of generalized eigenvectors of \mathcal{A} corresponding to λ_i , that is, the subspace spanned by all ϕ_i satisfying $(\lambda_i \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^n \phi_i = 0$, for some positive integer n.

Definition 4.2. [129] The operator \mathcal{A} is called a regular RS operator, if

- 1. All but finitely many of the eigenvalues (with finite multiplicity) are simple.
- The (generalized) eigenvectors of the operator A, {φ_i}_{i∈I}, form a Riesz basis for X (but defined on the field C), and consequently, ∑_{i∈I_λ} P_i = I (that is an identity operator on X).

Remark 4.3. As we shall see subsequently, to derive a necessary condition for solvability of the FDI problem, it is necessary that a bounded perturbation of \mathcal{A} (that is, $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}$ where \mathcal{D} is a bounded operator) is also a regular RS operator. This property holds if $\sum_{i} \frac{1}{d_i^2} < \infty$, where $d_i = \inf_{\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) - \{\lambda_i\}} |\lambda - \lambda_i|$ [129, Theorem 1]. Therefore, in this chapter it is assumed that the operator \mathcal{A} satisfies the above condition. It should be pointed out that a large class of RS systems, including the discrete RS systems satisfy this condition [109].

Example 4.4. Regular RS operator:

Consider the operators $\mathcal{A}_1 : \mathcal{X}_1 \to \mathcal{X}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 : \mathcal{X}_2 \to \mathcal{X}_2, \mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{diag}(-1, -4, -9, \cdots, -k^2, \cdots)$ and $\mathcal{A}_2 = \operatorname{diag}(-4, -16, -36, \cdots, -(2k)^2, \cdots)$, where $\mathcal{X}_1 = \overline{\{e_i^1\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}}$ and $\mathcal{X}_2 = \overline{\{e_{2i}^2\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}}$ (for $k = 1, 2, e_i^k$ is an Inf-D vector where all elements are zero except i^{th} element that is one). It follows that $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_1) = \{-1, -4, -9, \cdots\}$, and $\sigma(\mathcal{A}_2) = \{-4, -16, -36, \cdots\}$. Moreover, $\{e_i^1\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $\{e_i^2\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ are the eigenvectors of \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 , respectively. It follows that all the eigenvalues are simple and eigenvectors of \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 span \mathcal{X}_1 and \mathcal{X}_2 , respectively. Also, it follows that the condition in Remark 4.3 is satisfied (since $d_i \geq i$ for all i and $\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{i^2} < \infty$). Therefore, the operators \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 are regular RS operators.

If the operator \mathcal{A} in system (4.1) is a regular RS operator and the operator \mathcal{B} is bounded and finite rank we designate the system (4.1) as a regular RS system. Moreover, the system (4.1) is well-posed if and only if $\sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})} \lambda < \infty$ that is a feasible assumption from the applications point of view [2]. Also, according to Definitions 2.18 and 4.2, one can show that [109]

$$\mathcal{A} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{I}_{\lambda}} \lambda_i \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} < \cdot, \psi_{i,k} > \phi_{i,k}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where n_i denotes the number of (generalized) eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalues λ_i (if λ_i is a distinct eigenvalue then $n_i = 1$, and if λ_i is repeated we have $n_i > 1$). Also, $\phi_{i,k}$ and $\psi_{i,k}$ are the (generalized) eigenvectors and the corresponding biorthonormal vectors of λ_i , respectively.

Given that we are interested in RS systems that are defined on the field \mathbb{R} , we need to work with eigenspaces instead of eigenvectors (eigenvalues and eigenvectors in (4.4) can be complex). If an eigenvalue is real, the corresponding eigenspace is equal to $\mathcal{P}_i \mathcal{X}$, where \mathcal{P}_i is the corresponding projection that is defined in (4.3). Let $\lambda = a + jb$ and $\overline{\lambda} = a - jb$ be a pair of complex eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} . Since \mathcal{A} is a real operator, it is easy to show that if $\phi = v_1 + jv_2$ is a (generalized) eigenvector corresponding to λ , then $\overline{\phi} = v_1 - jv_2$ is a (generalized) eigenvector corresponding to $\overline{\lambda}$ (the conjugate of λ). The corresponding *real* eigenspace to λ and $\overline{\lambda}$ is constructed by span $\{v_1^i, v_2^i\}_{i=1}^n$, where $v_1^i \pm jv_2^i$ correspond to the (generalized) eigenvectors of \mathcal{A} , and n denotes the algebraic multiplicity of λ . We denote the real eigenspace of \mathcal{A} corresponding to λ_i by \mathcal{P}_i . It should be pointed out that dim $(\mathcal{P}_i) = n_i$ and dim $(\mathcal{P}_i) = 2n_i$ for real and complex eigenvalue λ_i , respectively (where n_i is the algebraic multiplicity of λ_i). Note that Condition 3 in Definition 4.2 implies that $\overline{\sum_{i \in \mathbb{I}_\lambda} \mathcal{P}_i} = \mathcal{X}$ (defined on \mathbb{R}). Also, we have $\mathcal{P}_i \subseteq D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{A}\mathcal{P}_i \subseteq \mathcal{P}_i$.

Remark 4.5. It is worth noting that the only proper sub-eigenspace of an eigensapce corresponding to a simple eigenvalue is 0. In other words, let \mathscr{P} be an eigenspace corresponding to a simple eigenvalue λ . If $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{P}$ and $\mathscr{E} \neq \mathscr{P}$, then $\mathcal{A}\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{E}$ implies $\mathscr{E} = 0$.

4.2 Invariant Subspaces

Invariant subspaces play a prominent role in the geometric control theory of dynamical systems [41,74,101,130]. As stated earlier, for the FDI problem one works with three invariant subspaces, namely \mathcal{A} -invariant, conditioned invariant, and unobservability subspaces. Also, to investigate the disturbance decoupling problem (refer to [74] for more detail), one deals with controlled invariant and controllability subspaces that are dual to conditioned invariant and unobservability subspaces, respectively [3]. In the literature, \mathcal{A} -invariant, conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces have been introduced for Inf-D systems [103, 105, 110, 130]. Due to the complexity of Inf-D systems, various kinds of invariant subspaces are available (although these are all equivalent in Fin-D systems). The necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of \mathcal{A} -invariant subspaces have been obtained in the literature [14]. However, for equivalence of conditioned invariant subspaces, the results that are available are only limited to sufficient conditions.

In the following subsections, we first review invariant subspaces and provide necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of conditioned invariant subspaces for regular RS systems. Then, by using duality properties, the necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of controlled invariant subspace are formally shown. Moreover, an unobservability subspace for RS systems is also introduced.

Generally, for Inf-D systems the algorithms that are developed to compute invariant subspaces require an *infinite* number of steps to converge. In this section, it is shown that the finite-rankness of the output operator enables us, for the first time in the literature, to develop an algorithm for computing the conditioned invariant subspace that converges in a *finite* number of steps.

4.2.1 *A*-Invariant Subspace

There are two different definitions that are related to the \mathcal{A} -invariance property. Unlike Fin-D systems, these definitions are not equivalent for Inf-D systems. In this subsection, we review these definitions and investigate various types of unobservable subspaces for the RS system (4.1).

Definition 4.6. [130]

- 1. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is called \mathcal{A} -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$.
- 2. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant if $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ for all $t \in [0, \infty)$, where $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ denotes the C_0 semigroup generated by \mathcal{A} .

In Fin-D systems, items 1) and 2) in the above definition are equivalent, however for Inf-D systems, item 2) is stronger than item 1). In other words, every $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ invariant subspace is \mathcal{A} -invariant, however the reverse is not valid in general [130]. In the geometric control theory of dynamical systems, one needs subspaces that are $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. Since dealing with $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspaces is more challenging than \mathcal{A} invariant subspaces, we are interested in cases where they are equivalent. For a general Inf-D system, a sufficient condition to have this equivalence is $\mathscr{V} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A})$ [130], which is quite a restricted and limited condition. However, the following lemma provides necessary and sufficient conditions for $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariance property.

Lemma 4.7. [14, Lemma 2.5.6] Consider an infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} (more general than RS operators), and its corresponding $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ operator and a closed subspace \mathscr{V} . Then \mathscr{V} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant if and only if \mathscr{V} is $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}$ -invariant, where $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$.

Another important result on $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspaces for a regular RS system that is provided in [101, Theorem IV.6] is given next.

Lemma 4.8. [101] Consider the Inf-D system (4.1), where \mathcal{A} is a regular spectral operator and the \mathcal{A} -invariant subspace is denoted by \mathcal{V} . Then \mathcal{V} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant if and only if $\mathcal{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{D}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_{\lambda}}$, where $\mathbb{I}_{\lambda} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathscr{D}_i \subseteq \mathcal{P}_i \mathcal{X}$, is \mathcal{A} -invariant.

Note that the above lemma is a generalization of Lemma 2.5 to Inf-D systems. As stated in the preceding section, the eigenvalues (and the corresponding eigenvectors) of \mathcal{A} may be complex, and Lemmas 4.7 and 4.8 are provided for complex subspaces. However, for the geometric control approach one needs to work with real subspaces. The following corollary provides the necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of Definition 4.6, items 1) and 2) for the regular RS system and real subspaces.

Corollary 4.9. Consider the regular RS system (4.1) and the \mathcal{A} -invariant subspace \mathcal{V} . The real subspace \mathcal{V} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant if and only if $\mathcal{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ for a given

index set $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, where \mathscr{E}_i denote the sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A} .

Proof. Let $\phi^k = v_1^k + jv_2^k$, $k = 1, \dots, n_i$ denote the corresponding (generalized) eigenvectors for the eigenvalue $\lambda_i = \gamma_1 + j\gamma_2$ of \mathcal{A} , where n_i denotes the algebraic multiplicity of λ_i , and γ_ℓ and v_ℓ^k (for $\ell = 1, 2$) are real numbers and vectors, respectively. Since \mathcal{A} is a regular RS operator, it follows that the eigenspace corresponding to λ_i (and its conjugate) is equal to $\operatorname{span}\{v_1^k, v_2^k\}_{k=1}^{n_i}$.

(If part): Let $\mathscr{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}$. The corresponding complex subspace of $\mathscr{V} \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is defined as all vectors z that can be expressed as $z = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{I}} \zeta_i x_i$ for $\zeta_i \in \mathbb{C}$ and $x_i \in \mathscr{V}$. Consequently, one obtains $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{D}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}$, where \mathscr{D}_i (and its conjugate) is the corresponding complex subspace to \mathscr{E}_i . Consequently, $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is \mathcal{A} -invariant. By Lemma $4.8, \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. Hence, $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)(v_1 + jv_2) \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$, for all $v_1 + jv_2 \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ and $t \ge 0$. Since \mathcal{A} and $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ are real, by referring to the definition of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ we have $v_1, v_2 \in \mathscr{V}$ and $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)v_1, \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)v_2 \in \mathscr{V}$ for all $t \ge 0$. Therefore, $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)\mathscr{E}_i \subseteq \mathscr{E}_i$ implying that \mathscr{V} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant.

(Only if part): Let \mathscr{V} be $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. The corresponding complex subspace $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is also $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. Again, by using Lemma 4.8, $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{C}} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}$. This completes the proof of the corollary.

As stated earlier, we are mainly concerned with two important invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems as discussed below. We denote the largest \mathcal{A} - and $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ invariant subspaces that are contained in \mathscr{C} by $< \mathscr{C}|\mathcal{A} >$ and $< \mathscr{C}|\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} >$, respectively. The \mathcal{A} -unobservable subspace of system (4.1) is defined by $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}} = <$ ker $\mathcal{C}|\mathcal{A} >= \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \ker \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}^n$. Also, the unobservable subspace of system (4.1) is defined by $\mathcal{N} = < \ker \mathcal{C}|\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} >= \bigcap_{t \geq 0} \ker \mathcal{C}\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$ [103]. Note that $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A}^n)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and is not necessarily $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. However, as shown subsequently, using this subspace one can develop an algorithm to compute the conditioned invariant subspaces in a *finite* number of steps. These subspaces will be used in Section 4.2.3 to introduce the unobservability subspace of RS systems, where the following corollary plays a crucial role.

Corollary 4.10. Consider the RS system (4.1), where \mathcal{A} is a regular RS operator with a bounded output operator \mathcal{C} . The unobservable subspace \mathcal{N} is the largest subspace contained in ker \mathcal{C} that can be expressed as $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$, where \mathscr{E}_i are subeigenspaces of \mathcal{A} and $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. As stated above, \mathscr{N} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant, and consequently by using Corollary 4.9, $\mathscr{N} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$. Moreover, since \mathscr{N} is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant that is contained in ker \mathcal{C} [103], the result now follows.

4.2.2 Conditioned Invariant Subspaces

In this subsection, the conditioned invariant subspaces of system (4.1) are defined and characterized. Not surprisingly, various definitions that are all equivalent in Fin-D systems are available for conditioned invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems that are *not* equivalent [103]. This subsection mainly concentrates on deriving necessary and sufficient conditions where these definitions are shown to be equivalent. Let us first define the notion of conditioned invariant subspace.

Definition 4.11. [103]

- 1. The closed subspace $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is designated as $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A}) \cap \ker \mathcal{C}) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.
- The closed subspace 𝖤 ⊆ 𝔅 is feedback (C,A)-invariant if there exists a bounded operator D : ℝ^q → 𝔅 such that 𝖤 is invariant with respect to (A + DC), as per Definition 4.6, item 1).
- 3. The closed subspace $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant if there exists a bounded operator $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathscr{X}$ such that (i) the operator $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$ is the infinitesimal

generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$; and (ii) \mathscr{W} is invariant with respect to $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$, as per Definition 4.6, item 2).

It should be pointed out that in the literature \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant is also called $\mathbb{T}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant [103]. It can be shown that Definition 4.11, item 3) \Rightarrow item 2) \Rightarrow item 1) [103]. A sufficient condition for equivalence of the above definitions is developed in [103].

Lemma 4.12. [103] A given $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant, if $\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}$ is closed and $\mathscr{W} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A})$.

In this subsection, we show that Definition 4.11, item 1) and item 2) are equivalent for the system (4.1), when the finite rank output operator is represented by (4.2) (even if $\mathscr{W} \not\subset D(\mathcal{A})$). Moreover, we derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for T-conditioned invariance. These results enable us to subsequently derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem. Towards this end, we first need the following lemma.

Lemma 4.13. Consider the closed subspace $\mathscr{V} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{x_i\}}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}$, where $x_i \in \mathscr{X}$ (and not necessarily orthogonal) and $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathscr{V} = \overline{\mathscr{V}_{inf} + \mathscr{V}_{f}} = \mathscr{V}_{inf} + \mathscr{V}_{f}, \tag{4.5}$$

where $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} = \operatorname{span}\{x_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{J}}, \ \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{inf}} = \operatorname{span}\{x_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}-\mathbb{J}} \ and \ \mathbb{J} \ is \ a \ finite \ subset \ of \ \mathbb{I}.$

Proof. It follows readily that $\operatorname{span}\{x_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}-\mathbb{J}} + \mathscr{V}_f$ is dense in \mathscr{V} . Hence, the subspace $\mathscr{V}_{\inf} + \mathscr{V}_f$ is also dense in \mathscr{V} . Furthermore, since \mathscr{V}_f is a Fin-D subspace, it is a closed subspace. Therefore, by using the Proposition 1.7.17 in [131] (which states that the sum of two closed subspaces is also closed if at least one of them is Fin-D), it follows that $\mathscr{V}_{\inf} + \mathscr{V}_f$ is closed. Since, $\mathscr{V}_{\inf} + \mathscr{V}_f$ is closed and dense in \mathscr{V} , we have $\mathscr{V}_{\inf} + \mathscr{V}_f = \mathscr{V}$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

The following lemma shows the equivalence of $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ - and feedback $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ invariance properties for a general Inf-D system provided that the output operator
is a finite rank operator (as considered to be satisfied by (4.2) in this chapter).

Lemma 4.14. Consider the Inf-D system (4.1), where \mathcal{A} is the infinitesimal generator of a C_0 semigroup (more general than the regular RS systems) and the finite rank output operator is given by (4.2). Let $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a closed subspace such that $\overline{D(\mathcal{A}) \cap \mathscr{W}} = \mathscr{W}$. The subspace \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant if and only if it is feedback $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant.

Proof. As pointed out earlier, every feedback (*C*,*A*)-invariant subspace is (*C*,*A*)-invariant. Therefore, we only show the converse. By definition, we have $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathcal{W}$. Since $\overline{\mathcal{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathcal{W}$, and \mathcal{W} is separable (\mathcal{W} is a closed subspace of the separable Hilbert space \mathcal{X}), there exists a basis $\{w_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ for \mathcal{W} such that $w_i \in D(\mathcal{A})$. Let us rearrange the basis $\{w_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ such that the first n_f vectors construct the Fin-D subspace $\mathcal{W}_f = \operatorname{span}\{w_i\}_{i=1}^{n_f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, where $\mathcal{W}_f \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$ and $n_f = \dim(\mathcal{W} \cap (\mathcal{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C})^{\perp})$. From (4.2) (i.e., the finite rankness of \mathcal{C}) and the fact that $\mathcal{W}_f \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$, it follows that $\dim(\mathcal{W}_f) = n_f \leq q < \infty$. Note that if $n_f = 0$ it implies that $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$ and therefore \mathcal{W} is \mathcal{A} -invariant and by setting $\mathcal{D} = 0$ it is also feedback (\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})-invariant. Now, without loss of any generality we assume that $w_i \in \ker \mathcal{C}$ for all $i > n_f$ (if $w_i \notin \ker \mathcal{C}$, one can remove the projection of w_i on \mathcal{W}_f and calls it as $w_i^n \in \ker \mathcal{C}$. Since $\mathcal{W}_f \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $w_i^n \in D(\mathcal{A})$). Also, given that $\dim(\mathcal{W}_f) < \infty$, and by using Lemma 4.13, we obtain $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{inf} + \mathcal{W}_f$, where $\mathcal{W}_{inf} = \mathcal{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{w_i\}_{i>n_f}}$.

Now, we show how one can construct a bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$ $(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subset \mathscr{W}$. Let $\mathcal{A}w_i = x_i \in \mathcal{X}, i = 1, \cdots, n_f$. Below, we construct \mathcal{D} such that $\mathcal{DC}[w_1, \cdots, w_{n_f}] = -[x_1, \cdots, x_{n_f}]$. Given that $\mathscr{W}_f \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$, $\dim(\mathscr{W}_f) < \infty$, and \mathcal{C} is a bounded operator, it follows that \mathcal{C} is an invertible operator from \mathscr{W}_f onto $\mathscr{Y} = \mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{q}$. In other words, $C_{w} = \mathcal{C}|_{\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}} : \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \to \mathscr{Y}$ is a bijective map. Therefore, $C_{w} = \mathcal{C}[w_{1}, \cdots, w_{n_{\mathrm{f}}}]$ is a monic matrix (i.e., $\ker C_{w} = 0$), and consequently always there is a solution for $D_{w} : \mathscr{Y} \to \mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{f}}$, such that $D_{w}C_{w} = -[x_{1}, \cdots, x_{n_{\mathrm{f}}}]$, where $\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{f}} = \operatorname{span}\{x_{i}\}_{i=1}^{n_{\mathrm{f}}}$. A solution to $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^{q} \to \mathcal{X}$ is an extension of D_{w} as $\mathcal{D}y = \mathcal{Q}D_{w}y_{1}$, where $y \in \mathbb{R}^{q}, \ y = y_{1} + y_{2}, \ y_{1} \in \mathscr{Y}, \ y_{2} \in \mathscr{Y}^{\perp}$ and \mathcal{Q} is the embedding operator from \mathcal{X}_{f} to \mathcal{X} . Since \mathscr{Y} is Fin-D, it follows that \mathcal{D} is bounded. Now, set $x \in (\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))$. Since $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, one can write $x = x_{\mathrm{inf}} + x_{\mathrm{f}}$, where $x_{\mathrm{inf}} \in (\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{inf}} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))$ and $x_{\mathrm{f}} \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$. Given that \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant, it follows that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x_{\mathrm{inf}} = \mathcal{A}x_{\mathrm{inf}} \in \mathscr{W}$, and by definition \mathcal{D} , we obtain $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x_{\mathrm{f}} = 0$. Therefore, $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x \in \mathscr{W}$, and consequently \mathscr{W} is a feedback $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace. This completes the proof of the lemma.

As shown in [101] the T-conditioned invariance and $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariance are not generally equivalent. Moreover, if \mathcal{C} is not a finite rank the feedback $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariance and $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariance are not equivalent [101, 103]. However, Lemma 4.14 shows the equivalence between feedback $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant and $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant in the sense of Definition 2, if the output operator \mathcal{C} is finite rank.

The following lemma shows that the \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariance is an independent property from the bounded operator \mathcal{D} . This result allows us to derive the necessary and sufficient conditions for the \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariance.

Lemma 4.15. Consider a \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace \mathscr{W} such that $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{C}}\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, and consider a bounded operator \mathcal{D}_2 such that $(\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{C})(\mathscr{W}\cap D(\mathcal{A}))\subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Then $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}_2\mathcal{C}}\mathscr{W}\subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

Proof. By invoking Lemma 4.7, we have $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, for all $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C})$. Let us set $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C})$ (by using the Hille-Yosida theorem ([14, Theorem 2.1.12], where it is shown that for every infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} there exists a real number $r \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $[r, \infty) \subset \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ we have the set $\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{2}\mathcal{C})$ non-empty). Based on Lemma 4.7, we need to show that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{2}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$. First, let $\mathcal{W}_{c} = \{y|y \in \mathcal{W} ; (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}y \in \mathcal{W}_{f}\}$, where $\mathcal{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ is defined as in the proof of Lemma 4.14 and $\mathcal{W}_{\infty} = \{y|y \in \mathcal{W} ; (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}y \in \mathcal{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}\}$. Since $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{f} + \mathcal{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$, \mathcal{W} is $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}$ -invariant and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}$ is bounded and bijective, it follows that $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{c} + \mathcal{W}_{\infty}$. Let $y \in \mathcal{W}_{\infty}$ and $x = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{1}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}y$. Given that $x \in \ker \mathcal{C}$, it follows

$$y = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}))x = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))x = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x.$$
(4.6)

Since \mathscr{W} is $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}))^{-1}$ -invariant, one obtains $x \in \mathscr{W}$, and consequently we have $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1}y = x \in \mathscr{W}$.

Next, by following the steps, below, we show that if $y \in \mathscr{W}_c$ then $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} y \in \mathscr{W}$.

- 1. Let $\{w_i\}_{i=1}^{n_{\rm f}}$ be a basis of $\mathscr{W}_{\rm f}$ and set $z_i = (\lambda \mathcal{I} (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))w_i \in \mathscr{W}$ for $i = 1, \cdots, n_{\rm f}$ (as $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$). Since $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_c + \mathscr{W}_\infty$ one can write $z_i = z_c^i + z_\infty^i$, where $z_c^i \in \mathscr{W}_c$ and $z_\infty^i \in \mathscr{W}_\infty$.
- 2. We show that z_c^i are linearly independent. Towards this end, assume z_c^i are linearly dependent and therefore we obtain $\sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \zeta_i z_c^i = 0$, where $\zeta_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for $i = 1, \dots, n_f$. Hence, one can write $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))w = z_{\infty}$, where w = $\sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \zeta_i w_i \neq 0$ (since w_i are basis), and $z_{\infty} = \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \zeta_i z_{\infty}^i \in \mathscr{W}_{\infty}$. Consequently, since $w = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_{\infty}$, and since $z_{\infty} \in \mathscr{W}_{\infty}$, we obtain $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_{\infty} \in \ker \mathcal{C}$, and consequently $w = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_{\infty} \in \ker \mathcal{C}$. Hence, we have $w \in \ker \mathcal{C}$ that is in contradiction with the fact $w \in \mathscr{W}_f$ (recall $\mathscr{W}_f \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$). Therefore, z_c^i are linearly independent. Since the resolvent operators are bijective and \mathscr{W}_c is Fin-D, we obtain dim $(\mathscr{W}_c) = \dim(\mathscr{W}_f) = n_f$, and consequently $\{z_c^i\}_{i=1}^{n_f}$ is a basis of \mathscr{W}_c .

3. We show that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_c^i \in \mathcal{W}$. Set $w_{\infty}^i = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_{\infty}^i$, z_{∞}^i are defined as above. As shown above in (4.6), we have $w_{\infty}^i \in \mathcal{W}$. Since $w_i \in \mathcal{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$ it follows that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} z_c^i = w_i - w_{\infty}^i \in \mathcal{W}$. Given that $\operatorname{span}\{z_c^i\}_{i=1}^{n_{\mathrm{f}}}$ is a basis of \mathcal{W}_c , we obtain $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathcal{W}_c \subseteq \mathcal{W}$.

Finally, for every $y \in \mathscr{W}$ one can write $y = y_c + y_\infty$, where $y_c \in \mathscr{W}_c$ and $y_\infty \in \mathscr{W}_\infty$. As we have shown above $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathscr{W}_\infty \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathscr{W}_c \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Therefore, $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} y \in \mathscr{W}$, and consequently $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_2 \mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

A bounded operator \mathcal{D} is called a *friend* of the T-conditioned subspace \mathscr{W} if $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}}\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. The set of all friend operators of \mathscr{W} is denoted by $\underline{\mathcal{D}}(\mathscr{W})$. Let $\mathcal{D} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}(\mathscr{W})$ and consider a bounded operator \mathcal{D}_0 . As in Fin-D systems [3, page 31], it follows (by using the above lemma) that a sufficient condition for \mathcal{D}_0 to be a friend of \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{D} - \mathcal{D}_0)\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

Remark 4.16. It worth noting that in the proofs of Lemmas 4.14 and 4.15, it is not necessary \mathcal{A} to be regular RS operator. Indeed, we showed the results for every infinitesimal generator operator. Therefore, we also use these lemmas in the next chapter.

Below, we provide the main results of this subsection leading to the necessary and sufficient conditions for the T-conditioned invariance of regular RS systems.

Theorem 4.17. Consider the regular RS system (4.1) such that the operator C is defined according to (4.2). The (C, A)-invariant subspace \mathcal{W} is an \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace if

$$\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}, \tag{4.7}$$

and $\overline{D(\mathcal{A}) \cap \mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{W}$, where $\dim(\mathcal{W}_f) < \infty$ and \mathcal{W}_{ϕ} is the largest subspace contained in \mathcal{W} that can be expressed as

$$\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}, \qquad (4.8)$$

in which \mathscr{E}_i is the sub-eigenspace of \mathcal{A} and $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, if $\mathscr{W} \cap (\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C})^{\perp}$ is a sum of sub-eigenspaces of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$, then the condition (4.7) is also necessary.

Proof. (If part): Let $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$. We show that \mathscr{W} can be spanned by eigenspaces of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$, for a bounded \mathcal{D} (and therefore by Corollary 4.9, \mathscr{W} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}}$ -invariant). By using Lemma 4.15 we need to show the result for only one $\mathcal{D} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}(\mathscr{W})$. Without loss of any generality, we assume $\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f} = 0$ (if $\mathscr{W}_{1} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f} \neq 0$, redefine $\mathscr{W}_{f} = \mathscr{W}_{f}/\mathscr{W}_{1}$).

First, we show that one can assume $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ without loss of any generality. Since \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant, it follows that $\overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$ [101]. Also, as an assumption we have $\overline{\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{W}$. If \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is Fin-D, \mathscr{W} is Fin-D and hence $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{W} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Let, \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} be Inf-D. By following along the same steps in the proof of Lemma 4.14, we define the basis $\{w_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of \mathscr{W} such that $w_i \in D(\mathcal{A})$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\{w_i\}_{i=n_{\mathrm{f}}+1}^{\infty}$ is a basis for \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} , where $n_{\mathrm{f}} = \dim(\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}})$ (since $\overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$ the existence of the basis $\{w_i\}_{i=n_{\mathrm{f}}+1}^{\infty}$ with $w \in D(\mathcal{A})$ is guaranteed). Set $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}} =$ span $\{w_i\}_{i=1}^{n_{\mathrm{f}}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, and it follows that $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}}$. Therefore, without loss of any generality, we assume $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} = \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$.

Next, to show the result we construct the bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that (i) $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, and (ii) $\mathcal{DCW}_{\phi} = 0$. Define $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}} = \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}} \cap (\mathscr{W}_{\text{f}} \cap \ker \mathcal{C})^{\perp}$ and $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} = \{w | w \in \mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}, \ \mathcal{C}w \neq \mathcal{C}w_{\phi}, \forall w_{\phi} \in \mathscr{W}_{\phi}\}$. In other words, \mathscr{W}_{fc} is the largest subspace in \mathscr{W}_{fpc} such that $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$ and $\mathcal{CW}_{\text{fc}} \cap \mathcal{CW}_{\phi} = 0$. Moreover, by definition of \mathscr{W}_{fpc} , we obtain $\ker \mathcal{C} + \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} = \ker \mathcal{C} + \mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}}$. Since $\mathscr{W}_{\text{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, we have $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Now, consider the operator H_{f} such that $\ker H_{\text{f}}\mathcal{C} = \ker \mathcal{C} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} = \ker \mathcal{C} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} = \ker \mathcal{C} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}}$ and define $\mathcal{C}_1 = H_{\text{f}}\mathcal{C}$ (since $\ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}_1$, there always exists a solution for H_{f}). First, we show that \mathscr{W} is also $(\mathcal{C}_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace in two steps as follows.

1. Let $w \in \mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}}$. We prove that $\mathcal{A}w \in \mathscr{W}$ (if $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}} = \mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}}$, we have w = 0and we skip this step). Since $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}}$, $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\text{f}}$ and $\mathscr{W}_{\text{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $w \in D(\mathcal{A})$. By definition of \mathscr{W}_{fc} , there exists a $w_{\phi} \in \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$ such that $\mathcal{C}w = \mathcal{C}w_{\phi} \neq 0$. Next, we show that $w_{\phi} \in D(\mathcal{A})$. Let $\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$ be the subspace such that $\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} = \mathcal{C}(\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}})$ and $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p}) = \dim(\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}})$. Also, let $\{w_{\phi}^{i}\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ be a basis of \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} such that $w_{\phi}^{i} \in D(\mathcal{A})$ (since $\overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi}} \cap D(\mathcal{A}) = \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$, this basis exists). By following along the same steps in Lemma 4.14, we can assume w_{ϕ}^{i} be such that $w_{\phi}^{i} \in \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p}$ for all $i \leq n_{\phi}$ and $w_{\phi}^{i} \in \mathscr{W}_{\phi}/\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p}$ for $i > n_{\phi}$. Therefore, since \mathcal{C} on $\mathscr{W}_{\text{fpc}}/\mathscr{W}_{\text{fc}}$ is bijective, one can find $w_{\phi} \in \text{span}\{w_{\phi}^{i}\}_{i=1}^{n_{\phi}}$ such that $\mathcal{C}w = \mathcal{C}w_{\phi}$ and since $w_{\phi}^{i} \in D(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $w_{\phi} \in D(\mathcal{A})$. Now, set $w_{c} = (w - w_{\phi}) \in \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})$. Since $\mathcal{A}w_{\phi} \in \mathscr{W}$ (recall \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is \mathcal{A} -invariant), and $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, it follows that $\mathcal{A}w \in \mathscr{W}$.

2. By considering the subspace \mathscr{W}_{ϕ}^{p} , we decompose \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} as $\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$, where $\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} = 0$ and $\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$. As above, we can assume $\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ (i.e. there exists a subspace $\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ that satisfies the above conditions). By definition of H_{f} , it follows that $\ker H_{f}\mathcal{C} = \ker \mathcal{C} + (\mathscr{W}_{fpc}/\mathscr{W}_{fc}) + \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c}$. Let $w \in (\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}_{1} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))$. It follows that $w = w_{p} + w_{\phi} + w_{\infty}$, where $w_{p} \in \mathscr{W}_{fpc}/\mathscr{W}_{fc} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, $w_{\phi} \in (\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{p} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi}^{c}) \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ and $w_{\infty} \in \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$. Since $w, w_{p}, w_{\phi} \in D(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $w_{\infty} \in D(\mathcal{A})$. As shown above, $\mathcal{A}w_{p} \in \mathscr{W}$, $\mathcal{A}w_{\phi} \in \mathscr{W}_{\phi} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ (since \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is \mathcal{A} -invariant) and also $\mathcal{A}w_{\infty} \in \mathscr{W}$ (recall that \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant). Therefore, $\mathcal{A}w \in \mathscr{W}$ and consequently $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}_{1} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

Second, by following along the same steps in Lemma 4.14, we construct \mathcal{D}_{f} such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{f}\mathcal{C}_{1})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. By setting $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_{f}H_{f}$, one can write $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

It should be pointed out that since $\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \subseteq \ker H_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C}$ (refer to definition of H_{f}), we obtain $\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}_{1}$, and therefore, we have $\mathcal{DCW}_{\phi} = \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C}_{1}\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$. Consequently, it follows that every sub-eigenspace $\mathscr{E}_{i} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$ is also the sub-eigenspaces of the operator $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$. Therefore, $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}))^{-1}\mathscr{W}_{\phi} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$. Moreover, recall that $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ and also the operator \mathcal{D}_{f} is defined such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C}_{1})\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$ (refer to the proof of Lemma 4.14). Therefore, by using Lemmas 4.7 and 4.12, we obtain $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C}_{1}))^{-1}\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$, and consequently $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$. Finally, by using Lemma 4.7 and Corollary 4.9, it follows that \mathscr{W}_{f} is also a summation of sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. Therefore, \mathscr{W} is spanned by the sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$, and again by using Corollary 4.9, \mathscr{W} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$ -invariant, that is \mathbb{T} conditioned invariant.

(Only if part): Consider \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant. By Definition 4.11, item 3), there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that \mathscr{W} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$ -invariant (and also $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant) and $\mathscr{W} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i^D\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_D}$, where \mathscr{E}_i^D are sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. As in the first part of the proof, first we construct a bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that (i) $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, and (ii) $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$, where \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant contained in \mathscr{W} . Consequently, we have $\mathscr{W} = \overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}}$, and we then show that \mathscr{W}_{f} is Fin-D.

Let \mathcal{D} be a bounded operator such that $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{f}} H_{\mathrm{f}}$, where \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ invariant contained in \mathscr{W} (that is expressed as (4.8)) and ker $H_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$. Moreover, \mathcal{D}_{f} is defined by following along the same lines as in the proof of Lemma 4.14. By using the fact that $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$, it follows that $\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = \overline{\mathrm{span}\{\mathscr{E}_j\}}_{j\in\mathbb{I}}$, where \mathbb{I} is an index set such that for each $j \in \mathbb{I}$ there exists an $i \in \mathbb{I}_D$ (recall $\mathscr{W} = \overline{\mathrm{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i^D\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_D}$) such that $\mathscr{E}_j = \mathscr{E}_i^D \subseteq (\mathscr{W} \cap \ker H_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C})$.

Now, set $\mathscr{W} = \overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}}$, where $\mathscr{W}_{f} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$. We show that $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{f}) < \infty$ by contradiction. Since \mathscr{W} and \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} are the summations of sub-eigenspace of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$, it follows that \mathscr{W}_{f} does so. Assume $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{f}) = \infty$ and consider the subspace $\mathscr{W}_{fc} \subset (\mathscr{W}_{f} \cap (\mathscr{W}_{f} \cap \ker H_{f}\mathcal{C})^{\perp})$. By the assumption stated in the theorem $\mathscr{W}_{fc} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Also, $\mathscr{W}_{f} = \mathscr{W}_{fc} + \mathscr{W}_{f} \cap \ker H_{f}\mathcal{C}$ (as above since $H_{f}\mathcal{C}$ is finite rank, by following along the same lines in the proof of Lemma 4.14, existence of this subspace is guaranteed). Again, by the above assumption, \mathscr{W}_{fc} is a sub-eigenspaces

of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$. Since \mathscr{W}_{f} is a summation of sub-eigenspaces of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$, we obtain $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \cap \ker H_{\mathrm{f}}\mathcal{C} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_{i}^{D}\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{f}}} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$, where $\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathbb{I}_{D}$, and $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{fc}}$ is also a subeigenspace of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$ (note that it is possible to have $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}} = 0$). Since $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$ is a regular RS operator (refer to Remarks 4.3 and 4.5), it is necessary dim $(\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{ff}}) < \infty$. Hence, since \mathscr{W}_{f} is Inf-D, we obtain $\mathbb{I}_{\mathrm{f}} \neq \emptyset$. However, this is in contradiction with the definition of \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} (that is the largest subspace in the form (4.8)), and consequently \mathscr{W}_{f} is a Fin-D subspace, and $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$ (refer to Lemma 4.13). This completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 4.18. Theorem 4.17 shows that every \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace is constructed by sum of the subspace \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} , that is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant (and possibly Inf-D), and the Fin-D subspace \mathscr{W}_{f} such that $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$. Given that \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant and \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is \mathcal{A} invariant, it follows that \mathscr{W}_{f} is $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant. Hence, by using Lemma 4.12, \mathscr{W}_{f} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant.

For design of our subsequent FDI scheme, we need to obtain the smallest \mathbb{T} condition invariant subspace (in the inclusion sense) containing a given subspace.
The following lemma allows us to show that this smallest subspace always exists.

Lemma 4.19. The set of \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspaces containing a given Fin-D subspace \mathscr{L} and satisfying the conditions of Theorem 4.17 is closed with respect to the intersection.

Proof. Consider the T-conditioned invariant subspaces \mathscr{W}_1 and \mathscr{W}_2 containing \mathscr{L} . Hence, $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_1$ and $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}_2 \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_2$, and consequently $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$. Also, given that \mathscr{W}_1 and \mathscr{W}_2 are closed, so does the subspace $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$. Therefore, $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$ is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant. Moreover $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 \cap D(\mathcal{A})$ is dense in $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$. Consequently, $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$ is feedback $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ invariant (refer to Lemma 4.14).

By invoking Theorem 4.17, let $\mathscr{W}_1 = \mathscr{W}_{\phi_1} + \mathscr{W}_{f_1}$, $\mathscr{W}_2 = \mathscr{W}_{\phi_2} + \mathscr{W}_{f_2}$ with $\mathscr{W}_{\phi_k} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_k}}, k = 1, 2$, where we have $\mathscr{W}_k = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_k}} + \mathscr{W}_{f_k}$, for k = 1, 2 ($\mathscr{W}_{f_k} \subset \mathscr{W}_{f_k}$)

 $D(\mathcal{A})$ denote two Fin-D subspaces-refer to Remark 4.18). Now, we show that $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$ can be represented by $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_3}} + \mathscr{W}_{f_3}$. Let $x \in \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_1}} \cap \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_2}}$. Therefore, x can be expressed as

$$x = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i}^{1} \phi_{i}^{1} = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i}^{2} \phi_{i}^{2}, \qquad (4.9)$$

where ϕ_i^1 and ϕ_i^2 are the generalized eigenvectors that span the subspaces $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_1}$ and $\overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_2}$, respectively. Since \mathcal{A} is a regular RS operator (i.e. only finitely many eigenvalues are multiple), therefore all but finitely many of eigenspaces and corresponding sub-eigenspace are equivalent. In other words, there are finitely many (generalized) eigenvector corresponding to the same eigenvalue, and there are infinite eigenvectors for distinct eigenvalues (Also, refer to Remark 4.5). By using Lemma 4.1 (i.e., a unique representation of x), the fact that the (generalized) eigenvectors are $\text{independent, it follows that } \overline{\text{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_1}} \cap \overline{\text{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_2}} = \overline{\text{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_3}} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}_3},$ where $\mathscr{W}_{f_3} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ (since $\mathscr{E}_i \subset D(\mathcal{A})$) is a Fin-D subspace. Finally, given that $\mathscr{W}_{f_1} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathscr{W}_{f_2} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ are Fin-D subspaces, by contradiction we show that $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}_3}} + \mathscr{W}_{f_4}$, where $\mathscr{W}_{f_4} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ is a Fin-D subspace. Let $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 = \overline{\mathscr{V} + \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}}$, where \mathscr{V}_{f} is Inf-D and $\mathscr{V} \cap \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} = 0$. Also, consider $\overline{\{v_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}}$ be a basis for \mathscr{V}_{f} . It follows, we can express every v_i as $v_i = v_{\phi_1}^i + v_{\mathrm{f1}}^i = v_{\phi_2}^i + v_{\mathrm{f2}}^i$, where $v_{\phi_k}^i \in \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}_k}} \text{ and } v_{\mathbf{f}_k}^i \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathbf{f}_k} \text{ for } k = 1, 2 \text{ and } i \in \mathbb{N}.$ Since $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbf{f}_1}$ and $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbf{f}_2}$ are Fin-D it follows that we can assume the basis $\{v_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ be such that for a sufficiently large number $n_0 \geq \dim(\mathscr{W}_{f1}) + \dim(\mathscr{W}_{f2})$ we have $v_{f_k}^i = 0$ for k = 1, 2 and $i > n_0$ (consider the fact that only for finite number n_0 of vectors we have $v_{\mathbf{f}_k}^i$ are linearly independent, therefore we can remove the projection of v_i $(i > n_0)$ from $\mathscr{W}_{f1} + \mathscr{W}_{f2}$ to make sure that $v_{fk}^i = 0$ for both k = 1, 2). It follows that $v_{\phi_k}^i \in \mathscr{V}$ for $i > n_0$ that is in contradiction with the fact that $\mathscr{V} \cap \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} = 0$ (since in this case we have $v_{\phi_1}^i = v_{\phi_2}^i = v_i \in \mathscr{V}$). Therefore, \mathscr{V}_f is Fin-D, and by setting $\mathscr{W}_{f_4} = \mathscr{W}_{f_3} + \mathscr{V}_f$ we have $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2 = \operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}_3} + \mathscr{W}_{f_4}.$

Hence, by invoking Theorem 4.17, it follows that $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W}_2$ is a \mathbb{T} -conditioned

Remark 4.20. Set \mathbb{I}_3^1 be all indices *i* such that $i \in \mathbb{I}_1 \cap \mathbb{I}_2$ and \mathscr{E}_i be one-dimensional (1-D) (or two-dimensional (2-D) in the complex case) eigenspace corresponding a simple eigenvalue. Consider two eigenspaces $\mathscr{E}_i \subset \mathscr{W}_1$ and $\mathscr{E}_j \subset \mathscr{W}_2$ corresponding to simple eigenvalues. Since they are corresponding to simple eigenvalues, we have only two possibilities that are $\mathscr{E}_i \cap \mathscr{E}_j = 0$ and $\mathscr{E}_i = \mathscr{E}_j$ (also, refer to Remark 2). Therefore, \mathbb{I}_3^1 is related to common eigenspaces (for simple eigenvalues) contained in both \mathscr{W}_1 and \mathscr{W}_2 .

However, this does not hold when we deal with multiple eigenvalues (even in Fin-D systems). To see this, refer to the following example.

Example 4.21. Set $A = I_{2\times 2}$, $\mathscr{E}_1 = e_1$, $\mathscr{E}_2 = [1,1]^T$, $\mathscr{E}_3 = e_1, e_2$. It follows that $\mathscr{E}_1 \cap \mathscr{E}_2 = 0$ and $\mathscr{E}_2 \cap \mathscr{E}_3 = \mathscr{E}_2$ and $\mathscr{E}_2 \neq \mathscr{E}_3$. However, all these subspaces are A-invariant.

Now, let $\mathscr{E}_i \subset \mathscr{W}_1$ and $\mathscr{E}_j \in \mathscr{W}_2$ be two sub-eigenspaces corresponding to the same multiple eigenvalue λ . Set $\mathscr{E}_i \cap \mathscr{E}_j = \mathscr{E}_k + \mathscr{V}$, where \mathscr{E}_k is a sub-eigenspace corresponding to λ and \mathscr{V} is not a sub-eigenspace. In general, we have following possibilities (refer to the example below)

1. $\mathscr{E}_k = 0.$

2. $\mathscr{E}_k \neq 0$. Therefore, we need to add \mathscr{E}_k to $\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}_3^1}$ and then construct \mathbb{I}_3 . Therefore, generally \mathbb{I}_3 cannot be specified only based on \mathbb{I}_3^1 . Also, we do not use any specific characteristic of \mathbb{I}_3 to show Lemma 8. The key point is that \mathscr{W}_{f_3} is Fin-D.

As shown in [103], the smallest T-conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L} may not exists for a general Inf-D operator \mathcal{A} . However, the fact all but only finitely many eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} are simple play a crucial role in the above proof to assure that $\mathscr{W}_{f_3} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$.

We are now in a position to introduce an algorithm for computing the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace containing a given subspace. The algorithm for computing the smallest $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace containing a given subspace \mathscr{L} is given by [103], namely

$$\mathscr{W}^{0} = \mathscr{L}, \quad \mathscr{W}^{k} = \overline{\mathscr{L} + \mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}^{k-1} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))}.$$
 (4.10)

As pointed out in [103], the limit of the above algorithm may be a non-closed subspace, and consequently, it is not conditioned invariant in the sense of Definition 4.11. Below, we now provide an algorithm that computes the minimal T-conditioned invariant subspace in a finite number of steps provided that the subspace $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}} = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \ker C \mathcal{A}^n$, which denotes the \mathcal{A} -unobservable subspace of the system (4.1), is known.

Theorem 4.22. Consider the RS system (4.1) and a given Fin-D subspace $\mathscr{L} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathscr{L} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty})$, where $D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty}) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} D(\mathcal{A}^k)$ that is decomposed to disjoint subspaces $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}} + \mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}}$, such that $\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}} \cap \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$ and $\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}} = \mathscr{L} \cap \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$. The smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace that satisfies the condition (4.11) and containing \mathscr{L} (denoted by \mathscr{W}^*) is given by $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L}) = \mathscr{W}_{\ell} + \mathscr{Z}^*$, where \mathscr{Z}^* is the limiting subspace of the following algorithm

$$\mathscr{Z}_0 = \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}^{\perp}}, \quad \mathscr{Z}_k = \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}^{\perp}} + \mathcal{A}(\mathscr{Z}_{k-1} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})), \quad (4.11)$$

and $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i\in\mathbb{J}}$ denotes the smallest subspace in the form of (4.8) (sum of the sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A}) such that $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\ell}$. Moreover, the above algorithm converges in a finite number of steps.

Proof. First, we show that this algorithm converges in a finite number of steps by contradiction. Assume that there exists at least a vector $x \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty})$ such that $\mathcal{A}^n x \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$ and $\mathcal{A}^n x$ are independent vectors of all n. Otherwise, there is a n_0 such that $\mathcal{A}^{n_0} x \notin \ker \mathcal{C}$ for all $x \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}}$. Therefore, $(\mathscr{L}_{n_0+1} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) =$

 $(\mathscr{Z}_{n_0} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))$, and consequently we obtain $\mathscr{Z}_{n_0+2} = \mathscr{Z}_{n_0+1}$. In other words, the above algorithm converges in a finite number of steps. Since ker \mathcal{C} is a closed subspace $\mathcal{A}^n x \in \ker \mathcal{C}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and consequently $x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$, which is in contradiction with the fact that $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}^{\perp}} \cap \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$. Therefore, there exists a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathscr{Z}^* = \mathscr{Z}_k$. Moreover, since $\mathscr{L} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty})$, it follows that $\mathscr{Z}^* \subset D(\mathcal{A})$.

Second, since \mathscr{L} is Fin-D it follows that $\dim(\mathscr{Z}^*) < \infty$. By considering the definition of \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} , we obtain $\overline{\mathscr{W}^* \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{W}^*$, and by using Theorem 4.17, it follows that $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})$ is a \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace.

Finally, we show that $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L})$ is the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace. Consider a T-conditioned invariant subspace \mathscr{W} such that $\mathscr{L} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Given that \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant and $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$ is a regular RS operator (Remark 4.3), $\mathscr{W} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i^D\}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}}$, where $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ and \mathscr{E}_i^D is a sub-eigenspace of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$. Next, we show that $(\mathscr{W}_{\ell} + \mathscr{L}) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Towards this end, let \mathcal{D} be the injection operator that is defined in the proof of Theorem 4.17, where $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$ and $\mathcal{DCW}_{\phi} = 0$. Also, as above we can assume that there is no sub-eigenspace \mathscr{E} of \mathcal{A} such that $\mathscr{E} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$ (i.e. \mathscr{W}_{ϕ} is the largest subspace in the form (4.8) contained in \mathscr{W}). Since $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty})$ and $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$ it follows that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^k \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}))^k \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subset \ker \mathcal{C}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$. Otherwise, if $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \neq 0$, there exists $x \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$ such that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^k x \in \ker \mathcal{C} \cap \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ (recall \mathscr{W}_{f} is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ invariant). Since, \mathscr{W}_{f} is Fin-D, it follows that there exists a sub-eigenspace contained in \mathscr{W}_{f} that is in contradiction with definition of \mathscr{W}_{f} . Since \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} is the smallest subspace in the form of (4.8) such that $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\ell}$, it follows that $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\phi}$. Furthermore, as we assume $\mathscr{L} \in \mathscr{W}$, we obtain $(\mathscr{W}_{\ell} + \mathscr{L}) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Now, since the algorithm is increasing and starts from $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}^{\perp}} \subseteq \mathscr{L} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, we obtain $\mathscr{Z}_k \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ and consequently $\mathscr{W}^* \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. It follows that \mathscr{W}^* is the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L} . This completes the proof of the lemma.

It should be pointed out that one can compute \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} as follows.

- 1. Let $\mathcal{X}_{inf} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}}_{i \in \mathbb{J}_s}$ and $\mathcal{X}_f = \operatorname{span}\{\phi_j\}_{i \in \mathbb{J}_m}$, where \mathbb{J}_s and \mathbb{J}_m are the index sets for simple and multiple eigenvalues, respectively. Also, ϕ_i correspond to the simple eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} and ϕ_j are the (generalized) eigenvectors that correspond to the multiple eigenvalues (note that dim $(\mathcal{X}_f) < \infty$).
- 2. Compute, \mathscr{W}_{ℓ}^{m} , the smallest sub-eigenspace in \mathcal{X}_{f} containing $\mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{f}}\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}}$, where \mathcal{P}_{f} is the projection from \mathcal{X} on \mathcal{X}_{f} . It follows that $\mathscr{W}_{\ell}^{m} = \operatorname{span}\{\phi_{k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{I}_{m}}$, where $\mathbb{I}_{m} \subseteq \mathbb{J}_{m}$, and therefore $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{\ell}^{m}) < \infty$.
- 3. Let $\mathscr{W}_{\ell}^{s} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\phi_{k}\}}_{k \in \mathbb{I}_{s}}$, where $\mathbb{I}_{s} \subseteq \mathbb{J}_{s}$ and ϕ_{k} does appear in the representation of at least one member of $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}}$ (refer to Lemma 4.1).
- 4. Set $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} = \mathscr{W}_{\ell}^{s} + \mathscr{W}_{\ell}^{m}$.

Example 4.23. Computing \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} :

Consider the following regular RS system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{L}f(t),$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t),$$
(4.12)

where,

$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} J_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & J_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & -3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -4 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ & \ddots & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}, \ J_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \ J_2 = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 1 \\ 0 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(4.13)$$

Also, $\mathcal{A}: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{-(2k+1)^2} \phi_{2k+1}$, where ϕ_k are generalized eigenvetors of \mathcal{A} . Moreover, $\mathcal{C} = \langle c_i, \cdot \rangle$ where $c_i = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{4k^2} \phi_{2k}$. Also, $\mathcal{X} = \ell_2$ is the Hilbert space that induced from \mathbb{R}^{∞} (that is all $x = [x_0, x_1, \cdots]^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\infty}$ such that $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |x_k|^2 < \infty$). Note that for computing ϕ_k we do not need to run an algorithm infinite number of times and we have them as $\phi_k = [0, 0, \dots, 1, 0, 0, \dots]^T$, where 1 is in the k^{th} position.

It is follows that $\mathscr{L} = \operatorname{span}{\mathcal{L}} \subset \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\mathcal{L} \in D(\mathcal{A}^{\infty})$ (since $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} ((2k+1)^n e^{-(2k+1)^2}) < \infty$ for any n and hence $\mathcal{A}^n \mathcal{L} \in \mathcal{X}$ for any n). \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} is constructed as follows.

By using the above discussion, we have $\phi_1, \phi_3 \in \mathscr{W}_{\ell}$ (since span{ ϕ_1 } and span{ ϕ_3 } are J_{-1} -and J_{-2} -invariant, respectively). Also, since other eigenvalues are simple we have $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\phi_{2k-1}\}}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. Note that in this case since $\mathscr{L} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_{\mathcal{A}}$, it follows that in the algorithm (4.11) one obtains $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}^{\perp}} = 0$, and consequently $\mathscr{Z}^* = 0$. therefore, we have $\mathscr{W}^*(\mathscr{L}) = \mathscr{W}_{\ell}$.

Remark 4.24. We compute \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} in two steps. As stated above, we assume that we have complete knowledge of the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of \mathcal{A} and we can construct the given subspace (i.e. \mathscr{V}_{ℓ}) in the terms of these eigenvectors. Hence, it is not necessary to examine one by one the eigenvectors to construct \mathscr{W}_{ℓ} .

4.2.3 Unobservability Subspace

In the geometric FDI approach, one needs to work with another invariant subspace known as the unobservability subspace. In this subsection, we first provide two definitions for this subspace, and then develop an algorithm to construct it computationally.

Definition 4.25.

The subspace S is called an A-unobservability subspace for the RS system

 (4.1), if there exist two bounded operators D : ℝ^q → X and H : ℝ^q → ℝ^{q_h},
 where q_h ≤ q, such that S is the largest A + DC-invariant subspace contained
 in ker HC (i.e., S =< ker HC|A + DC >).

2. The subspace S is called a unobservability subspace for the RS system (4.1), if there exist two bounded operators $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathcal{X}$ and $H : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^{q_h}$, where $q_h \leq q$, such that S is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}}$ -invariant subspace contained in ker HC(*i.e.*, $S = \langle \ker HC | \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}} \rangle$).

Remark 4.26. It follows that the A- and unobservability subspaces are the A- and unobservable subspaces of the pair ($\mathcal{HC}, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$), respectively. Also, by definition Aand unobservability subspaces are also feedback (\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})- and \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant, respectively.

Computing the Unobservability Subspace: As stated earlier, for the FDI problem one is interested in computing the smallest unobservability subspace containing a given subspace. By following along the same lines as in Lemma 4.19, and the fact that $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$ is a regular operator, and finally by invoking Remark 4.26, one can show that the set of all unobservability subspaces containing a given subspace always admits a minimal in the inclusion sense. In the Fin-D case, the unobservability subspace computing algorithm involves the inverse of the state dynamic operator (i.e., the operator \mathcal{A}) [3, equation 2.61]. However, for Inf-D systems, the inverse image of \mathcal{A} is not convenient to deal with (if $0 \notin \rho(\mathcal{A})$). To overcome this difficulty, one can compute the unobservability subspace by using its dual subspace which is the controllability subspace. Therefore, one needs to compute the adjoint operators of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} as was pointed out in [124].

The above method in [124] uses a non-decreasing algorithm that converges in a countable number of steps. However, since the algorithm is non-decreasing, the limiting subspace is not necessarily closed. The following theorem provides an approach to compute the smallest unobservability subspace containing a given Fin-D subspace $\mathscr{L} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A})$.

Theorem 4.27. Consider model (4.1) which is assumed to be a regular RS system and a given Fin-D subspace $\mathscr{L} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Let \mathscr{W}^* denotes the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L} , where $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{W}^*_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}^*_{f}$ (by Theorem 4.17), \mathscr{W}^*_{ϕ} is the largest subspace contained in \mathscr{W}^* in the form (4.8) and $\mathscr{W}^*_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ is a Fin-D subspace. The smallest unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L} (denoted by \mathcal{S}^*) is given by

$$\mathcal{S}^* = \overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^* + \mathscr{N}} + \mathscr{W}_{\phi, \mathbf{f}}^*, \tag{4.14}$$

in which \mathscr{N} is the unobservable subspace of $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$, $\mathscr{W}_{\phi, \mathrm{f}}^*$ is the largest subspace in the form of $\overline{\mathrm{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i^D\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}_D}$ such that $\mathscr{W}_{\phi, \mathrm{f}}^*$ contains $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}^*$ and is contained in $\overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$. Also, \mathscr{E}_i^D are sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$.

Proof. Let us first show that S^* is T-conditioned invariant subspace. Since \mathscr{N} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant, we obtain $\mathscr{N} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}}$, where \mathscr{E}_i are sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A} (by using Corollary 4.9). Let $\mathcal{D} \in \underline{D}(\mathscr{W}^*)$ that is constructed in Theorem 4.17 (i.e., $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\phi} = 0$ and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}))^{-1}\mathscr{W}^* \subseteq \mathscr{W}^*)$. Since $\mathscr{N} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$, as shown above (in the proof of Theorem 4.17) \mathscr{E}_i are also sub-eigenspace of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. Also, by definition, $\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}$ is a summation of sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. Therefore, \mathcal{S}^* is a summation of sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. Therefore, \mathcal{S}^* is a summation of sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$.

Second, let H be a map such that ker $H\mathcal{C} = \overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$ (one choice is $H : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^{q_h}$, where ker $H = \mathscr{W}^* \cap (\mathscr{W}^* \cap \ker \mathcal{C})^{\perp}$). Since $\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi, \mathrm{f}} \subseteq \overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$, and $\mathscr{W}^*_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{W}^*_{\phi, \mathrm{f}}$, it follows that $\overline{\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi} + \ker \mathcal{C}} + \mathscr{W}^*_{\phi, \mathrm{f}} = \overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$. Also, given that $\mathscr{N} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$, we obtain $\overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}} = \overline{\mathcal{S}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$, and consequently, we have $\mathcal{S}^* \subseteq \ker H\mathcal{C}$.

Third, we show \mathcal{S}^* is an unobservable subspace of the system $(\mathcal{HC}, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$. As shown above $\mathcal{S}^* = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}^D_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}}$, where \mathscr{E}^D_i is a sub-eigenspace of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$. Next, it is shown that \mathcal{S}^* contains all sub-eigenspaces of $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$ that are contained in ker \mathcal{HC} . Let \mathscr{E}^D_0 be a given sub-eigenspace of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$, such that $\mathscr{E}^D_0 \subseteq \ker \mathcal{HC}$. If $\mathscr{E}^D_0 \not\subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$, since $\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}^*_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}$ contains all sub-eigenspaces that may not contained in ker \mathcal{C} (recall the definition of H and $\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}$) but in ker \mathcal{HC} , we obtain $\mathscr{E}^D_0 \subseteq (\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}^*_{\phi,\mathrm{f}})$ $\mathscr{W}_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}^*) \subseteq \mathcal{S}^*$. Now, assume $\mathscr{E}_0^D \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$. It follows that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}))^{-1} \mathscr{E}_0^D = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1} \mathscr{E}_0^D \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$, and consequently, $\mathscr{E}_0^D \subseteq \mathscr{N} \subseteq \mathcal{S}^*$. Hence, \mathcal{S}^* is the largest subspace contained in ker $H\mathcal{C}$ that is spanned by the sub-eigenspace of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$ (i.e. every sub-eigenspace in ker $H\mathcal{C}$ is contained in \mathcal{S}^*). Therefore, \mathcal{S}^* is the unobservable subspace of the pair $(H\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$.

Finally, we show S^* is the smallest unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L} . Let, S be another unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L} . Since S is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant containing \mathscr{L} , it follows that $\mathscr{W}^* \subseteq S$ (\mathscr{W}^* is the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant containing \mathscr{L}). Now, let H_1 such that ker $H_1\mathcal{C} = \overline{S + \ker C}$. Since $S^* \subseteq$ $\overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker C}$, it follows $S^* \subseteq \ker H_1\mathcal{C}$. Also, given that S is the largest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant in ker $H_1\mathcal{C}$, by using Theorem 4.17 S is the largest subspace in form (4.7) that is contained in ker $H_1\mathcal{C}$. Since S^* is also expressed in the form (4.7) (as S^* is also \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant) it follows that $S^* \subseteq S$. This completes the proof of the theorem. \square

It should be pointed out that since $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}^*$ is Fin-D and the operator $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$ is regular RS, we obtain $\mathscr{W}_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}^*$ is Fin-D. Therefore, one can compute $\mathscr{W}_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}^*$ based on sub-eigenspaces of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$ (i.e., for every the sub-eigenspace \mathscr{E}_0^D of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$ that (i) \mathscr{E}_0^D is contained in $\overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$, (ii) $\mathscr{E}_0^D \not\subseteq \overline{\mathscr{W}_{\phi}^* + \mathscr{N}}$, and (iii) $\mathscr{E}_0^D \not\perp \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}^*$, we have $\mathscr{E}_0^D \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\phi,\mathrm{f}}^*$).

As an example, refer to Subsection 4.4, where we provide a numerical example.

4.2.4 Controlled Invariant Subspaces and the Duality Property

As stated above, for addressing the FDI problem one needs to construct the conditioned invariant subspace. However, for the disturbance decoupling problem the controlled invariant subspaces (that are dual to the conditioned invariant subspaces) are needed. For sake of completeness of the chapter, in this subsection we review controlled invariant subspaces of the RS system (4.1), where necessary and sufficient conditions for controlled invariance are provided. We address the controlled invariant subspaces by using the duality property. Similar to conditioned invariant subspaces, there are three types of controlled invariant subspaces. These are discussed further below.

Definition 4.28. [103] Consider the closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ and $\mathscr{B} = \operatorname{Im} \mathscr{B}$, where \mathscr{B} is defined by the system (4.1). Then,

- 1. \mathscr{V} is called $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \overline{\mathscr{V} + \mathscr{B}} = \mathscr{V} + \mathscr{B}$ (since $\dim(\mathscr{B}) < \infty$).
- 2. \mathscr{V} is called feedback $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariant if there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{F} : $\mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$.
- *V* is called T-controlled invariant if there exists a bounded operator *F*: *X* →
 ℝ^m such that (i) the operator *A* + *BF* is the infinitesimal generator of a C₀ semigroup T_{A+BF}; and (ii) *V* is invariant with respect to T_{A+BF} as per Def inition 4.6, item 2). In the literature, it is also called closed feedback invari ant [101] and T(A, B)-invariant [103].

From the above, it follows that Definition 4.28, item 3) \Rightarrow item 2) \Rightarrow item 1) [103]. In this subsection, we are interested in developing and addressing the necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of the above definitions. In [103], the duality between the Definitions 4.11 and 4.28 was shown by using the following lemmas (the superscript * is used for adjoint operators).

Lemma 4.29. [103, Lemma 5.2] Consider the system (4.1), where \mathcal{A} is an infinitesimal generator of the C_0 semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ (more general than the regular RS operator) and the operator \mathcal{C} is bounded (but not necessarily finite rank), and two subspaces \mathscr{S}_1 and \mathscr{S}_2 . We have

- $1. \ (\mathscr{S}_1 + \mathscr{S}_2)^{\perp} = \overline{\mathscr{S}_1^{\perp} + \mathscr{S}_2^{\perp}}.$
- 2. $(\ker \mathcal{C})^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{C}^*}.$
- 3. If $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathscr{S}_1 \subseteq \mathscr{S}_2$, then $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^*}\mathscr{S}_2^{\perp} \subseteq \mathscr{S}_1^{\perp}$.
- 4. If $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{S}_1 \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{S}_2$, then $\mathcal{A}^*(\mathscr{S}_2^{\perp} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^*)) \subseteq (\mathscr{S}_1 \cap D(\mathcal{A}))^{\perp}$.

By using Lemma 4.29, item 3) the following result can be obtained.

Lemma 4.30. [103] Consider the Inf-D system (4.1). The subspace \mathscr{V} is \mathbb{T} controlled invariant if and only if \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant with respect to $(\mathscr{B}^*, \mathcal{A}^*).$

However, as can be observed from Lemma 4.29 (item 4), the dual equivalence of Lemma 4.14 will not be straightforward to show by using the duality property. The following lemma now directly provides our proposed result.

Lemma 4.31. Consider the regular RS system (4.1) and the closed subspace \mathscr{V} such that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$. The feedback $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariance property is equivalent to the $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariance property.

Proof. It is sufficient to show that $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariance \Rightarrow feedback $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariance. Let \mathscr{V} be $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariant. Since $D(\mathcal{A})$ is dense in \mathscr{V} , one can construct the basis $\{v_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$ (where $\mathbb{I} \in \mathbb{N}$) such that $v_i \in D(\mathcal{A})$. Since \mathcal{B} is finite rank, we have $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\inf} + \mathscr{V}_{f}$, such that $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V}_{\inf} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}, \mathscr{V}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{A}v_{i}$ ' are linearly independent for all $i = 1, \cdots, n_f$, where without loss of any generality we assume that $\mathscr{V}_{f} = \operatorname{span}\{v_i\}_{i=1}^{n_{f}}$ and $\mathcal{A}\mathscr{V}_{f} \subseteq \mathscr{B}$ (by following along the same steps in Lemma 4.14). Therefore, there exist u_i such that $\mathcal{A}v_i = -\mathcal{B}u_i$ for all $i = 1, \cdots, n_f$. Let us now define F such that $F[v_1, \cdots, v_{n_f}] = [u_1, \cdots, u_{n_f}]$ (note since $\operatorname{ker}[v_1, \cdots, v_{n_f}] = 0$, F always exists), and let \mathcal{F} be the extension of F to \mathcal{X} . In other words, for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$, we have $\mathcal{F}x = Fx_v$, where $x = x_{v^{\perp}} + x_v, x_v \in \mathscr{V}_f$ and $x_{v^{\perp}} \perp \mathscr{V}_f$. It follows that $||\mathcal{F}|| = ||F|| < \infty$ (i.e., \mathcal{F} is bounded) and $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$. Therefore, \mathscr{V} is feedback $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariant. This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

Remark 4.32. In [101] feedback $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariant is defined as follows. The subspace \mathscr{V} is feedback $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariant if there exists an \mathcal{A} -bounded (refer to Section 2.4) state feedback (instead of bounded state feedback as in Definition 4.6) \mathcal{F} , such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B}\mathcal{F})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$. By this definition, in [101, Theorem II.26], it is shown that $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariant and feedback $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -invariant are equivalent. However, Lemma 4.31 shows the result (by also using an extra condition that is $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$) when we restrict the feedback to the bounded operators (i.e. as per Definition 4.6). Note that this result cannot be concluded from Lemma II.25 and Theorem II.26 in [101].

However, we are interested in deriving a direct necessary and sufficient condition for the T-controlled invariance property. By taking advantage of the duality property, the following theorem now provides the necessary and sufficient conditions for the T-controlled invariance property.

Theorem 4.33. Consider the regular RS system (4.1) and the closed subspace \mathscr{V} such that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$ and $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V} + \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}$. Then, \mathscr{V} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant if \mathscr{V} can be represented as $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\phi} \cap \mathscr{V}_{f}^{\perp}$, where $\mathscr{V}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$ (\mathcal{A}^{*} denotes adjoint operator \mathcal{A}) is a Fin-D subspace and \mathscr{V}_{ϕ} is the smallest subspace containing \mathscr{V} that can be expressed as

$$\mathscr{V}_{\phi} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}}_{i \in \mathbb{I}}, \qquad (4.15)$$

in which \mathscr{E}_i are the sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A} and $\mathbb{I} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, if $\mathscr{V} + (\mathscr{V} + \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B})^{\perp}$ is a sum of sub-eigenspaces of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC}$, then the condition (4.15) is also necessary.

Proof. (If part): Let $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\phi} \cap \mathscr{V}_{f}^{\perp}$. It follows that $\mathscr{W}_{\psi} = \mathscr{V}_{\phi}^{\perp}$ can be expressed as $\mathscr{W}_{\psi} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_{i}^{*}\}}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}$, where \mathscr{E}_{i}^{*} are sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A}^{*} (since \mathscr{W}_{ψ} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^{*}}$). Given that $\mathscr{V}_{f} \subseteq D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$, dim $(\mathscr{V}_{f}) < \infty$ and $\overline{\mathscr{W}_{\psi} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^{*})} = \mathscr{W}_{\psi}$ (since it is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^{*}}$ -invariant), it follows that $\overline{\mathscr{V}^{\perp} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^{*})} = \mathscr{V}^{\perp}$. Also, By invoking Lemma 4.29 (item 4)) and

the fact that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$, we have (note that dim $(\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}) < \infty$ and consequently $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B} = \overline{\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}}$)

$$\mathcal{A}^*(\mathscr{V}^{\perp} \cap (\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B})^{\perp} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^*)) \subseteq \mathscr{V}^{\perp}.$$
(4.16)

Hence, \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is a $(\mathscr{B}^*, \mathscr{A}^*)$ -invariant subspace. By using Theorem 4.17, it follows that \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant with respect to $(\mathscr{B}^*, \mathscr{A}^*)$, and consequently, by using Lemma 4.30 it follows that \mathscr{V} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant.

(Only if part): Let \mathscr{V} be \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant. By invoking Lemma 4.30, it follows that \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant. Therefore, from Theorem 4.17 it follows that $\mathscr{V}^{\perp} = \mathscr{W}_{\psi} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$, with \mathscr{W}_{ψ} defined as above and $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}) < \infty$. Also, since $D(\mathcal{A}^*)$ is densely defined on \mathscr{V}^{\perp} (by Lemma 4.30, we obtain \mathscr{V}^{\perp} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^*}$ -invariant, and consequently $\overline{\mathscr{V}^{\perp} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^*)} = \mathscr{V}^{\perp}$) and \mathscr{W}_{ψ} (since it is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^*}$ -invariant), it follows $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$. Hence, $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\phi} \cap (\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}})^{\perp}$, where $\mathscr{V}_{\phi} = \mathscr{W}_{\psi}^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}}$ and $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$. This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Remark 4.34. Below, we emphasize that Theorem 4.33 is compatible with the currently available results in the literature. In the literature, there are following main results corresponding to \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant subspaces.

- 1. As shown in [105, Theorem 3.1] and [132, Theorem 2.2] the necessary condition for \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant is $\overline{\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap D(\mathcal{A}^*)} = \mathcal{V}^{\perp}$. Since in $\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$, this result is compatible with Theorem 4.33 (only if part).
- In [133] its is shown that for single-input single-output (SISO) systems if c ∈ D(A*) and < c, b >≠ 0, then the subspace ker C is T-controlled invariant, where C =< c, · >, and the corresponding bounded feedback gain is given by F = (<A*c, ·>)/(<c, c, b)
 Now, we show that this result and Theorem 4.33 coincide. Since X = ker C + Im B, V = ker C is (A,B)-invariant and consequently feedback (A,B)-invariant (by using Lemma 4.31). Moreover, V = X ∩ (Im C*)[⊥]

(note that $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{C}^* = \operatorname{span}\{c\}$) and hence by Theorem 4.33 (as \mathcal{X} is summation of all sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A} and $c \in D(\mathcal{A}^*)$, one can set $\mathcal{V}_{\phi} = \mathcal{X}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{f}} = \operatorname{span}\{c\}$), \mathcal{V} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant. In other words, sufficient conditions of Theorem 4.33 are also compatible with the result in [133] (for SISO systems).

Moreover, note that $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$ is a crucial condition. As above, consider a SISO system and the subspace $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{X} \cap (\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{C}^*)^{\perp}$, and assume that $c \notin D(\mathcal{A}^*)$, and consequently the feedback introduced in [133] (i.e. $\mathcal{F} = -\frac{\langle \mathcal{A}^* c, \cdot \rangle}{\langle c, b \rangle}$) is not bounded. In fact \mathscr{V} is not \mathbb{T} -invariant (since it does not satisfies the necessary condition in [105, Theorem 3.1]). It should be pointed out that although one can still construct another the bounded feedback \mathcal{F} that is derived in the proof of Lemma 4.31 and consequently \mathscr{V} is feedback (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})-invariant, however, even with this bounded feedback, \mathscr{V} is not \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant (since \mathscr{V} does not satisfies the necessary conditions).

4.3 Fault Detection and Isolation (FDI) Problem

In this section, we first formulate the FDI problem for the RS system (4.1) and then the methodology that was developed in the previous section is utilized to derive and provide necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability (formally defined in Remark 4.35) of the FDI problem.

4.3.1 The FDI Problem Statement

Consider the following regular RS system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{L}_{i}f_{i}(t),$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t),$$
(4.17)

where \mathcal{L}_i and f_i denote the fault signatures and signals, respectively. The other variables and operators are defined as in the model (4.1). The FDI problem is specified in terms of generating a set of residual signals, denoted by $r_i(t)$, i = $1, \dots, p$ such that each residual signal $r_i(t)$ is decoupled from the external input and all the faults, except one fault $f_i(t)$. In other words, the residual signal $r_i(t)$ satisfies the following conditions for all u(t) and f_j $(j \neq i)$

if
$$f_i = 0 \Rightarrow r_i \to 0$$
 (stability and decoupling condition), (4.18a)

$$\text{if } f_i \neq 0 \ \Rightarrow r_i \neq 0. \tag{4.18b}$$

The residual signal $r_i(t)$ is to be generated from the following detection filter

$$\dot{\omega}_i(t) = \mathcal{A}_o \omega_i(t) + \mathcal{B}_o u(t) + \mathcal{E}_i y(t),$$

$$r_i(t) = H_i y(t) - \mathcal{M}_i \omega_i(t),$$
(4.19)

where $\omega_i \in \mathcal{X}_o^i, \mathcal{X}_o^i$ is a separable Hilbert space (Fin-D or Inf-D), and \mathcal{A}_o is a regular RS operator. The operators $\mathcal{B}_o, \mathcal{E}_i, \mathcal{M}_i$ and H_i are closed operators with appropriate domains and codomains (for example, $\mathcal{A}_o : \mathcal{X}_o^i \to \mathcal{X}_o^i$ and $\mathcal{E} : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathcal{X}_o^i$). In this work we investigate, develop, and derive conditions for constructing the detection filter (4.19) by utilizing invariant subspaces such that the condition (4.18) is satisfied.

Remark 4.35. Design of the detection filter (4.19) involves satisfying two main requirements:

- 1. The residual signal $r_i(t)$ should be decoupled from all faults except $f_i(t)$.
- 2. The corresponding filter error dynamics should be stable.

If the first requirement is satisfied, we say that the fault f_i is detectable and isolable. However, the FDI problem is said to be solvable if both requirements are simultaneously satisfied.

In the next subsection, we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem for the RS system (4.17).
4.3.2 Necessary and Sufficient Conditions

As stated above, the FDI problem can be cast as that of designing detection filters having the structure (4.19) such that each detection filter output is decoupled from all faults but one.

By augmenting the RS system (4.17) and the detection filter (4.19), one can write

$$\dot{x}^{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}^{e} x^{e}(t) + \mathcal{B}^{e} u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{L}_{i}^{e} f_{i}(t),$$

$$r_{i}(t) = \mathcal{C}^{e} x^{e}(t),$$
(4.20)

where
$$x^{e}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x(t) \\ \omega_{i}(t) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{X}^{e} = \mathcal{X} \oplus \mathcal{X}_{o}^{i}, \ \mathcal{C}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{i}\mathcal{C} & -M_{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
 and
$$\mathcal{A}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & 0 \\ \mathcal{E}_{i}\mathcal{C} & \mathcal{A}_{o} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathcal{B}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{B}_{o} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathcal{L}_{i}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{i} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.21)

First, let us present the following important lemma.

Lemma 4.36. Assume that the operators $\mathcal{A}_{11} : \mathcal{X}_1 \to \mathcal{X}_1$ and $\mathcal{A}_{22} : \mathcal{X}_2 \to \mathcal{X}_2$ are infinitesimal generators of two C_0 semigroups $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{11}}$ and $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{22}}$, respectively. Let the operator $\mathcal{A}_{21} : \mathcal{X}_1 \to \mathcal{X}_2$ be bounded. Then

(a)
$$\mathcal{A}_{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}_{11} & 0 \\ \mathcal{A}_{21} & \mathcal{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
 is infinitesimal generator of the following C_{0} semigroup in
 $\mathcal{X}_{e} = \mathcal{X}_{1} \oplus \mathcal{X}_{2}$
$$\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{11}} & 0 \\ \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{21}} & \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{22}} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{21}}(t)x = \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{22}}(t-s)\mathcal{A}_{21}\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}_{11}}xds.$$

(b) Moreover, if A₁₁ and A₂₂ are regular RS operators with finitely many multiple eigenvalues and only finitely many common eigenvalues, then A_e is also a regular RS operator. *Proof.* (a) This follows from the Proposition 4.7 in [130].

(b) We first show that the operator $\mathcal{A}_d = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}_{11} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ is a regular RS with a finitely many multiple eigenvalues. It can be shown that λ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A}_d if and only if λ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A}_{11} or \mathcal{A}_{22} . Hence, \mathcal{A}_d is an operator with finitely many multiple eigenvalues. Moreover, each generalized eigenvector of \mathcal{A}_d can be expressed as $\begin{bmatrix} \phi_1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$ or $\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \phi_2 \end{bmatrix}$, where ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are the generalized eigenvectors of \mathcal{A}_{11} and \mathcal{A}_{22} , respectively. It follows that $\mathscr{P}_i^d = \mathcal{Q}\mathscr{P}_i$ (where \mathscr{P}_i is the eigenspace of the operator \mathcal{A}_{11} and \mathcal{Q} is an embedding operator such that $\mathcal{Q}: \mathcal{X}_1 \to \mathcal{X}_e$ and $\mathcal{Q}x = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$) is an eigenspace of \mathcal{A}^e . Furthermore, the same result holds for the eigenspaces of \mathcal{A}_{22} . Hence, it can be shown that the condition (3) in Definition 4.2 is satisfied. Finally, we show the inequality that is defined in Remark 4.3 holds. If $\lambda_i \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{11}) \cap \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{22})$, we select $d_i = \min(\inf_{\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{11}) - \lambda_i} |\lambda - \lambda_i|, \inf_{\lambda \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{22})} |\lambda - \lambda_i|)$. Since the number of common eigenvalues of \mathcal{A}_{11} and \mathcal{A}_{22} is finite, it follows that the inequality in Remark 4.3 is satisfied, and consequently \mathcal{A}_d is a regular RS with a finitely many multiple eigenvalues. Given that the operator $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ A_{21} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is bounded (with a bound equal to the bound of \mathcal{A}_{21}) and by invoking Remark 4.3, it follows that the operator \mathcal{A}_e is a regular RS operator. This completes the proof of the lemma.

Note that \mathcal{A}_o in (4.19) is assumed to be a regular RS operator and the operator \mathcal{E} (and consequently \mathcal{EC}) is a bounded operator if \mathcal{A}_o and \mathcal{A} have only finitely many common eigenvalues. Hence, by using Lemma 4.36, it follows that \mathcal{A}^e , as per equation (4.21), is an infinitesimal generator of a C_0 semigroup, and also a regular RS operator. Next, we need to establish an important relationship between the unobservable subspace of the system (4.20) and the unobservability subspace of the system (4.17) as shown in the following lemma.

Lemma 4.37. Consider the augmented system (4.20) and let $\mathscr{N}^e = \langle \ker \mathscr{C}^e | \mathbb{T}_{\mathscr{A}^e} \rangle$. Then, $\mathcal{Q}^{-1}\mathscr{N}^e$ is an unobservability subspace of system (4.17), where \mathcal{Q} is the embedding operator.

Proof. Let $S = Q^{-1} \mathcal{N}^e$, where Q is the embedding operator as defined above. We first show that S is a $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace of the system (4.17) (that is, $\mathcal{A}(S \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq S$). Let us show that $\overline{S \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = S$. Since \mathcal{N}^e is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^e}$ invariant, we have $\overline{\mathcal{N}^e \cap D(\mathcal{A}^e)} = \mathcal{N}^e$. Assume $\overline{S \cap D(\mathcal{A})} \neq S$, and consequently there exits $x \in S$ and a neighborhood $B \ni x$ such that $B \cap D(\mathcal{A}) = 0$. It follows that $QB \cap D(\mathcal{A}^e) = 0$ (note that $Qx = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$) that is in the contradiction with the fact that $\overline{\mathcal{N}^e \cap D(\mathcal{A}^e)} = \mathcal{N}^e$. Let $x \in (S \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))$. Now, since \mathcal{N} is \mathcal{A}^e -invariant, one can write $\mathcal{A}^e \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{N}^e$. Hence, $\mathcal{A}x \in S$, and S is $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant, and consequently feedback $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace (according to Lemma 4.14).

Now, we show that S satisfies the conditions in Theorem 4.17. Since \mathcal{N}^e is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^e}$ -invariant and \mathcal{A}^e is a regular RS operator, from Corollary 4.10 we have $\mathcal{N}^e = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i^e\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}}$, where \mathscr{E}_i^e are the sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A}^e . There are three possibilities for a sub-eigenspace of \mathcal{A}^e as follows

1.
$$\mathscr{E}_{i}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{E}_{i} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
, where \mathscr{E}_{i} is a sub-eigenspace of \mathcal{A} .

2.
$$\mathscr{E}_{i}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \mathscr{E}_{i}^{o} \end{bmatrix}$$
, where \mathscr{E}_{i}^{o} is sub-eigenspace of \mathcal{A}_{o} .

3. $\mathscr{E}_{i}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{E}_{i} \\ \mathscr{E}_{o} \end{bmatrix}$, such that \mathscr{E}_{i} and \mathscr{E}_{o} are *not* sub-eigenspaces of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_{o} (this sub-eigenspace is corresponded to common eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_{o}).

Let \mathcal{S}_{ϕ} denotes the largest subspace in the form $\mathcal{S}_{\phi} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{E}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{I}}}$ such that \mathscr{E}_i is a sub-eigenspace of \mathcal{A} that is contained in ker \mathcal{HC} . It follows that $\mathcal{S}_{\phi} \subseteq \mathcal{S}$ and $S = \overline{S_{\phi} + S_{f}}$, where S_{f} is a summation of sub-eigenspaces in the form item 3). Since there are only finitely many common eigenvalues of A and A_{o} , it follows that S_{f} is Fin-D. Therefore, S satisfies the condition of Theorem 4.17, and consequently S is T-conditioned invariant.

Finally, given that $S \subseteq \ker H_i \mathcal{C}$ and \mathscr{N}^e is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^e}$ -invariant subspace in ker \mathcal{C} , it follows that S is the largest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace contained in ker $H_i \mathcal{C}$ (i.e., S is an unobservability subspace of the RS system (4.17)). This completes the proof of the lemma.

To clarify of existence the subspace S_f in the above proof, consider the following Fin-D example.

Example 4.38.

Assume

$$A^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.22)

Also, let $L_1 = [0, 1, 0, 0]^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $L_2 == [1, 1, 1, 0]^{\mathrm{T}}$. It follows that $L_2 = A^e L_1$ and $A^e L_2 = 2L_2 - L_1$. Therefore, $\mathscr{E} = \operatorname{span}\{L_1, L_2\}$ is sub-eigenspace of A^e (corresponding to $\lambda = 1$). However, $Q^{-1}\mathscr{E} = \mathscr{L}_1$ is not a sub-eigenspace of $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. This is the reason with consider \mathcal{S}_{f} in the proof of the above Lemma.

In order to provide sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem, one also needs to show that the error dynamics corresponding to the designed fault detection observer is stable. The following theorem provides necessary and sufficient conditions for stability of a general Inf-D system.

Lemma 4.39. [14] Consider the Inf-D system $\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}'_e e(t)$, such that \mathcal{A}'_e is an infinitesimal generator of a C_0 semigroup. This system is exponentially stable if and

only if there exists a positive definite and bounded operator $\mathcal{P}_e: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ such that

$$\langle \mathcal{A}'_{e}z, \mathcal{P}_{e}z \rangle + \langle \mathcal{P}_{e}z, \mathcal{A}'_{e}z \rangle = -\langle z, z \rangle.$$

$$(4.23)$$

We are now in the position to derive the solvability necessary and sufficient conditions for the FDI problem corresponding to the RS system (4.17).

Theorem 4.40. Consider the regular RS system (4.17). The FDI problem has a solution only if

$$\mathcal{S}_i^* \cap \mathscr{L}_i = 0, \tag{4.24}$$

where $S_i^* = \langle \ker H_i C | \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i C \rangle$ is the smallest unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_j , where $j = 1, \dots, p$ and $j \neq i$, and $\mathscr{L}_i = \operatorname{span}\{\mathcal{L}_i\}$. On the other hand, if the above condition is satisfied and there exist two maps \mathcal{D}_o and \mathcal{P}_e such that $(\mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_i)$ and \mathcal{P}_e satisfy the condition (4.23), then the FDI problem is solvable where $\mathcal{A}_p = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C})|_{\mathscr{X}/S_i^*}$ (i.e., \mathcal{A}_p is the operator induced by $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C}$ on the factor space \mathscr{X}/S_i^*), and \mathcal{M}_i is the solution to $\mathcal{M}_i \mathcal{P}_i = H_i \mathcal{C}$, where \mathcal{P}_i is the canonical projection from \mathscr{X} on \mathscr{X}/S_i^* .

Proof. (Only if part): We consider the system (4.17) that is subject to two faults f_1 and f_2 . Assume that the detection filter (4.19) is designed such that the residual (that is, the output of the filter) is decoupled from the fault f_2 but requires to be sensitive to the fault f_1 . By considering the augmented system (4.20), it is necessary that $\mathscr{L}_2^e = \operatorname{span}\{\mathscr{L}_2^e\} \subseteq \mathscr{N}^e$, (\mathscr{L}_2^e is defined in (4.21)) where \mathscr{N}^e is the unobservable subspace of (4.20), and by using Lemma 4.37, the subspace $\mathscr{S} = \mathscr{Q}^{-1}\mathscr{N}^e$ is an unobservability subspace of the pair (\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A}) containing $Q^{-1}\mathscr{L}_2^e = \mathscr{L}_2$. Moreover, in order to detect the fault f_1 (which can be an arbitrary function of time), it is necessary that $\mathscr{N}^e \cap \mathscr{L}_1^e = 0$. Hence, $\mathscr{S} \cap \mathscr{L}_1 = 0$. Since \mathscr{S}_1^* is the minimal unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_2 (i.e., $\mathscr{S}_1^* \subseteq \mathscr{S}$), the necessary condition for satisfying the above condition is $\mathscr{S}_1^* \cap \mathscr{L}_1 = 0$.

(If part): Assume that $\mathcal{S}_1^* \cap \mathscr{L}_1 = 0$, and let \mathcal{D}_1 and H_1 be defined according to \mathcal{S}_1^*

(refer to the Definition 4.25). By definition, $\mathcal{L}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{S}_1^*$ where \mathcal{S}_1^* is the unobservable subspace of the system $(H_1\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{C})$. In other words, $\mathcal{S}_1^* = \langle \ker H_1\mathcal{C} | \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1\mathcal{C} \rangle$.

Now consider the canonical projection $\mathcal{P}_1 : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_1^*$ and the following detection filter

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{F}_1 \omega_1(t) + \mathcal{G}_1 u(t) - \mathcal{E}_1 y(t)$$

$$r_1(t) = \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t) - H_1 y(t)$$
(4.25)

where $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_1$, $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{B}$ and $\mathcal{E}_1 = \mathcal{D}_1 + \mathcal{P}_1^{-r} \mathcal{D}_o H_1$. By defining the error $e(t) = \mathcal{P}_1 x(t) - \omega_1(t)$ and following along the same steps as in Section 2.2, one can obtain

$$\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{F}_1 e(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{L}_1 f_1(t),$$

$$r_1(t) = \mathcal{M}_1 e(t).$$
(4.26)

By invoking Lemma 4.39, it follows that the error dynamics (4.26) is exponentially stable. Therefore, if $f_1 \equiv 0$ (for any value of f_2) then $r_1(t) \rightarrow 0$. Otherwise, $||r_1(t)|| \neq 0$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 4.41. Note that the FDI problem was solved by designing a fault detection filter to estimate x_1 . However, unlike the Fin-D case, the condition $\mathcal{N} = 0$ (the unobservable subspace) is not sufficient for the existence of an observer for a general Inf-D system [130]. Therefore, the condition (4.24) is not sufficient for solvability of the FDI problem, and one needs the extra condition that is stated in Theorem 4.40.

- **Remark 4.42.** 1. The condition that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_o must have only finite many common eigenvalues is only needed for "only if" part of the above proof. Note that this condition is necessary to show that $\mathcal{Q}^{-1}\mathcal{N}^e$ is an unobservability subspace.
 - 2. For "if part", we do not need this condition, since
 - (a) We do not deal with the augmented system.

(b) Directly by using Lemma 14, we assume that \$\mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_1\$ is asymptotically stable (i.e. the error dynamics of the detection filter is asymptotically stable).

4.3.3 Solvability of the FDI Problem Under Two Special Cases

In this subsection, we investigate two special cases, where the condition (4.24) provides a *single* necessary and sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem.

$\underline{\text{Case } 1}$

The following theorem provides a necessary and sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem when the number of positive eigenvalues of the quotient subsystem is finite.

Theorem 4.43. Consider the faulty system (4.17) with C specified as in equation (4.2), and let the operator $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 C)$ has only finite number of positive eigenvalues and the operator $\mathcal{A}_p = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_1 C)|_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{E}^+}$ is asymptotically stable, where \mathcal{E}^+ is the sum of eigenspaces corresponding to the positive eigenvalues. The FDI problem is solvable if and only if the condition (4.24) holds.

Proof. (if part): Consider the detection filter (4.25). As stated above, the observer gain \mathcal{D}_o is designed such that the operator $\mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_1$ is asymptotically stable.

Given that the unobservable subspace of system $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{A}_p)$ is zero (since it is obtained by factoring out \mathcal{S}_1^*), the pair Fin-D $(\mathcal{M}_1^+, \mathcal{A}_p^+)$ (that are induced from \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{A}_p on \mathcal{X}_1^+) is observable. Therefore, there exists an operator $D_o : \mathbb{R}^{q_h} \to \mathcal{X}_1^+$ such that all the eigenvalues of $\mathcal{A}_p^+ + D_o \mathcal{M}_1^+$ are negative. By invoking the asymptotic stability of \mathcal{A}_p^- , and considering \mathcal{D}_o as the extension of D_o , one can show that the error dynamics (4.26) is asymptotically stable. By following along the same lines as in the proof of Theorem 4.40, it follows that the FDI problem is solvable. (**only if part**): This follows from the results that are stated in Theorem 4.40. This completes the proof of the theorem.

$\underline{\text{Case } 2}$

In this case, the system (4.17) is specified according to the operator given by equation (4.2), however c_i are governed and restricted to

$$c_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n_c} \zeta_{i,j} \psi_j.$$
 (4.27)

In other words, c_i vectors lie on a finite dimensional subspace of \mathcal{X} . Since $\langle \phi_i, \psi_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}$, it follows that $\mathcal{C}\phi_i = 0$ for all $i > n_c$. Therefore, $\operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}_{i=n_c+1}^{\infty} \subseteq \operatorname{ker} \mathcal{C}$, and consequently, $\operatorname{ker} \mathcal{C} = \overline{\mathscr{C}_f^0 \oplus \operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}_{i=n_c+1}^{\infty}}$, where $\mathscr{C}_f^0 \subseteq \operatorname{span}\{\{\phi_j\}_{j=1}^{n_c}\}$. By invoking Lemma 4.13 and the fact that $\dim(\mathscr{C}_f^0) < \infty$, we have $\operatorname{ker} \mathcal{C} = \mathscr{C}_f^0 \oplus \operatorname{span}\{\phi_i\}_{i=n_c+1}^{\infty}$. Since every $\overline{\{\phi_i\}_{i=n_c+1}^{\infty}} \subseteq \operatorname{ker} \mathcal{C}$ is also $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$ -invariant and contained in $\operatorname{ker} \mathcal{H}\mathcal{C}$, it follows that the unobservability subspace \mathcal{S} containing a given subspace \mathscr{L} necessarily contains the Inf-D subspace $\overline{\{\phi_i\}_{i=n_c+1}^{\infty}}$. Therefore, the factored out quotient subsystem $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{A}_p)$ is Fin-D and one can provide necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem. The following theorem summarizes this result.

Theorem 4.44. Consider the faulty system (4.17) that is assumed to be an RS system and specified according to the output operator (4.27). The FDI problem is solvable if and only if $S_i^* \cap \mathscr{L}_i = 0$, where S_i^* is the smallest unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_j , $j = 1, \dots, p$ and $j \neq i$.

Proof. (if part): Since $\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_1^*$ is a Fin-D vector space and the system (M, A_{11}) (where $A_{11} = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})|_{\mathcal{S}_1^*}$ and $M\mathcal{P} = H\mathcal{C}$) is observable and Fin-D. Therefore, there always exists the operator \mathcal{D}_o such that the observer (4.19) can both detect and isolate the fault f_i . Given that the detection filter is Fin-D, the stability of the error dynamics is gauranteed by the observability of the system (M, A_{11}) . (only if part): This follows from the results that are stated in Theorem 4.40. This completes the proof of the theorem.

4.3.4 Summary of Results

In this section, the FDI problem was formulated by invoking invariant subspaces that were introduced and developed in Section 4.2. We first derived in Theorem 4.40 necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem. Moreover, it was shown that for two special classes of regular RS systems there exists a *single* necessary and sufficient condition (that is, the condition (4.24)) for solvability of the FDI problem. Table 4.1 summarizes and provides a pseudo-code and procedure for detecting and isolating faults in the RS system (4.17).

Remark 4.45. As illustrated above, the main difficulty in deriving a single necessary and sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem for a general RS system has its roots in the relationship between the condition $\mathcal{N} = 0$ and the existence of a bounded observer gain \mathcal{D} such that the corresponding error dynamics is exponentially stable. Another possible approach that one can investigate and pursue is through a frequency-based approach that was originally developed in [101] to investigate the disturbance decoupling problem. This approach deals with the Hautus test, and as shown in [134] the Hautus test does also involve certain new challenges for Inf-D systems. Specifically, there exist certain Inf-D systems that pass the Hautus test, however they are not observable. Notwithstanding the above, the investigation of utilization of a frequency-based approach for tackling the FDI problem and its relationship with invariant subspaces introduced in this chapter is beyond the scope of this thesis, therefore we suggest this line of research as part of our future work. Table 4.1: Pseudo-algorithm for detecting and isolating the fault f_i in the regular RS system (4.17).

- 1. Compute the minimal conditioned invariant subspace \mathscr{W}^* containing all \mathcal{L}_k subspaces such that $k \neq i$ (by using the algorithm (4.11) where $\mathscr{L} = \sum_{i \neq i} \mathcal{L}_j$).
- 2. Compute the unobservability subspace S_i^* containing $\sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{L}_j^1$ (by using the algorithm (4.14)).
- 3. Compute the operator \mathcal{D}_i such that $\mathcal{D}_i \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}(\mathscr{W}^*)$.
- 4. Find the operator H_i such that $\ker H_i \mathcal{C} = \overline{\mathscr{W}^* + \ker \mathcal{C}} = \overline{\mathcal{S}_i^* + \ker \mathcal{C}}$.
- 5. If $\mathcal{S}_i^* \cap \mathcal{L}_i = 0$, then the necessary condition for solvability of the FDI problem is satisfied. Moreover, if one of the following conditions are satisfied, the FDI problem is solvable. In other words, one can design a detection filter according to the structure provided in (4.19) to detect and isolate f_i ,
 - If there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{D}_o such that the conditions of Theorem 4.40 are satisfied, or
 - The operator $\mathcal{A}_p = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C})|_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_i^*}$ has finite number of positive eigenvalues, or
 - If $\dim(\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_i^*) < \infty$.

The operators in the detection filter (4.19) are defined as follows. Let \mathcal{P}_i be the canonical projection of \mathcal{S}_i^* , then $\mathcal{A}_o = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C})|_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_i^*} + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_i$, $\mathcal{B}_o = \mathcal{P}_i \mathcal{B}$, $\mathcal{M}_i \mathcal{P}_i = H_i \mathcal{C}$, $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{D}_o H_i$ and \mathcal{D}_o is selected such that \mathcal{A}_o satisfies the condition of Lemma 4.39. Moreover, the output of the detection filter (i.e., $r_i(t)$) is the residual that satisfies the condition (4.18).

Finally, to add further clarification and information we have provided in Figure 4.1 a schematic summarizing and depicting the relationships among the various lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are presented and developed in this chapter.



Figure 4.1: The flowchart diagram depicting the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter.

4.4 Numerical Example

In this section, we provide a numerical example to demonstrate the applicability of our proposed approach. We consider a PDE system that represents a linearized approximation to the model that corresponds to a large class of chemical processes, such as the two-component reaction-diffusion process (for more detail refer to [79]).

Consider the following parabolic PDE system.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \tilde{x}_{1}(t,z)}{\partial t} \\ \frac{\partial \tilde{x}_{2}(t,z)}{\partial t} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z^{2}} & 0.1 \\ 0.1 & \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z^{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}_{1}(t,z) \\ \tilde{x}_{2}(t,z) \end{bmatrix} + b_{1}(z)\tilde{u}_{1}(t,z) + b_{2}(z)\tilde{u}_{2}(t,z) + L_{1}(z)\tilde{f}_{1}(t,z) \\ + L_{2}(z)\tilde{f}_{2}(t,z) + \begin{bmatrix} \nu_{1}(t,z) \\ \nu_{2}(t,z) \end{bmatrix}, \\ y_{1}(t) = \int_{0}^{\pi} c_{1}(z)\tilde{x}(t,z)dz + w_{1}(t,z), \tilde{x}_{i}(t,0) = 0, \ i = 1, 2, \\ y_{2}(t) = \int_{0}^{\pi} c_{2}(z)\tilde{x}(t,z)dz + w_{2}(t), \tilde{x}_{i}(t,\pi) = 0, \ i = 1, 2, \end{aligned}$$
(4.28)

where $\tilde{x}(t, z) = [\tilde{x}_1(t, z), \tilde{x}_2(t, z)]^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\tilde{u}_i(t, z) \in \mathbb{R}$ denote the state and input, respectively. Also, $z \in [0, \pi]$ denotes the spatial coordinate, and $c_i \in L_2([0, \pi], \mathbb{R})$, where $L_2([0, \pi], \mathbb{R})$ denotes the space of all square integrable functions over $[0, \pi]$. Also ν_i and w_i (i = 1, 2) denote the process and measurement noise that are assumed to be normal distributions with 0.5 and 0.2 variances, respectively. Note that the boundary conditions assure that the temperatures at z = 0 and $z = \pi$ are fixed. Here for simplicity of presentation we assume $\tilde{x}_i(t, 0) = 0$ and $\tilde{x}_i(t, \pi) = 0$, i = 1, 2. Moreover, the faults f_1 and f_2 represent malfunctions in the heat jackets (that are modeled by invoking the input vectors b_1 and b_2).

The system (4.28) can be expressed in the representation of (4.17) (by neglecting the disturbances and noise signals ν_i and w_i) by utilizing the spectral operator $\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} & 0.1\\ 0.1 & \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} \end{bmatrix}$, where the domain of \mathcal{A} is defined by [14, Chapter 1]: $D(\mathcal{A}) = \{x \in \mathbb{L}_2([0,\pi]) \mid x, \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}z} \text{ are absolutely continuous}\}.$ By solving the corresponding Sturm-Liouville problem [135], the eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} are obtained as $\lambda_k^1 = 0.1 - k^2, \lambda_k^2 = -0.1 - k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and the corresponding eigenfunctions are given by $\phi_k^1 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} [\sin(kz), \sin(kz)]^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $\phi_k^2 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} [\sin(kz), -\sin(kz)]^{\mathrm{T}}$. Note that ϕ_k^1 and ϕ_k^2 are bi-orthonormal. In other words, $\phi_k^1 \perp \phi_j^2$, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\phi_k^1 \perp \phi_j^1$, for $j \neq k$. Therefore, $\psi_k^i = \phi_k^i$, i = 1, 2 and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Consider the system (4.28), where

$$c_{1}(z) = \begin{cases} [1,1]^{\mathrm{T}} & 0 \le z \le \pi/4 \\ 0 & ; \text{ Otherwise} \end{cases}, \ c_{2}(z) = \begin{cases} [1,-1]^{\mathrm{T}} & 3\pi/4 \le z \le \pi \\ 0 & ; \text{ Otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.29)

Note that from practical point of view the structure of c_1 and c_2 is determined by characteristics of sensors.

Let us assume $b_i(z) = \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} \zeta_k^i \phi_k^i$, where $\zeta_k^1 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{k} & , \frac{1}{k} \end{bmatrix}^T$, and $\zeta_k^2 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{k^2} & , -\frac{1}{k^2} \end{bmatrix}^T$ for $k \ge 5$. Moreover, let $L_i(z) = b_i(z)$ i = 1, 2 (for all $z \in [0, \pi]$) represent actuator faults. Finally, let $\mathcal{C} = [\langle c_1, \cdot \rangle, \langle c_2, \cdot \rangle]^T$, with c_1 and c_2 given above. As observed below the condition for the Case 1 stated in Section 4.3.3 does hold.

In the following, a detection filter is designed for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 . Since $\mathscr{L}_2 = \operatorname{span}\{L_2\} \in D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathscr{L}_2 \notin \ker \mathcal{C}$, we obtain $\mathscr{Z}^* = \mathscr{Z}_1 = \mathscr{L}_2$ from the algorithm (4.11). Hence, one can write $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} = 0$ (since $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{N}} = 0$). Therefore, $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{L}_2$. By setting $\mathscr{W}^*_{\phi,\mathrm{f}} = \mathscr{W}^*_{\mathrm{f}}$ and since $c_1 \perp \phi_k^2$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $0 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$, we have $\mathscr{N} + \mathscr{L}_2 = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\phi_k^2\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ (i.e., the unobservable subspace of system (4.28) with only one input $y = c_1 x$). Given that $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{L}_2$, we obtain that $\mathscr{S}^*_1 = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\phi_k^2\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$. It follows that $\mathscr{L}_1 \cap \mathscr{S}^*_1 = 0$, and a solution for the corresponding maps \mathcal{D}_1 and H_1 is given by $\mathcal{D}_1 = 0$ and $H_1 = [1, 0]$. The factored out subsystem can therefore be specified by using the canonical projection on \mathscr{S}^*_1 , that is $\mathcal{P}_1 : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}^*_1$, as follows

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{A}_p \omega(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{B} u(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{L}_1 f_1(t),$$

$$y_\omega(t) = \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t),$$
(4.30)

where $\omega_1 \in \mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_1^*$, $u = [u_1, u_2]^T$, $y_\omega = H_1 y$, \mathcal{A}_p and \mathcal{M} are solutions to the equations

 $\mathcal{A}_p \mathcal{P}_1 = \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{A}$ and $\mathcal{M} \mathcal{P} = H \mathcal{C}$, respectively, and are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_p = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} + 0.1, \quad \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1 = < c_2, \omega_1 > .$$
(4.31)

By solving the corresponding Sturm-Liouville problem [135], the eigenvalue of \mathcal{A}_p is given as $\lambda_k^1 = 0.1 - k^2$, $i \in \mathbb{N}$. The eigenvalue of \mathcal{A}_p is Since all the eigenvalues of \mathcal{A}_p are negative (the condition for Case 1 in Subsection 4.3.3), by using Theorem 4.43 a detection filter is therefore specified according to

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{A}_o \omega_1(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{B} u(t),$$

$$r_1(t) = H_1 y(t) - \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t),$$
(4.32)

where $\mathcal{A}_o = \mathcal{A}_p$. In other words, the detection filter to detect and isolate the fault f_1 is given by

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z)}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z)}{\partial z^2} + 0.1 \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z) + b_{11}(z) \tilde{u}_1(t,z) + b_{21}(z) \tilde{u}_2(t,z)$$
(4.33)

where $\tilde{\omega}_1(t, z) \in \mathbb{R}$ is the corresponding function to $\omega_1(t) \in \mathcal{X}$, $[b_{11}(z), b_{21}(z)]^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathcal{P}_1[b_1(z), b_2(z)]^{\mathrm{T}}$. The error dynamics corresponding to the above detection filter (i.e., $e(t) = \mathcal{P}_1 x(t) - \omega_1(t)$) is given by $\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}_p e(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{L}_1 f_1(t)$. Therefore, if $f_1 = 0$, the error converges to the origin exponentially. Otherwise, $e \neq 0$. The above residual (i.e, r_1) corresponding to the fault f_1 is also decoupled from f_2 . By following the same steps as above, one can design a detection filter to detect and isolate the fault f_2 . These details are therefore not included. We no have $\mathcal{S}_2^* = \overline{\mathrm{span}\{\phi_k^1\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}}$, and the filter to detect and isolate f_2 is given by

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z)}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z)}{\partial z^2} - 0.1 \tilde{\omega}_1(t,z) + b_{12}(z) \tilde{u}_1(t,z) + b_{22}(z) \tilde{u}_2(t,z), \quad (4.34)$$

where $[b_{11}(z), b_{21}(z)]^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathcal{P}_2[b_1(z), b_2(z)]^{\mathrm{T}}$, and $\mathcal{P}_2 : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_2^*$ is the canonical projection on \mathcal{S}_2^* .

For the purpose of simulations, we consider a scenario where the fault f_1 with a severity of 2 occurs at t = 5 sec and the fault f_2 with a severity of -1 occurs at $t = 7 \ sec$. Figure 4.2 shows the states of the system (4.28) (namely, \tilde{x}_1 and \tilde{x}_2 with disturbances and noise signals ν_i and w_i included in the simulations), and Figure 4.3 depicts the residuals r_1 and r_2 . It clearly follows that r_i is only sensitive to the fault f_i , i = 1, 2. Note that the thresholds are computed based on running 70 Monte Carlo simulations for the *healthy system* with the thresholds selected as the maximum residual signals r_1 and r_2 during the entire simulation runtime. The selected thresholds are $th_1 = 0.09$ and $th_2 = 0.064$, corresponding to the residual signals r_1 and r_2 , respectively. The faults f_1 and f_2 are detected at $t = 5.051 \ sec$ and $t = 7.31 \ sec$, respectively. Table 4.2 shows the detection times corresponding to various severity fault cases that are simulated. This table clearly shows the impact of the fault severity levels on the detection times. In other words, the lower the fault severity, the longer the detection time delay. Moreover, the *minimum* detectable fault severities associated with f_1 and f_2 are determined to be 0.05 and 0.15, respectively.

Remark 4.46. The conducted simulations are performed by using the finite-element methods that are not based on the eigenvalues of \mathcal{A} . More specifically, we use the "pdepe" function in MATLAB to generate the data and simulate the filters. In other words, we design the filters based on the eigenvalues and eigenvectors and perform the simulations by using a different approach. Therefore, the provided results emphasize that the proposed method can detect and isolate faults in the actual PDE system.

Remark 4.47. When compared with approximate approaches that are developed in [15, 17] and [20] two main issues are worth pointing out:

The approximation of the system (4.17) is based on only the operator A. As stated in [20], system (4.17) was approximated by using the first two to four eigenvalues. However, since the fault signatures (namely, L₁ and L₂) in the above example have no effect on the eigenspaces of the first five eigenvalues,



Figure 4.2: The states of the system (4.28). The faults f_1 and f_2 occur at t = 5 sec and t = 7 sec with severities of 2 and -1, respectively.



(a) The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 .

(b) The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 .

Figure 4.3: The residual signals for detecting and isolating the faults f_1 and f_2 . The faults occur at t = 5 sec and t = 7 sec with severities of 2 and -1, respectively.

Fault Severity	$f_1 (sec)$	$f_2 (sec)$
$ \begin{aligned} f_1 &= 2, \\ f_2 &= -1 \end{aligned} $	0.051	0.31
$f_1 = 0.5, f_2 = 0.5$	0.21	0.555
$f_1 = 0.09, f_2 = 0.2$	1.18	1.04
$f_1 = 0.05, f_2 = 0.15$	4.7	1.34

Table 4.2: Detection time delay of the faults f_1 and f_2 corresponding to various severities.

the faults f_1 and f_2 would not have been detectable by using the approaches in [15, 17] and [20].

2. In the references [15, 17] and [20], it is necessary that the Inf-D system has eigenvalues that are far in the left-half plane, that result in extremely fast transient times (refer to Assumption 1 in [15]), whereas our proposed approach in this chapter does not suffer from this restriction and limitation.

4.5 Summary

In this chapter, geometric characteristics associated with the regular Riesz spectral (RS) systems are investigated and new properties are introduced, specified, and developed. Specifically, various types of invariant subspaces such as the \mathcal{A} - and \mathbb{T} conditioned invariant and \mathbb{T} -unobservability subspaces are developed and analyzed. Moreover, necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various conditioned invariant subspaces are also provided. Under certain conditions, the algorithms corresponding to computing invariant subspaces are shown to indeed converge in a finite number of steps. Finally, we formulate and introduce the problem of fault detection and isolation (FDI) of RS systems, for the first time in the literature,

in terms of invariant subspaces. For regular RS systems, we have developed and presented necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem.

Chapter 5

Fault Detection and Isolation of Inf-D Systems by Using Semigroup Invariant Subspaces

In this chapter we focus on derivation of necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems with their applications on the FDI problem. The Inf-D system that is considered in this chapter is more general than RS systems (which were addressed in Chapter 4).

As stated earlier, due to complexity of unbounded operators various definitions of invariant subspaces are introduced, where these subspaces are equivalent in Fin-D systems and inequivalent in Inf-D systems. In this chapter, we first address invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems from a new point of view by invoking resolvent operators. This approach enables one to extend the results to Inf-D systems. Particularly, we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various types of conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems. Duality properties of Inf-D systems are then investigated. Finally, by introducing unobservability subspaces for Inf-D systems we precisely formulate the FDI problem, and necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are provided.

5.1 Inf-D Systems

Consider the following Inf-D system.

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t),$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t),$$
(5.1)

where $x(t) \in \mathcal{X}$, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ are the state, input and output vectors, respectively. \mathcal{X} is a real separable Hilbert space equipped by the dot-product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. As in Chapter 4, we consider the following input and output operators,

$$\mathcal{B}: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathcal{X}, \ \mathcal{B}u = \sum_{i=1}^m u_i b_i,$$
(5.2)

where $u = \begin{bmatrix} u_1, \cdots, u_m \end{bmatrix}^T$ and $b_i \in \mathcal{X}, i = 1, \cdots, m$, and

$$\mathcal{C} = \left[\langle c_1, \cdot \rangle, \langle c_2, \cdot \rangle, \cdots, \langle c_q, \cdot \rangle \right]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(5.3)

in which $c_i \in \mathcal{X}$, $i = 1, \dots, q$. It follows that the operators \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are bounded and finite rank. However, unlike Chapter 4, in this chapter we do not restrict \mathcal{A} to be a regular RS operator. More precisely, we consider the unbounded operator \mathcal{A} : $D(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{X}$ that is closed and is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous (C_0) semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$ [14]. Therefore, system (5.1) is more general than the RS system (4.1).

5.2 Invariant Subspaces of Fin-D Systems

As mentioned earlier, one of main problems in geometric theory of Inf-D systems is to characterize conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces. As we observed in Chapter 4, due to inherent complexities of unbounded operators. For example, consider domain of unbounded operators. Unlike bounded ones, domain of an unbounded operator is not \mathcal{X} and indeed $\overline{D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathcal{X}$), extension of invariant concepts from Fin-D to Inf-D systems faces certain challenges. In this subsection, we review invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems from a new perspective and point of view that is not available in the literature. Specifically, we provide below two important lemmas on conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces that can be generalized and extended (unlike the available results in geometric theory of Fin-D systems in [74, 112]) to Inf-D systems.

Consider the following Fin-D system

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t),$$

$$y(t) = Cx(t),$$
(5.4)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^q$ denote the state, input and output vectors, respectively. Based on [74], a subspace \mathscr{V} is A-invariant if $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$, and the A-invariance property is equivalent to e^{At} -invariance. In other words, $e^{At}\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ if and only if $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$. However, as discussed in Chapter 4, these subspaces are not necessarily equivalent in Inf-D systems. Therefore, one cannot formally and fully characterize the Inf-D system (5.1) by only addressing the \mathcal{A} -invariant subspaces [103]. The main reason for this fact is unboundedness property of \mathcal{A} . However, the resolvent operator of an unbounded operator is always a bounded operator. Hence, in this section we investigate the invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems by using the resolvent operator and then generalize and extend these results to Inf-D systems in the next section.

The following lemma describes the relationship between the $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariance and the A-invariance concepts.

Lemma 5.1. Consider the system (5.4) and the A-invariant subspace \mathscr{V} . Then for all $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(A)$ we have $R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}$.

Proof. Let $\{v_1, \dots, v_k\}$ denote a basis of \mathscr{V} and $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(A)$. Since $(\lambda I - A)$ is invertible, $\{(\lambda I - A)v_1, \dots, (\lambda I - A)v_k\}$ are independent. By the A-invariance property of \mathscr{V} , it follows that $(\lambda I - A)v_i \in \mathscr{V}$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, k\}$. Therefore, $\{(\lambda I - A)v_1, \dots, (\lambda I - A)v_k\}$ is a basis of \mathscr{V} , and consequently $(\lambda I - A)\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}$. Also, since $(\lambda I - A)$ is invertible, $R(\lambda, A)$ is well-defined, so that we have $R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

As pointed out in [14, 101], $R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ is equivalent to $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ (since $D(A) = \mathbb{R}^n$). However, the above lemma shows that the condition $R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}$ is not stronger than $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$, and they are indeed equivalent. The following lemma provides an important perspective on the unobservable subspace (that is $\mathscr{N} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{n-1} \ker CA^k$) for the system (5.4).

Lemma 5.2. Consider the Fin-D system (5.4) and its unobservable subspace $\mathcal{N} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{n-1} \ker CA^k$. The subspace \mathcal{N} can be computed as

$$\mathscr{N} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{n-1} \ker CR(\lambda, A)^k \tag{5.5}$$

Proof. It is well-known that \mathscr{N} is largest A-invariant and consequently largest e^{At} invariant for all $t \geq 0$ contained in ker C [74]. Also, as stated above every A-invariant
is also $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant. Now, we show that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{n-1} \ker CR(\lambda, A)^k$ is the largest $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant contained in ker C and therefore, $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathscr{N}$.

First, we show $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant. It is lucid that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}} \subseteq \ker C$. Let $x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$. Since $x \in \ker CR(\lambda, A)^k$ and $x \in \ker CR(\lambda, A)^{k+1}$ for $k = 0, \dots, n-2$, we obtain $R(\lambda, A)x \in \bigcap_{k=0}^{n-2} \ker CR(\lambda, A)^k$. Also, by using Cayley-Hamilton theorem for $R(\lambda, A)$ (note that $R(\lambda, A)$ is a matrix with the same dimension as A), it follows that $R(\lambda, A)x \in \ker CR(\lambda, A)^{n-1}$, and consequently $R(\lambda, A)x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant. Now, we show $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is the largest $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant subspace contained in $\ker C$. Let $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \ker C$ is a $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant, and set $x \in \mathscr{V}$. It follows that $x \in \ker C$ and since \mathscr{V} is $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant, we obtain $R(\lambda, A)^k x \in$

 $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \ker C$, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, $x \in \ker CR(\lambda, A)^k$ for all $k = 0, \dots, n-1$, and consequently $x \in \mathscr{N}_r$ (i.e., $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_r$). Therefore, \mathscr{N}_r is the largest $R(\lambda, A)$ -invariant (and consequently, A-invariant) subspace contained in ker C, and consequently $\mathscr{N}_r = \mathscr{N}$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

Next, let us review the conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces of the system (5.4).

Definition 5.3. [74]

- 1. The subspace $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is called a conditioned invariant subspace if $A(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.
- 2. The subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is called a controlled invariant subspace if $A\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{B} + \mathscr{V}$.

The following lemma provides the main available result in the literature on conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems.

Lemma 5.4. [74] Consider the system (5.4) and the conditioned (controlled) invariant subspace $\mathscr{W}(\mathscr{V})$. Then, there exists a map $D: \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^n \ (F: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\mathscr{W}(\mathscr{V})$ is invariant with respect to $e^{(A+DC)t} \ (e^{(A+BF)t})$.

As shown in the next section, the above lemma

emphdoes not hold for Inf-D systems. Therefore, we subsequently use the resolvent operator instead of A to address the conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces of Fin-D systems. This new point of view will subsequently enable us to formally address the conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces for the Inf-D systems.

Lemma 5.5. Consider system (5.4), and the subspace $\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. The subspace \mathscr{W} is conditioned invariant if and only if for any $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(A)$, we have $R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C = \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$.

Proof. (if part): Let $\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C = R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$. Therefore, we have $\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C \subseteq R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C \subseteq R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W}$. Since $R(\lambda, A)$ is invertible it follows that $(\lambda I - A)(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Now, let $x \in \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$. Hence, $\lambda x - Ax \in \mathscr{W}$, and consequently $Ax \in \mathscr{W}$. In other words, $A(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Therefore, \mathscr{W} is conditioned invariant.

(only if part): Let \mathscr{W} be a conditioned invariant subspace and an arbitrary $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(A)$. Since $A(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, we obtain $(\lambda I - A)(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, and consequently $(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{W}$. Also, since $(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq \ker C$, it follows that $(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) \subseteq R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$.

We now show that $R(\lambda, A)$ $\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C \subseteq (\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C)$. Let $x \in R(\lambda, A)$ $\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$. it follows that there exists a $y \in \mathscr{W}$ such that $R(\lambda, A)y = x$ or $(\lambda I - A)x = y$. Since $x \in \ker C$, we obtain $(\lambda I - A - DC)x = (\lambda I - A)x = y$ and therefore $x \in R(\lambda, A + DC)$ \mathscr{W} . Since \mathscr{W} is conditioned invariant, by using Lemma 5.1, we have $R(\lambda, A + DC)$ $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}$, and hence $x \in \mathscr{W}$. It follows that $x \in \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$ which completes the proof.

Remark 5.6. It should be pointed out that the condition $R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C \subseteq \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C$ is not sufficient for conditioned invariance. For example, consider the system (5.4) with $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $C = [1, -1]^{\mathrm{T}}$. Also, let $\mathscr{W} = \operatorname{span}\{[1, 1]^{\mathrm{T}}\}$. It follows that $0 = R(\lambda, A) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker C \subseteq (\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) = \mathscr{W}$, however \mathscr{W} is not conditioned invariant (since $A(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker C) = \operatorname{span}\{[2, 1]^{\mathrm{T}}\} \not\subseteq \mathscr{W}$).

By following along the same lines as above, one can derive the following lemma.

Lemma 5.7. Consider the system (5.4). Then the subspace \mathscr{V} is controlled invariant if and only if for any $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(A)$, we have $R(\lambda, A)(\mathscr{V} + \mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{V} + R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{B}$, where $\mathscr{B} = \operatorname{Im} B$.

Proof. We show the result by using duality property that holds for Fin-D systems [74].

(if part): Let $R(\lambda, A)(\mathscr{V} + \mathscr{B}) = \mathscr{V} + R(\lambda, A)\mathscr{B}$ and $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{V}^{\perp}$. Since ker $B^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathscr{B}^{\perp}$ and $(F^{-1}\mathscr{R})^{\perp} = F^{\mathrm{T}}\mathscr{R}^{\perp}$ for any $\mathscr{R} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and operator $\mathscr{F} : \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$ [136], it follows that $(\lambda I - A^{\mathrm{T}})(\mathscr{W} \cap \ker B^{\mathrm{T}}) = \mathscr{W} \cap (\lambda I - A^{\mathrm{T}}) \ker B^{\mathrm{T}}$, and consequently, $R(\lambda, A^{\mathrm{T}})\mathscr{W} \cap \ker B^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathscr{W} \cap \ker B^{\mathrm{T}}$ (note that $\rho_{\infty}(A^{\mathrm{T}}) = \rho_{\infty}(A)$). By using Lemma 5.5, \mathscr{W} is a conditioned invariant subspace of the pair $(B^{\mathrm{T}}, A^{\mathrm{T}})$. Therefore, by duality $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{W}^{\perp}$ is a controlled invariant subspace for the pair (A, B).

(only if part): By following along the same steps as above one can show this part.This completes the proof of the lemma.

5.3 Invariant Subspaces for Inf-D Systems

As stated earlier in Chapter 4, invariant subspaces play a prominent role in geometric control theory that includes studies in FDI and disturbance decoupling problems [41, 50, 74, 112]. In the FDI problem, one needs three types of invariant subspaces, namely $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant, conditioned invariant, and unobservability subspaces. For the disturbance decoupling problem, the controlled invariant subspace is necessary. In the literature, $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant, conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces (that are subsequently defined) have been introduced for Inf-D systems [103, 105, 110, 130]. The necessary and sufficient condition for equivalence of \mathcal{A} -invariance and $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspaces have been partially addressed. More specifically, the necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various types of these subspace is still an open problem. In this section, we first review invariant concepts of Inf-D systems and develop two important results that are related to the conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces. Then, an unobservability subspaces of Inf-D systems is addressed.

5.3.1 *A*-Invariant Subspace

As stated in Chapter 4, there are two different definitions that are related to the $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ invariance property, and unlike the Fin-D case, these definitions are not equivalent
for Inf-D systems. We repeat the definitions as follows,

Definition 5.8. [130]

- 1. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is called \mathcal{A} -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{V}$.
- 2. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant if $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ for all $t \in [0, \infty)$, where $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the C_0 semigroup generated by \mathcal{A} .

In the geometric approach of the FDI problem one needs the subspaces that are $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. Since dealing with $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspaces are more challenging than \mathcal{A} -invariant subspaces, we are interested in cases where the Definition 5.8 item 1) and 2) are equivalent. The necessary and sufficient condition for $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariance is provided in the literature that is presented as follows.

Lemma 5.9. [101, Lemma I.4] Consider the C_0 semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and its infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} . Let \mathscr{V} be a closed subspace. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- 1. \mathscr{V} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant.
- 2. \mathscr{V} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant for a $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ (for definition of $\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ refer to the Notation Section 1.6).
- 3. \mathscr{V} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant for all $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$.
- 4. The range of $(\lambda \mathcal{I} \mathcal{A})$ restricted to \mathscr{V} is \mathscr{V} (that is, $(\lambda \mathcal{I} \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) = \mathscr{V}$).

As in the previous chapter, a subspace of particular $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant of interest that we are mainly concerned in this chapter is the unobservable subspace. The unobservable subspace of the system (5.1) is defined as $\mathcal{N} = \langle \ker \mathcal{C} | \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle =$ $\bigcap_{t \geq 0} \ker \mathcal{C}\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}(t)$ [103] that is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant that is contained in ker \mathcal{C} [103]. By extending Lemma 5.2, the following lemma shows an important property for \mathcal{N} .

Lemma 5.10. The unobservable subspace can be computed as

$$\mathscr{N} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} \ker \mathcal{CR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k$$
(5.6)

Proof. Since \mathscr{N} is the largest \mathbb{T} -invariant contained in ker \mathscr{C} , it is also the largest $\mathscr{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace in ker \mathscr{C} . Set $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}} = \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} \ker \mathscr{C}\mathscr{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^{k}$. As in Lemma 5.2, we show that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is the largest $\mathscr{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace contained in ker \mathscr{C} and consequently $\mathscr{N} = \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$.

First, we show that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant. It is lucid that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$. Also, since \mathcal{C} and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k$ (and consequently $\mathcal{CR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k$) are bounded, the null space of $\ker \mathcal{CR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k$ is closed for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is a closed subspace. Let $x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ by following along the same steps in the proof of Lemma 5.2, one can show that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \in \ker \mathcal{CR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k$ for all $k \in \underline{\mathbb{N}}$, and consequently it follows that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant.

Next, we show that $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is the largest $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace contained in ker \mathcal{C} . Let $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$ be a $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ invariant subspace and set $x \in \mathscr{V}$. It follows that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^k x \in \mathscr{V} \subseteq \ker \mathcal{C}$ for all $k \in \underline{\mathbb{N}}$, and consequently $x \in \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ and $\mathscr{N}_{\mathbf{r}}$ is the largest $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ in variant subspace contained in ker \mathcal{C} . This completes the proof of the lemma.

We use the unobservable subspace ${\mathscr N}$ to introduce the unobservability subspaces for Inf-D systems.

As emphasized in Chapter 4, there are three different definitions for conditioned invariant subspaces (Definition 4.11). In order to derive necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of these definitions, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 5.11. Consider the infinitesimal generator $\mathcal{A}, \lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ and the \mathcal{A} -invariant subspace \mathscr{V} such that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$. If there exists a Fin-D \mathcal{A} -invariant subspace \mathscr{V}_{f} such that $\mathscr{V}_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}} = \mathscr{V} + \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant, then \mathscr{V} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant.

Proof. As Lemma 4.17, we first show that one can assume $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Given that $V_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant [101], we have $\overline{\mathscr{V}_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}}$. Also, as an assumption we have $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$. If $V_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}}$ is Fin-D, \mathscr{V} is Fin-D and hence $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subseteq \mathscr{V} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Let, $V_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}}$ be Inf-D. By following along the same steps in the proof of Lemma 4.14, we define the basis $\{v_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of \mathscr{V} such that $v_i \in D(\mathcal{A})$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\{v_i\}_{i=n_{\mathrm{f}}+1}^{\infty}$ is a basis for $V_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}}$, where $n_{\mathrm{f}} = \dim(\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}})$. Set $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{ff}} = \operatorname{span}\{w_i\}_{i=1}^{n_{\mathrm{f}}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, and it follows that $\mathscr{V} = V_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}} + \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{ff}}$. Therefore, without loss of any generality we assume $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$.

Next, by following along the same steps as in Lemma 5.1, we show $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathcal{V}_{\rm f} = \mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$. Let $\{v_1, \dots, v_{n_{\rm f}}\}$ denote a basis of $\mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$, where $v_k \in D(\mathcal{A}), k = 1, \dots, n_{\rm f}$ and $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$. Since $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})$ is invertible, $\{(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_1, \dots, (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_- - - n_{\rm f}\}$ are independent. By the \mathcal{A} -invariance property of \mathcal{V} and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant property $V_{\rm R}$, it follows that $\mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$ is \mathcal{A} -invariant, and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_k \in \mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$ for all $k \in \{1, \dots, n_{\rm f}$. Therefore, $\{(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_1, \dots, (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_k\}$ is a basis of $\mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$, and consequently $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}$.

Now, we show the result by contradiction. Assume that \mathscr{V} is not $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ invariant. Therefore, there exists $\mathscr{U}_{\rm f} \subset \mathscr{V}$ such that $\mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{U}_{\rm f}$ (i.e. $(\lambda\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}} = \mathscr{U}_{\rm f}$) and $\mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}} \cap \mathscr{V} = 0$. Now, let $\lambda_1 = \lambda + \zeta$, where $\zeta > 0$. By definition of $\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ and $(\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}} \cap \mathscr{V} = 0$ (given that $v_u \in \mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}}$, we obtains $(\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_u = (\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_u + \zeta v_u$, $(\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})v_u \in \mathscr{V}$, and consequently $(\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V}_{{\rm u},{\rm f}} \cap \mathscr{V} = 0$). Moreover, $(\lambda_1\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subset \mathscr{V}$, and given that $(\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) = \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$ (by using Lemma 5.9) and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V}_{f} = \mathscr{V}_{f}$, we obtain $(\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) = \mathscr{V}$ (otherwise, there exists $v \in \mathscr{V} \subset \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$ such that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})v \notin \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$), and by Lemma 5.9, item 4), \mathscr{V} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant that is in contradiction with the above assumption. This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

Remark 5.12. In the above proof, the finite dimensionality of $\mathcal{V}_{\rm f}$ plays a crucial role as explained, below.

- 1. Since dim(\mathscr{V}_{f}) < ∞ , we obtain $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V}_{f} = \mathscr{V}_{f}$.
- 2. If $\dim(\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}) = \infty$, then $\overline{\mathscr{V} + \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}} \neq \mathscr{V} + \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}$ does not hold in general.

5.3.2 Conditioned Invariant Subspaces

In this subsection, the conditioned invariant subspaces of the system (5.1) are characterized. As in Chapter 4, we have the following definitions.

Definition 5.13. *[103]*

- 1. The closed subspace \mathscr{W} is called $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A}) \cap \ker \mathcal{C}) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.
- The closed subspace W is feedback (C,A)-invariant if there exists a bounded operator D : ℝ^q → H such that W is invariant with respect to (A + DC) as per Definition 5.8.
- 3. The closed subspace \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant if there exists a bounded operator $\mathcal{D}: \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathcal{H}$ such that (i) the operator $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ is the infinitesimal generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$; and (ii) \mathscr{W} is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$ -invariant.

Example 5.14. Definitions 5.13 are not equivalent.

Let us now consider the following dynamical system

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{x}}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{x}}{\partial z^2},$$

$$y(t) = \int_0^{0.5} \tilde{x}(t, z) dz,$$
(5.7)

where $z \in [0, 1]$ and $\tilde{x}(t, 0) = \tilde{x}(t, 1) = 0$. Let \mathscr{W} denote the subspace of all functions satisfying the boundary conditions and are equal to zero almost everywhere in (0.5, 1]. By following the same steps as in [101, Example I.6], it can be shown that \mathscr{W} is

emphnot $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant. However, by setting $\mathcal{D} = 0$, \mathscr{W} is feedback (\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})-invariant and invoking Lemma 4.15, it follows that \mathscr{W} is not \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant). Therefore, the \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariance property is more stronger than feedback (\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})invariant.

For developing a solution to the FDI of Inf-D systems, we are interested in cases in which the Definition 5.13, items 1) to 3) coincide. To the best of our knowledge, there is no necessary and sufficient condition for this equivalence in the literature. It should be pointed out that the results in [108] are applicable to emphonly single input single output systems. Also, the results of Chapter 4 are mainly applied to regular RS systems.

Motivated by the above example, and following Lemmas 5.1 and 5.5, we provide the main result of this section in theorem, below.

Theorem 5.15. Consider the system (5.1) and the bounded finite rank output operator C (rank(C) = q). Also, let \mathcal{W} denote a (C, A)-invariant subspace such that $\overline{D(A) \cap \mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{W}$.

- 1. \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant.
- 2. There exists a $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$ such that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$ and
 - (a) The subspace \mathscr{W} can be represented as $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} + \mathscr{W}_{\underline{f}}$ such that $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ is a $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace contained in \mathscr{W} , and $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{f}}$ is a Fin-D subspace, or

- (b) There exists a ℋ_f ⊆ D(A) such that (i) ℋ_f ∩ ker C = 0, (ii) <u>D</u>(ℋ) ∩ <u>D</u>(ℋ_f) ≠ Ø, and (iii) ℋ_R = ℋ + ℋ_f, where ℋ_R is a R(λ, A)-invariant containing ℋ.
- 3. For every $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$, we have $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$ and
 - (a) The subspace \mathscr{W} can be represented as $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$ such that \mathscr{W}_{f} is a Fin-D subspace, or
 - (b) There exists a Fin-D \mathscr{W}_{f} such that(i) $\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$, (ii) $\underline{D}(\mathscr{W}) \cap \underline{D}(\mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}) \neq \emptyset$, and $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{\mathrm{R}}} = \mathscr{W} + \mathscr{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$.

Proof. Since \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C},\mathcal{A})$ -invariant, by using Lemma 4.14 there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})(\mathscr{W} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}$ and the operator $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}$ is infinitesimal generator of the C_0 semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}$. By using Theorem 2.1.12 in [14] (the Hille-Yosida theorem), where it is shown that for every infinitesimal generator \mathcal{A} there exists a finite real number $r \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $[r, \infty) \subset \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$, it follows that $(\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}))$ is not empty.

 $(1 \Rightarrow 2 \text{ and } 3)$: Assume \mathscr{W} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant, and consider the bounded operator \mathcal{D} such that $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}}\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Let $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. By using Lemma 5.9, one obtains $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}+\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})\mathscr{W} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Let $x \in \mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$ and $y = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x \in \mathscr{W}$. Since $x \in \ker \mathcal{C}$ one can write $y = (\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x =$ $(\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x$. and consequently since \mathscr{W} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant we have x = $(\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}y \in \mathscr{W}$. In other words, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$.

By invoking contradiction we show that one of the conditions 2-a) or 2-b) is a necessary condition. Assume that both conditions fail, and consider the smallest subspace $\mathscr{W}_{\rm f}$ such that $\mathscr{W}_{\rm \overline{R}} = \overline{\mathscr{W} + \mathscr{W}_{\rm f}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant containing \mathscr{W} and $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{\rm f}) = \infty$. Note that $\mathscr{W}_{\rm f}$ does not contain any $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace (since $\mathscr{W}_{\rm f}$ is the smallest subspace to construct $W_{\rm \overline{R}}$). Given that \mathcal{C} is finite rank and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$, it follows that $\mathscr{W}_1 = \mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{W} \cap (\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{W} \cap \mathscr{W})^{\perp} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ is Fin-D and $\mathscr{W}_1 \cap \ker \mathcal{C} = 0$. Moreover, $\mathscr{W}_1 \subset \mathscr{W}_f$, and since $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ invariant, and conditions 2-a) and 2-b) are not satisfied there are only two possibilities as follows:

1. There exists a $k_0 \ge 0$ such that for every $n \ge k_0$ we have $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})^n \mathscr{W}_1 \cap \mathscr{W} = 0$. Note that if the condition 2-b) is satisfied, this condition fails. For example, assume condition 2-b) is satisfied (i.e., there exists a Fin-D $\mathscr{W}_{f,2} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_1$ satisfying condition 2-b) and consider the Inf-D subspace $\mathscr{W}_c \subset \mathscr{W}$ such that $\mathscr{W}_c + \mathscr{W}_{f,2}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant. Therefore, for k_0 it is possible to have n and $y \in \mathscr{W}_{f,2}$ such that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})^n y \in \mathscr{W} \subset \mathscr{W}$.

By selecting $\mathscr{W}_{f,R} = \operatorname{span}\{\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})^n y\} \underset{n=k_0}{\infty} \text{ and } y \in \mathscr{W}_1$, it follows that $\mathscr{W}_{f,R} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_f$ and $\mathscr{W}_{f,R}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant that is in contradiction with the definition of \mathscr{W}_f .

2. For every $k \geq 1$, there exists an $n \geq k$ and $y_k \in \mathscr{W}_1$ such that $x_k = \mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})^n y \in \mathscr{W}$. If $x_k \in \ker \mathcal{C}$, it follows that $(\lambda_1 \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A}) x_k \notin \mathscr{W}$ that is in contradiction with the $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariance assumption of \mathscr{W} . Hence, let $x_k \notin \ker \mathcal{C}$, and given that \mathcal{C} is finite rank, it follows that there exist k_0 sufficiently large such that span $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{k_0}$ constructs a $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace, and consequently $\mathscr{W} + \operatorname{span}\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{k_0}$ is also $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant that is again in contradiction with definition of \mathscr{W}_{f} .

Hence, it is necessary that the condition 2-b) is satisfied (that is in contradiction with the assumption) or to have $\dim(\mathcal{W}_{\mathrm{f}}) < \infty$ that is equivalent to the condition 2-a). Therefore, at least one of the conditions 2-a) or 2-b) is satisfied.

Finally, given that the above analysis holds for any $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$, it follows that the condition 1) also implies conditions 3).

 $(\mathbf{3} \Rightarrow \mathbf{1})$: Let $y \in \mathscr{W}$ such that $x = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^{-1}y \in \ker \mathcal{C}$. It follows that $y = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x$ for any bounded operator \mathcal{D} and $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap$ $\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$. Consequently, we obtain $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})y \in \mathscr{W}$ (since $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathscr{W}$).

First, assume that condition 3-a) is satisfied and let $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$. Without loss of any generality we assume $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f} = 0$. Since $\overline{\mathscr{W}} \cap D(\mathcal{A}) = \mathscr{W}, \overline{\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}} \cap D(\mathcal{A}) = \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ and dim $(\mathscr{W}_{f}) < \infty$, without loss of any generality we assume $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$. Also, given that \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant and $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ is \mathcal{A} -invariant, we obtain \mathscr{W}_{f} is $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ invariant, and consequently it is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant (by using Lemma 4.12). Therefore, there exists an operator \mathcal{D} such that $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} = 0$ and $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})\mathscr{W}_{f} \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{f}$ (since $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f} = 0$ and \mathscr{W}_{f} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant, by following along the same steps as in Theorem 4.17, the operator \mathcal{D} always exists). Now, let $y = y_{r} + y_{f} \in \mathscr{W}$ and $x = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})y$, where $y_{r} \in \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ and $y_{f} \in \mathscr{W}_{f}$. Also, set $x = x_{r} + x_{f}$, where $x_{r} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})y_{r}$ and $x_{f} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})y_{f} \in \mathscr{W}$. It follows that $x_{r} \in \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ and $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x_{r} = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})x_{r} = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})y_{r}$, and consequently $x \in \mathscr{W}$. In other words, \mathscr{W} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant, and hence it is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant.

Now, assume that the condition 3-b) is satisfied and let $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}} = \mathscr{W} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$, where $\dim(\mathscr{W}_{f}) < \infty$ and \mathscr{W}_{f} is the smallest subspace to ensure $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant and $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$. As above, without loss of any generality we assume $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$, and $\mathscr{W} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f} = 0$. We first show that $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$. Since $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is \mathcal{A} -invariant, it can be shown that $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C} \subset \mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$, and also by definition we have $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$. Now, set $x = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})y$ for an arbitrary $y \in \mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$. It follows that $z = (\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})x = y + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C}x \in \mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$. Given that $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant, it follows that $x \in \mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$. Therefore, $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant. Finally, since \mathscr{W} is $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant, \mathscr{W}_{f} is Fin-D and $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant, by using Lemma 5.11 we obtain \mathscr{W} is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{C})$ -invariant. This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Remark 5.16. By invoking Corollary 4.9 in Chapter 4, every $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspace of RS systems can be expressed as a sum of sub-eigenspaces (as per (4.8)). Therefore, for RS systems conditions 2-a) can be represented as $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\phi} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$. As emphasized earlier, for design of an FDI scheme, one needs to determine the smallest unobservability subspace (in the inclusion sense) containing a given subspace. For computing the smallest unobservability subspace one needs first to compute the minimal conditioned invariant subspace [3]. However, as shown in [105] the smallest T-conditioned invariant may not always exist. In [103], the following algorithm is proposed for computing the minimal (C, A)-invariant subspace (and emphnot T-conditioned invariant) containing a given subspace \mathscr{L} . Specifically,

Set
$$\mathscr{W}^0 = \mathscr{L}, \ \mathscr{W}^k = \overline{\mathscr{L} + \mathcal{A}(\mathscr{W}^{k-1} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \cap D(\mathcal{A}))}.$$
 (5.8)

However, as pointed out in [103], given that the above algorithm is non-decreasing, its limiting subspace may not be closed, and consequently it is not conditioned invariant in the sense of Definition 5.13, item 1)-item 3). Note that the above algorithm may not converge to the minimal \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant even if such a subspace exists.

5.3.3 Controlled Invariant Subspaces

In this subsection, we address the controlled invariant subspaces and investigate the duality property between conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces.

Consider system (5.1) and the finite rank input operator (5.2). Corresponding to a conditioned invariant subspace, we have three different controlled invariant subspaces as follows:

Definition 5.17. [103]

- 1. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is called $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariant if $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \overline{\mathscr{V} + \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}}$.
- The closed subspace V ⊆ X is feedback-(A,B)-invariant if there exists an operator F : X → ℝ^m such that V is invariant with respect to (A + BF) as per Definition 5.8.

3. The closed subspace $\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{X}$ is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant subspace if there exists an operator $\mathcal{F} : \mathscr{X} \to \mathbb{R}^m$ such that (i) the operator $(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})$ is the infinitesimal generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{BF}}$; and (ii) \mathscr{V} is invariant with respect to $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{BF}}$.

Note that since \mathcal{B} is finite rank $(\dim(\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}) < \infty)$, using Lemma 4.13 we have $\overline{\mathscr{V} + \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}} = \mathscr{V} + \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}$. Also, as mentioned before we consider the controlled invariant subspaces that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$. As \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspaces, for the \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant subspace, the set of all state feedbacks \mathcal{F} such that $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{FB}} \mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V}$ (i.e., \mathcal{F} is friend operator of \mathscr{V}) is denoted by $\underline{F}(\mathscr{V})$.

Now, we provide an important result on the controlled invariant subspaces. In fact, this theorem is dual to that of Theorem 5.15.

Theorem 5.18. Consider the system (5.1) and the $(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$ -invariant subspace \mathscr{V} such that $\overline{\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{V}$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- 1. \mathscr{V} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant.
- 2. There exists a $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})$ such that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A}) \mathscr{B} + \mathscr{V}$ and
 - (a) The subspace \mathscr{V} can be represented as $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}} \cap \mathscr{V}_{f}^{\perp}$ such that $\mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_{1}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant and is defined in Section 1.6 and $\mathscr{V}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$, or
 - (b) There exists a Fin-D $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$ such that (i) $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp} + \mathscr{B} = \mathcal{X}$, (ii) $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}$ is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant with $\underline{F}(\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}) \cap \underline{F}(\mathscr{V}) \neq 0$, and $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{\mathrm{R}}} = \mathscr{V} \cap \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}$, where $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{\mathrm{R}}} \ \mathcal{R}(\lambda_1, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant is defined in Section 1.6.
- 3. For every $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})$, we have $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{B} + \mathscr{V}$ and
 - (a) The subspace \mathscr{V} can be represented as $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}} \cap \mathscr{V}_{f}^{\perp}$ such that $\mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant and is defined in Section 1.6 and $\mathscr{V}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$, or

(b) There exists a Fin-D $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^*)$ such that (i) $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp} + \mathscr{B} = \mathcal{X}$, (ii) $\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}$ is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant with $\underline{F}(\mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}) \cap \underline{F}(\mathscr{V}) \neq 0$ and $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{\mathrm{R}}} = \mathscr{V} \cap \mathscr{V}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\perp}$, where $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{\mathrm{R}}} \ \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant is defined in Section 1.6.

where \mathscr{B} is the range of the input operator \mathcal{B} (i.e. $\mathscr{B} = \operatorname{Im} \mathcal{B}$).

Proof. We show the results by using the duality property.

 $(\mathbf{1} \Rightarrow \mathbf{2} \text{ and } \mathbf{3})$: Since \mathscr{V} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant, it follows that $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{V}^{\perp}$ is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant with respect to the operator $(\mathcal{A}^* + \mathcal{F}^*\mathcal{B}^*)$ (by using Lemma 4.29). From Theorem 5.15 it follows that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^*)\mathscr{W} \cap \ker \mathcal{B}^* \subseteq \mathscr{W}$. Hence, we obtain $\mathscr{V} \subseteq ((\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A})(\mathscr{V} \cap D(\mathcal{A})) + \mathscr{B})$. Therefore, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{V} \subseteq \mathscr{V} + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathscr{B}$.

Now, we show that the conditions 2-a) and 2-b) are dual to the conditions 2-a) and 2-b) in the Theorem 5.15, respectively. By using Theorem 5.15, there are two cases as follows:

- 1. Let $\mathscr{W} = \mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$ such that $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ is defined in Theorem 5.15 and \mathscr{W}_{f} is a Fin-D subspace. Since $D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$ is densely defined in the both subspaces \mathscr{W} and $W_{\underline{R}}$, we obtain $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$. Given that $\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}}$ is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^{*} + \mathcal{F}^{*}\mathcal{B}^{*}}$ -invariant, the subspace $\mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}} = (\mathscr{W}_{\underline{R}})^{\perp}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_{1}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant. Moreover, set $\mathscr{V}_{inf} = (\mathscr{W}_{f})^{\perp}$. Consequently, $\mathscr{V} = \mathscr{V}_{\overline{R}} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f}^{\perp}$.
- 2. Assume that there exists a Fin-D \mathscr{W}_{f} such that $\mathscr{W}_{f} \cap \ker \mathcal{B}^{*} = 0$, and $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}} = \mathscr{W} + \mathscr{W}_{f}$, where $\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}}$ is defined in Theorem 5.15 for \mathcal{A}^{*} . As above, $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{R}} = (\mathscr{W}_{\overline{R}})^{\perp}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda_{1}, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant, and $\mathscr{W}_{f} \subset D(\mathcal{A}^{*})$. Moreover, since $\mathscr{W}_{f} \cap \ker \mathcal{B}^{*} = 0$, we obtain $\mathscr{W}_{f}^{\perp} + \mathscr{B} = \mathcal{X}$, and \mathscr{W}_{f}^{\perp} is \mathbb{T} -controlled invariant with $\underline{F}(\mathscr{W}_{f}^{\perp}) \cap \underline{F}(\mathscr{V}) \neq \emptyset$ (since \mathscr{W}_{f} is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant with $\underline{D}(\mathscr{W}_{f}) \cap \underline{D}(\mathscr{W})$). Finally, it follows that $\mathscr{V}_{\underline{R}} = \mathscr{V} \cap \mathscr{W}_{f}^{\perp}$.

Since all the above derivations hold for every $\lambda_1 \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{BF})$, we also obtain the conditions 3-a) and 3-b).
$(3 \Rightarrow 1)$: By following along the same steps (i.e. by applying the duality property), one can show this part. This completes the proof of the theorem.

In the next section, we use the above theorem to address unobservability subspaces.

5.3.4 Unobservability Subspace

In the geometric FDI approach, one needs another invariant subspace, namely the unobservability subspace. In this section, we characterize this subspace.

Definition 5.19. Unobservability subspace

- The subspace S is called an A-unobservability subspace for the system (5.1), if there exist two bounded operators D : ℝ^q → X and H : ℝ^q → ℝ^{qh} where q_h ≤ q such that S is the largest (A + DC)-invariant subspace contained in ker HC. We denote the largest A-invariant subspace contained in C by < C|A>, and hence we have S =< ker HC|A + DC>.
- 2. The subspace S is called an \mathbb{T} -unobservability subspace for the system (5.1), if there exist two bounded operators $\mathcal{D} : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathcal{X}$ and $H : \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathbb{R}^{q_h}$ where $q_h \leq q$ such that S is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}}$ -invariant subspace contained in ker HC, and hence we have $S = < \ker HC | \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}+\mathcal{DC}} >$.

It follows that the T-unobservability subspace S is the unobservable subspace of the system $(\mathcal{HC}, \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{DC})$. Also, every T-unobservability subspace is a T-conditioned invariant subspace.

Remark 5.20. As conditioned invariant there is no algorithm that compute the smallest conditioned invariant. However, if the following algorithm converges in a finite number of steps the limiting subspace is the smallest unobservability subspace

containing a Fin-D subspace $\mathscr{L} \subset D(\mathcal{A})$ [103].

$$\mathcal{S}^{0} = \mathcal{X}, \ \mathcal{S}^{k} = \overline{\mathscr{W}^{*} + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{S}^{k-1} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}},$$
(5.9)

where \mathscr{W}^* is the smallest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace containing \mathscr{L} .

5.3.5 Summary

In this section, we have first reviewed $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}}$ -invariant subspaces. Necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of conditioned invariant subspaces were derived and obtained. Also, we reviewed the duality and controlled invariant subspaces. Moreover, we have introduced the unobservability subspace of Inf-D systems.

5.4 Fault Detection and Isolation Inf-D Systems

In this section, we first formulate the FDI problem and then by using the methodology that is developed in the previous section, we provide a necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of this problem.

5.4.1 The FDI Problem Statement

Consider the following faulty Inf-D systems

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{L}_{i}f_{i}(t),$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t),$$
(5.10)

where f_i and the bounded operator \mathcal{L}_i are fault signals and signatures, respectively. The other operators are defined as in (5.1), (5.2) and (5.3). The FDI problem is now specified as that of generating a set of residual signals, $r_i(t)$, $i = 1, \dots, p$ such that each residual signal $r_i(t)$ is decoupled from the inputs and all faults, but one fault $f_i(t)$. In other words, the residual signal $r_i(t)$ satisfies the following conditions

$$\forall u, f_j, \text{ if } f_i = 0 \implies r_i \to 0, \tag{5.11a}$$

$$\forall u, f_j, \text{ if } f_i \neq 0 \Rightarrow r_i > \epsilon, \ \epsilon > 0.$$
 (5.11b)

In other words, condition (5.11a) ensures that r_i is decoupled from all faults but f_i and condition (5.11b) guarantees that r_i is sensitive to f_i . Moreover, the realization of the residual signal $r_i(t)$ is accomplished by using the following fault detection filter

$$\dot{\omega}_i(t) = \mathcal{A}_o \omega_i(t) + \mathcal{B}_o u(t) + \mathcal{E}_i \mathcal{C} x(t),$$

$$r_i(t) = H_i y(t) - \mathcal{M}_i \omega_i(t),$$
(5.12)

where $\omega_i(t) \in \mathcal{X}_o^i$ and \mathcal{X}_o^i is a separable Hilbert space (Fin-D or Inf-D). The operators $\mathcal{A}_o, \mathcal{B}_o, \text{ and } \mathcal{E}_i$ are closed with appropriate domains and codomains. For example, $\mathcal{A}_o: \mathcal{X}_o^i \to \mathcal{X}_o^i$ and $\mathcal{E}_i: \mathbb{R}^q \to \mathcal{X}_o^i$. However, unlike Chapter 4, in this chapter the operators \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_o are not necessarily RS operators. The specific characteristics of the filter operators and parameters will be designed and determined subsequently.

Remark 5.21. As in Chapters 3 and 4, the problem of detection and isolation of a fault f_i involves two main steps as follows: First, (i) derive a subsystem that is decoupled from all faults but f_i (this is denoted as the decoupling problem), and second (ii) design a detection filter (as per equation (5.12)) to detect and isolate the fault f_i . If both steps are solvable, we then say that the FDI problem is solvable.

5.4.2 Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for Solvability of the FDI Problem

In this subsection, by using the methodology that was developed above, necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem are provided. As stated in Subsection 5.4.1, the FDI problem can be cast as that of designing detection filters as per equation (5.12) such that each residual is decoupled from all faults but one.

By augmenting the system (5.1) and the detection filter (5.12), one can write

$$\dot{x}^{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}^{e} x^{e}(t) + \mathcal{B}^{e} u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{L}_{i}^{e} f_{i}(t),$$

$$r_{i}(t) = \mathcal{C}^{e} x^{e}(t),$$
(5.13)

where
$$x^{e}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x(t) \\ \omega_{i}(t) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{X}^{e} = \mathcal{X} \oplus \mathcal{X}^{i}_{o}, \ \mathcal{C}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{i}\mathcal{C} & -\mathcal{M}_{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
and
$$\mathcal{A}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & 0 \\ \mathcal{E}_{i}\mathcal{C} & \mathcal{A}_{o} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathcal{B}^{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{B}_{o} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathcal{L}^{e}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{i} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.14)

Given that \mathcal{A}_o in equation (5.12) is an infinitesimal generator of a C_0 semigroup and \mathcal{E}_i , and consequently $\mathcal{E}_i \mathcal{C}$ are bounded operators, by using Lemma 4.36 - item 1) the operator \mathcal{A}^e is an infinitesimal generator of a C_0 semigroup. The following lemma characterizes the resolvent operator of \mathcal{A}^e .

Lemma 5.22. Consider the operator
$$\mathcal{A}^e = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}_{11} & 0 \\ \mathcal{A}_{21} & \mathcal{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
, where $\mathcal{A}_{11} \mathcal{A}_{22}$ are infinitesimal generator and \mathcal{A}_{21} is a bounded operator. If $\lambda \in (\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{11}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{22}))$, then $\lambda \in \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e)$ and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11}) & 0 \\ -\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22})\mathcal{A}_{21}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11}) & \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22}) \end{bmatrix}$.

Proof. Let $\lambda \in (\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{11}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{22}))$. Therefore, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11})$ and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22})$ are welldefined and bounded. Now, let $\mathcal{R} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11}) & 0\\ -\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22})\mathcal{A}_{21}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11}) & \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22}) \end{bmatrix}$. It follows that $(\lambda \mathcal{I} - \mathcal{A}^e)\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{I}$. Also, given that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{11})$ and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_{22})$ are bounded,

it follows that \mathcal{R} is bounded. Hence, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e) = \mathcal{R}$ and $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}^e)$. This completes the proof of the lemma.

The following lemma shows the relationship between the unobservable subspace of the system (5.13) and the unobservability subspace of the system (5.1). This property will be used to derive the necessary conditions for the FDI problem solvability.

Lemma 5.23. Consider the system (5.13) and let $\mathcal{N}^e = \langle \ker \mathcal{C}^e | \mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^e} \rangle$. Then, $\mathcal{Q}^{-1}\mathcal{N}^e$ is an unobservability subspace of the system (5.1), where \mathcal{Q} is the embedding operator given by $\mathcal{Q}: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}^e$ and $\mathcal{Q}x = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$.

Proof. Since \mathscr{N}^e is $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^e}$ -invariant, it is also \mathscr{A}^e -invariant [103]. Also, by using Lemma 5.9 we have $\mathscr{R}(\lambda, \mathscr{A}^e) \mathscr{N}^e \subseteq \mathscr{N}^e$, where $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathscr{A}^e)$. Let $\mathscr{S} = \mathscr{Q}^{-1} \mathscr{N}^e$, and assume that $\begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}^e$ and $x \in D(\mathscr{A}) \cap \ker \mathscr{C}$. It follows that $\mathscr{A}x \in \mathscr{S}$ (or $\mathscr{A}(\mathscr{S} \cap \ker \mathscr{C} \cap D(\mathscr{A})) \subseteq \mathscr{S}$). Since $\overline{\mathscr{N}^e \cap D(\mathscr{A})} = \mathscr{N}^e$, by following along the same steps as in Lemma 4.37, we obtain $\overline{\mathscr{S} \cap D(\mathscr{A})} = \mathscr{S}$. Therefore, by using Lemma 4.14, it follows that \mathscr{S} is a feedback $(\mathscr{C}, \mathscr{A})$ -invariant subspace.

Now consider $\begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}^e$, such that $x \in \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{S} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}$, where $\lambda \in (\rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) \cap \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_o))$. By using Lemma 5.22, one can write $\lambda \in \rho_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}^e)$, and (refer to Lemma 5.22)

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) & 0\\ -\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_o) \mathcal{ECR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) & \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_o) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.15)

Therefore, by using the fact that \mathscr{N}^e is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e)$ -invariant one can write $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}^e) \begin{bmatrix} x \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} =$

 $\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \\ -\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A}_o)\mathcal{ECR}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{N}^e. \text{ Invoking the assumption } \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \in \ker \mathcal{C}, \text{ we}$ have $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})x \in \mathcal{S} \subseteq \ker H\mathcal{C}.$ In other words, $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})\mathcal{S} \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{S} \cap \ker \mathcal{C}.$

Finally, by invoking contradiction, we show that one of the conditions 2-a) or 2-b) in Theorem 5.15 is satisfied. Hence, let us now assume that both conditions fail

and $S_{\overline{R}} = \overline{S + S_{f}}$, where dim $(S_{f}) = \infty$, S_{f} contains no $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace, and $S_{\overline{R}}$ is $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})$ -invariant subspace. Since both conditions 2-a) and 2-b) fail and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})S \cap \ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq S$, it follows that there is a subspace $S_{r} \subset S$ such that $S_{r} \cap$ $(\ker H\mathcal{C})^{\perp} \neq 0$, and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^{n}S_{r} \not\subseteq S$. Again, since $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})S \cap$ $\ker \mathcal{C} \subseteq S$, there exists a k_{0} and $y \in S_{r}$ such that $S_{k_{0}} = \operatorname{span}\{\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})^{n}y\} \underset{n=k_{0}}{\overset{\infty}{n=k_{0}}}$ and $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{A})S_{k_{0}} \subseteq S_{k_{0}}$ that is in contradiction with the definition of S_{f} . In other words, S satisfies at least one of the conditions 2-a) and 2-b), and consequently it is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant of the system (5.1). Moreover, since \mathscr{N}^{e} is the largest $\mathbb{T}_{\mathcal{A}^{e-1}}$ invariant subspace in $\ker [H_{i}\mathcal{C} \ \mathcal{M}_{i}]$, the subspace S is the largest \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant subspace that is contained in ker $H_{i}\mathcal{C}$. Therefore, S is an unobservability subspace of the system (5.1). This completes the proof of the lemma.

To provide sufficient conditions, one needs to show that the error dynamics of the designed fault detection observer is stable. As in Chapter 4, we use Lemma 4.39 for this purpose. Now, we are in the position to provide the necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem.

Theorem 5.24. Consider the system (5.10). The FDI problem is solvable only if

$$\mathcal{S}_i^* \cap \mathscr{L}_i = 0, \tag{5.16}$$

where $S_i^* = \langle \ker H_i \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C} \rangle$ is the smallest unobservability subspace containing all $\mathscr{L}_j = \operatorname{span} \{\mathcal{L}_j\}$, where $j = 1, \cdots, p$ and $j \neq i$, and $\mathscr{L}_i = \operatorname{span} \{\mathcal{L}_i\}$. Moreover, if there exist two maps \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{P}_e such that $(\mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o H_i \mathcal{C})$ and \mathcal{P}_e satisfy the condition (4.23), then the FDI problem is solvable, where $\mathcal{A}_p = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C})|_{\mathcal{X}/S_i^*}$ is the induced operator of $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C}$ on the factor space $\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}^*$ and $\mathcal{D}_i \in \underline{D}(\mathcal{S}_i^*)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we consider the system (5.10) that is subject to two faults f_1 and f_2 . However, the results are applicable to any number of faults. (Necessary Part): Assume that the detection filter (5.12) is designed such that the residual (the output of the filter) is decoupled from f_2 but it is sensitive to f_1 .

By considering the augmented system (5.13), it is necessary that $\mathscr{L}_2^e \subseteq \mathscr{N}^e$, (\mathscr{L}_i^e) is defined in equation (5.14)), where \mathscr{N}^e is the unobservable subspace of system (5.13), and by using Lemma 5.23, the subspace $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{Q}^{-1} \mathscr{N}^e$ is an unobservability subspace of the pair $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$ that contains $Q^{-1}\mathscr{L}_2^e = \mathscr{L}_2$ (i.e., $\mathscr{L}_2 \subseteq \mathscr{S}$). By detecting the fault f_1 (that is an arbitrary function of time), it implies that $\mathscr{N}^e \cap \mathscr{L}_1^e = 0$, and consequently $\mathcal{S} \cap \mathscr{L}_1 = 0$. Since \mathcal{S}_1^* is the minimal unobservability subspace containing \mathscr{L}_2 (i.e., $\mathcal{S}_1^* \subseteq \mathscr{S}$), the necessary condition for satisfying the above condition is $\mathcal{S}_1^* \cap \mathscr{L}_1 = 0$.

(Sufficient Part): If the condition (5.16) is satisfied for f_1 , one can write $\mathcal{X} = \overline{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_1^* \oplus \mathcal{S}_1^*}$, and \mathcal{S}_1^* is \mathbb{T}_{A+DC} -invariant. As in previous chapters, consider the canonical projection $\mathcal{P}_1 : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_1^*$ and the following detection filter

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{F}_1 \omega_1(t) + \mathcal{G}_1 u(t) - \mathcal{E}_1 y(t)$$

$$r_1(t) = \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t) - H_1 y(t)$$
(5.17)

where $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{A}_p + \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_1$, $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{B}$ and $\mathcal{E}_1 = \mathcal{D}_1 + \mathcal{P}_1^{-r} \mathcal{D}_o H_1$. By following along the same steps in Section 2.2 one obtains the error dynamics associated with the signal $e(t) = \mathcal{P}_1 x(t) - \omega_1(t)$ is given by

$$\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{F}_1 e(t) + \mathcal{L}_{11} f_1(t).$$
 (5.18)

By using results in Lemma 4.39, the error dynamics (5.18) can be made to be exponentially stable. Therefore, if $f_1 = 0$ then $e(t) \to 0$. Otherwise $||e(t)|| > \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, where $e(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{q_h}$ and $q_h = \dim(\operatorname{Im} H)$. By setting $r_1(t) = \mathcal{M}e(t)$, the conditions in equation (5.11) are satisfied and the FDI problem is rendered solvable. This completes the proof of the theorem.

As developed in Chapter 4, the following corollaries present two special cases, where the condition (5.16) is a single necessary and sufficient condition for solvability of the FDI problem (5.11). **Corollary 5.25.** Consider the unobservability subspace S^* and the system $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{A}_p)$, where the operator \mathcal{A}_p is exponentially stable (by satisfying the condition in Lemma 4.39). The condition (5.16) is necessary and sufficient for solvability of the FDI problem (5.11).

Proof. The necessary condition follows from Theorem 5.24. Hence, we show the sufficient part. As illustrated above, the detection and isolation of the fault f_i is restricted to design of an observer for the quotient subsystem $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{A}_p)$ (that is to obtain \mathcal{D}_o). However, given that \mathcal{A}_p is exponentially stable, by defining $\mathcal{D}_o = 0$, we obtain the following detection filter

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{A}_p \omega_1(t) + \mathcal{G}_1 u(t),$$

$$r_1(t) = H_1 y(t) - \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t),$$
(5.19)

where \mathcal{M}_1 is the solution of $\mathcal{M}_1\mathcal{P}_1 = H_1\mathcal{C}$. It follows that the error dynamics (that is $e(t) = \mathcal{P}_1x(t) - \omega_1(t)$) is given by $\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}_p e(t)$, which is exponentially stable. Therefore, if $f_1(t) = 0$, it follows that $r_1(t) \to 0$, and if $f_1(t) \neq 0$ one obtains $||r_1(t)|| > \epsilon, \epsilon > 0$. This completes the proof of the corollary.

Corollary 5.26. Consider the system (5.10) and the unobservability subspace S^* such that \mathcal{X}/S^* is Fin-D. The condition (5.16) is necessary and sufficient for solvability of the FDI problem (5.11).

Proof. The necessary condition follows from the results in Theorem 5.24. Moreover, by following along the same steps as in Theorem 5.24 one obtains the quotient subsystem (M_1, A_p) such that it is decoupled from all fault but one. Moreover, since this subsystem is a Fin-D system with $\mathcal{N} = 0$, it follows that it is observable and there exists an observer gain such that $A_p + D_o M_1$ is Hurwitz. By following along the same steps as in the Corollary 5.25 the sufficient result follows. This completes the proof of the corollary.



Figure 5.1: The diagram showing the relationships among lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed and presented in this chapter. For definition of the contributions refer to Subsection 1.4.2.

5.4.3 Summary

In this section, we have formulated the FDI problem and by utilizing the geometric theory that was developed in the preceding section, we have derived, for the first time in the literature, necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem for Inf-D systems. For more details and clarification Figure 5.1 provides a schematic that depicts the relationship among the various lemmas, theorems and corollaries that are developed in this chapter. The contribution of this chapter has been summarized in Subsection 1.4.2.

Moreover, Table 5.1 summarizes the FDI scheme that was developed in this section.

Table 5.1: A Pseudo-algorithm for detecting and isolating the fault f_i for the Inf-D system (5.10).

```
1. Obtain the smallest conditioned invariant subspace \mathscr{W}^*
   containing all \mathcal{L}_k subspaces such that k \neq i.
2. Obtain the unobservability subspace \mathcal{S}^*_i containing \sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{L}^1_j.
3. Compute the operator \mathcal{D}_i such that \mathcal{D}_i \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}(\mathscr{W}^*).
4. Find the operator H such that ker H_i = \mathcal{CS}_i^*.
5. If \mathcal{S}^*_i \cap \mathcal{L}_i = 0, then the necessary condition for solvability
   of the FDI problem is satisfied. Moreover, if one of the
   following conditions are satisfied, the FDI problem is
   solvable. In other words, one can design a detection filter
   according to the structure provided in (5.12) to detect and
   isolate the fault f_i,
      ullet If there exists a bounded operator \mathcal{D}_o such that the
         conditions of Theorem 5.24 are satisfied, or
      • The condition of the Corollary 5.25 is satisfied.
      • If \dim(\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_i^*) < \infty (i.e. the condition of the Corollary
         5.26 is satisfied).
   The operators in the detection filter (5.12) are defined as
   follows. Let \mathcal{P}_i be the canonical projection of \mathcal{S}_i^*, then
   \mathcal{A}_o = (\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{C})|_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}^*_i}, \mathcal{B}_o = \mathcal{P}_i \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}_i \mathcal{P}_i = H_i \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{D}_o H_i and
   \mathcal{D}_o is selected such that (\mathcal{A}_p \ + \ \mathcal{D}_o \mathcal{M}_i) satisfies the condition
   of Lemma 4.39. Moreover, the output of the detection filter
   (i.e., r_i(t)) is the residual that satisfies the conditions in
   equation (5.11).
```

5.5 Numerical Example

In this section, we provide a numerical example to emphasize the applicability of our proposed approach in this chapter. Consider the following Inf-D system

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mathcal{A}x(t) + \mathcal{B}u(t) + \mathcal{L}_1 f_1(t) + \mathcal{L}_2 f_2(t) + \nu(t),$$

$$y(t) = \mathcal{C}x(t) + w(t),$$
 (5.20)

where ν_i and w_i (i = 1, 2) denote the process and measurement noise that are assumed to be normal distributions with 0.1 and 0.2 variances, respectively. Also,

$$J_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} -k & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -k & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -k & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -k \end{bmatrix}, \mathcal{A} = \operatorname{diag}(J_{1}, J_{2}, \cdots),$$

$$b_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0.5 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, b_{2,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 2 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$b_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{k^{3}} & \frac{1}{k^{3}} & \frac{1}{k^{3}} \end{bmatrix}, b^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} b_{1,1} & b_{3} & b_{4} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, b^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} b_{2,1} & b_{3} & b_{4} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}},$$

$$c_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, c_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$c_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{k^{3}} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, c^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{11} & c_{3} & c_{4} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}, c^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{2,1} & c_{3} & c_{4} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}, \mathcal{C} = \begin{bmatrix} c^{1} \\ c^{2} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{bmatrix} b^{1} & b^{2} \end{bmatrix}, \mathcal{L}_{1} = b^{1}, \mathcal{L}_{2} = b^{2}.$$
(5.21)

It should be pointed out that the Inf-D system (5.20) is not a regular RS system (since the number of multiple eigenvalues in \mathcal{A} is infinite), and consequently the approach in Chapter 4 is not applicable to this system.

In the following, a detection filter is designed for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 . Since $\mathscr{L}_2 = \operatorname{span}\{L_2\} \in D(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathscr{L}_2 \notin \ker \mathcal{C}$, we obtain $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{L}_2$ $(\mathscr{L}_2 \in D(\mathcal{A}) \text{ is } (\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})\text{-invariant}$ and therefore by Lemma 4.12 \mathscr{L}_2 is \mathbb{T} -conditioned invariant). Given that $\mathscr{W}^* = \mathscr{L}_2$, we obtain that $\mathscr{S}_1^* = \mathscr{W}^* + \operatorname{span}\{b_s\}$ (by using Remark 5.20), where

$$b_{s,1,2} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, b_{s,k} = -\frac{1}{k^2} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$b_s = \begin{bmatrix} b_{s,1,2} & b_{s,3} & b_{s,4} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.22)

It follows that $\mathscr{L}_1 \cap \mathscr{S}_1^* = 0$, and a solution for the corresponding maps \mathcal{D} and H is given by $D_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots \end{bmatrix}$ and $H_1 = [-1, 1].$

Since all the eigenvalues of \mathcal{A}_p are negative, by using Corollary 5.25 a detection filter is therefore specified according to

$$\dot{\omega}_1(t) = \mathcal{A}_o \omega_1(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{B} u(t),$$

$$r_1(t) = H_1 y(t) - \mathcal{M}_1 \omega_1(t),$$
(5.23)

where $\mathcal{A}_o = \mathcal{A}_p$. The error dynamics corresponding to the above detection filter (i.e., $e(t) = \mathcal{P}_1 x(t) - \omega_1(t)$) is given by $\dot{e}(t) = \mathcal{A}_p e(t) + \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{L}_1 f_1(t)$. Therefore, if $f_1 = 0$, the error converges to origin exponentially. Otherwise, $e \neq 0$. The above residual (i.e., r_1) corresponding to the fault f_1 is also decoupled from f_2 . By following along the same steps as above, one can design a detection filter to detect and isolate the fault f_2 .

For the purpose of simulations, we consider a scenario where the fault f_1 with a severity of 1 occurs at $t = 5 \ sec$ and the fault f_2 with a severity of 1 occurs at $t = 8 \ sec$. Figure 4.3 depicts the residuals r_1 and r_2 . It clearly follows that r_i is only sensitive to the fault f_i , i = 1, 2. Note that the thresholds are computed based on running 100 Monte Carlo simulations for the healthy system with the thresholds selected as the maximum residual signals r_1 and r_2 during the entire simulation runtime. The selected thresholds are $th_1 = 0.1$ and $th_2 = 0.15$, corresponding to the residual signals r_1 and r_2 , respectively. The faults f_1 and f_2 are detected at $t = 5.51 \ sec$ and $t = 8.25 \ sec$, respectively. Table 4.2 shows the detection times corresponding to various severity fault cases that are simulated. This table clearly shows the impact of the fault severity levels on the detection times. In other words, the lower the fault severity, the longer the detection time delay. Moreover, the minimum detectable fault severities associated with f_1 and f_2 are determined to be 0.22 and 0.17, respectively.

Fault	f_1 (sec)	$f_2 (sec)$
$f_1 = 3, f_2 = 3$	0.2	0.15
$f_1 = 1, f_2 = 1$	0.51	0.25
$f_1 = 0.35,$ $f_2 = 0.2$	1.02	1.07
$f_1 = 0.22, f_2 = 0.17$	4.2	1.35

Table 5.2: Detection time delay of the faults f_1 and f_2 corresponding to various severities.



(a) The residual signal r_1 for detecting and isolating the fault f_1 . (b) The residual signal r_2 for detecting and isolating the fault f_2 .

Figure 5.2: The residual signals for detecting and isolating the faults f_1 and f_2 . The faults occur at t = 5 sec and t = 8 sec with severities of 1 for both faults.

5.6 Conclusions

In this chapter, the semigroup invariant subspace of infinite dimensional (inf-D) systems were addressed. Particularly, for the first time in the literature, we have provided necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various types of conditioned invariant subspaces. These represent extensions of new geometric perspectives of finite dimensional dynamical systems that were provided in this work and generalized to Inf-D systems. By utilizing duality, controlled invariant subspaces were addressed. The unobservability subspaces of Inf-D systems were then developed and provided. Finally, by utilizing the developed geometric methodology the

fault detection and isolation (FDI) problem of Inf-D systems was first formally formulated and then the necessary and sufficient conditions for the FDI problem solvability were presented.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Future Directions of Research

This dissertation was mainly concerned with the fault detection and isolation (FDI) of infinite dimensional (Inf-D) systems by using a geometric approach. We developed FDI algorithms by using both approximate and exact methods, where in the former approach the original Inf-D system is first approximated and then the currently available results for Fin-D systems are applied (with certain modifications) to the approximate model. In the exact approach, we dealt with Inf-D systems without any approximation, where extension of the Fin-D systems to Inf-D systems is more challenging than the approximate method. For example, compare the results in Chapter 3 with those in Chapters 4 and 5. Below, we provide the thesis summary based on the results that were provided in Chapters 3 to 5.

6.1 FDI of Multi-Dimensional Systems

As shown in Chapter 3, a set of Inf-D systems (including hyperbolic PDE systems) can be approximated by a multidimensional (n-D) model. In Chapter 3, the FDI problem for discrete-time n-D systems was addressed, where we first generalized the

invariant subspaces of one-dimensional (1-D) systems to n-D systems by using an Inf-D representation. Sufficient conditions for existence of an asymptotically convergent n-D state estimation observer were derived, where an LMI-based approach was utilized to show the stability of the error dynamics. Finally, we provided necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the FDI problem by using our proposed methodology. It should be pointed out that although the sufficient conditions for applicability of the currently available geometric results in the literature are also sufficient for our proposed approach to accomplish the FDI goal, however, there are n-D systems where the geometric approaches in the literature are not applicable to detect and isolate the faults, whereas our approach can still accomplish the FDI mission.

The future directions for research can be summarized as follows:

- It is well-known that the disturbance decoupling (DD) and the FDI problems are highly related to each other. Therefore, one can applied the proposed approaches in Chapter 3 to the DD problem of n-D systems.
- As mentioned in Chapter 3, we formulate n-D systems as Inf-D systems defined on X = ⊕ (ℝ^m), where X is the largest Banach vector space contained in ℝ[∞]. Although ℝ[∞] is not a Banach space, but it can be shown that it is topological vector space (refer to Chapter 2). Therefore, one may extend the results of Chapter 3 to Inf-D systems that are defined on topological vector spaces.

6.2 Invariant Subspaces of Riesz Spectral Systems

In Chapter 4, we first reviewed the available geometric control theory results on Riesz Spectral (RS) systems and then invariant subspaces of RS systems (with bounded input and output operators) were formally introduced. Specifically, necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of various conditioned invariant subspaces were provided. Moreover, by using the developed geometric machinery, necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the RS system FDI problem were derived.

The future directions of research is this area can be summarized below.

- Development the DD controller for the RS system, by using the duality property and our proposed approach in Chapter 4.
- Generalize the results for the regular RS systems, where the output injection operator (for example \mathcal{D} in the Definition 4.11) can be unbounded.

6.3 Fault Detection and Isolation of Infinite Dimensional Systems

Chapter 5 considered a more general class of Inf-D systems than those that were addressed in Chapters 3 and 4. In this chapter, we first reviewed the invariant subspaces of Fin-D system from a new point of view such that it enables one to investigate the invariant subspaces of Inf-D systems by using resolvent operators. However, as stated in Chapter 5, the computing algorithms the conditioned and controlled invariant are still open problem. It was shown that for accomplishing the FDI objectives one needs semigroup invariant subspaces. Necessary and sufficient conditions for equivalence of invariant subspaces were provided. The FDI problem of Inf-D systems was formulated based on the invariant concepts. Finally, by using the developed generic tools we derived necessary and sufficient conditions for solvability of the Inf-D systems FDI problem.

The future directions for research are provided below.

- Development of computing algorithms for conditioned and controlled invariant subspaces.
- Development of a DD controller for Inf-D systems.

• In this thesis, we considered static output injector operators, whereas one can consider dynamic feedback that results in dynamic feedback invariant subspaces. Dynamic feedbacks have been investigated for Fin-D systems. However, dynamic feedback invariant subspaces have not been addressed for Inf-D systems. Therefore, this direction could open a new door to geometric control theory of Inf-D systems.

Bibliography

- R. Isermann, Fault-diagnosis systems: an introduction from fault detection to fault tolerance. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2006.
- [2] J. Chen and R. J. Patton, Robust model-based fault diagnosis for dynamic systems. New York, NY: Kluwer Academic, 1999.
- [3] M. A. Massoumnia, "A geometric approach to failure detection and identification in linear systems," Ph.D. dissertation, MIT, Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Boston, MA, 1986.
- [4] C. De Persis and A. Isidori, "A geometric approach to nonlinear fault detection and isolation," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 46, pp. 853–865, 2001.
- [5] N. Meskin, "Fault detection and isolation in a networked multi-vehicle unmanned system," Ph.D. dissertation, Concordia University, Department of Elecetrical and Computer Engineering, 2008.
- [6] A. Smyshlyaev and M. Krstic, Adaptive control of parabolic PDEs. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2010.
- [7] J. Lions and S. Mitter, Optimal control of systems governed by partial differential equations. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 1971.

- [8] F. Tröltzsch, Optimal control of partial differential equations: theory, methods, and applications. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [9] D. Bošković, A. Balogh, and M. Krstić, "Backstepping in infinite dimension for a class of parabolic distributed parameter systems," *Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems*, vol. 16, pp. 44–75, 2003.
- [10] P. M. Frank, "Fault diagnosis in dynamic systems using analytical and knowledge-based redundancy- a survey and some new results," *Automatica*, vol. 26, pp. 459–474, 1990.
- [11] V. Venkatasubramanian, R. Rengaswamy, K. Yin, and S. N. Kavuri, "A review of process fault detection and diagnosis: Part I: Quantitative model-based methods," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 27, pp. 293–311, 2003.
- [12] I. Hwang, S. Kim, Y. Kim, and C. E. Seah, "A survey of fault detection, isolation, and reconfiguration methods," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 18, pp. 636–653, 2010.
- [13] R. Y. Rubinstein and D. P. Kroese, Simulation and the Monte Carlo method. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [14] R. F. Curtain and H. Zwart, An introduction to infinite-dimensional linear systems theory. New York, NY: Texts in Applied Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [15] A. Baniamerian and K. Khorasani, "Fault detection and isolation of dissipative parabolic pdes: finite-dimensional geometric approach," in *American Control Conference*, Montreal, QC, 2012, pp. 5894 – 5899.
- [16] A. Baniamerian, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Geometric fault detection and isolation of two-dimensional (2D) systems," in *American Control Conference*, Washington, DC, 2013, pp. 3541–3548.

- [17] A. Armaou and M. Demetriou, "Robust detection and accommodation of incipient component and actuator faults in nonlinear distributed processes," *AIChE Journal*, vol. 54, pp. 2651–2662, 2008.
- [18] A. Pazy, Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [19] M. A. Demetriou, "A model-based fault detection and diagnosis scheme for distributed parameter systems: A learning systems approach," ESAIM-Control Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, vol. 7, pp. 43–67, 2002.
- [20] N. H. El-Farra and S. Ghantasala, "Actuator fault isolation and reconfiguration in transport-reaction processes," *AIChE Journal*, vol. 53, pp. 1518–1537, 2007.
- [21] S. Ghantasala, "Fault diagnosis and fault-tolerant control of transport-reaction processes," Ph.D. dissertation, University of California, Davis, Department of Chemical Engineering, Davis, CA, 2010.
- [22] V. Venkatasubramanian, R. Rengaswamy, K. Yin, and S. N. Kavuri, "A review of process fault detection and diagnosis: Part II: Qualitative models and search strategies," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 27, pp. 313–326, 2003.
- [23] —, "A review of process fault detection and diagnosis: Part III: Process history based methods," Computers & Chemical Engineering, vol. 27, pp. 313– 326, 2003.
- [24] P. M. Frank and B. Köppen-Seliger, "New developments using AI in fault diagnosis," *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, vol. 10, pp. 3– 14, 1997.

- [25] J. Korbicz, J. M. Koscielny, Z. Kowalczuk, and W. Cholewa, Fault diagnosis: models, artificial intelligence, applications. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2004.
- [26] R. Patton, C. Lopez-Toribio, and F. Uppal, "Artificial intelligence approaches to fault diagnosis for dynamic systems," *International Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computer Science*, vol. 9, pp. 471–518, 1999.
- [27] V. Venkatasubramanian and K. Chan, "A neural network methodology for process fault diagnosis," *AIChE Journal*, vol. 35, pp. 1993–2002, 1989.
- [28] S. S. Tayarani-Bathaie, Z. S. Vanini, and K. Khorasani, "Dynamic neural network-based fault diagnosis of gas turbine engines," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 125, pp. 153–165, 2014.
- [29] Z. S. Vanini, K. Khorasani, and N. Meskin, "Fault detection and isolation of a dual spool gas turbine engine using dynamic neural networks and multiple model approach," *Information Sciences*, vol. 259, pp. 234–251, 2014.
- [30] S. Zhang, J. Mathew, L. Ma, and Y. Sun, "Identification of optimal wavelet packets for machinery fault diagnosis using bayesian neural networks," Advances in vibration engineering, vol. 5, pp. 155–162, 2006.
- [31] S. Dash, R. Rengaswamy, and V. Venkatasubramanian, "Fuzzy-logic based trend classification for fault diagnosis of chemical processes," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 27, pp. 347–362, 2003.
- [32] D. V. Kodavade and S. D. Apte, "A universal object oriented expert system frame work for fault diagnosis," *International Journal of Intelligence Science*, vol. 2, pp. 63–70, 2012.

- [33] X. Wang, U. Kruger, G. W. Irwin, G. McCullough, and N. McDowell, "Nonlinear PCA with the local approach for diesel engine fault detection and diagnosis," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 16, pp. 122–129, 2008.
- [34] L. M. Elshenawy and H. A. Awad, "Recursive fault detection and isolation approaches of time-varying processes," *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 51, pp. 9812–9824, 2012.
- [35] Y. Zhang, N. Yang, and S. Li, "Fault isolation of nonlinear processes based on fault directions and features," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 22, pp. 1567–1572, 2014.
- [36] Y. Guo, J. Na, B. Li, and R.-F. Fung, "Envelope extraction based dimension reduction for independent component analysis in fault diagnosis of rolling element bearing," *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 333, pp. 2983–2994, 2014.
- [37] M. D. Ma, D. S. H. Wong, S. S. Jang, and S. T. Tseng, "Fault detection based on statistical multivariate analysis and microarray visualization," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, vol. 6, pp. 18–24, 2010.
- [38] M. Namdari, H. Jazayeri Rad, and S. J. Hashemi, "Process fault diagnosis using support vector machines with a genetic algorithm based parameter tuning," *Journal of Automation and Control*, vol. 2, pp. 1–7, 2014.
- [39] D. H. Gay and W. H. Ray, "Identification and control of distributed parameter systems by means of the singular value decomposition," *Chemical Engineering Science*, vol. 50, pp. 1519–1539, 1995.

- [40] N. Daroogheh, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "A novel particle filter parameter prediction scheme for failure prognosis," in *American Control Conference*, Portland, OR, 2014, pp. 1735–1742.
- [41] M. A. Massoumnia, G. C. Verghese, and A. Willsky, "Failure detection and identification," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 34, pp. 316– 321, 1989.
- [42] E. Y. Chow and A. S. Willsky, "Analytical redundancy and the design of robust failure detection systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 29, pp. 603–614, 1984.
- [43] M. Fliess and C. Join, "An algebraic approach to fault diagnosis for linear systems," in *International Conference on Computational Engineering in System Applications*, Lille, France, 2003, pp. 1–9.
- [44] E. Sobhani-Tehrani and K. Khorasani, Fault diagnosis of nonlinear systems using a hybrid approach. New York, NY: Springer, 2009.
- [45] E. Naderi, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Nonlinear fault diagnosis of jet engines by using a multiple model-based approach," *Journal of Engineering* for Gas Turbines and Power, vol. 134, pp. 1–10, 2012.
- [46] B. Pourbabaee, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Multiple-model based sensor fault diagnosis using hybrid Kalman filter approach for nonlinear gas turbine engines," in *American Control Conference*, Washington, DC, 2013, pp. 4717– 4723.
- [47] Z. Abbasfard, A. Baniamerian, and K. Khorasani, "Fault diagnosis of gas turbine engines: A symbolic multiple model approach," in *European Control Conference*, Strasbourg, France, 2014, pp. 944–951.

- [48] G. Besançon, "High-gain observation with disturbance attenuation and application to robust fault detection," *Automatica*, vol. 39, pp. 1095–1102, 2003.
- [49] C. Edwards, S. K. Spurgeon, and R. J. Patton, "Sliding mode observers for fault detection and isolation," *Automatica*, vol. 36, pp. 541–553, 2000.
- [50] M. A. Massoumnia, "A geometric approach to the synthesis of failure detection filters," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 31, pp. 839–846, 1986.
- [51] B. Pourbabaee, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Sensor fault detection and isolation using multiple robust filters for linear systems with time-varying parameter uncertainty and error variance constraints," in *Multi-Conference on Systems and Control*, Nice, France, 2014, pp. 382–389.
- [52] —, "Robust sensor fault detection and isolation of gas turbine engines subjected to time-varying parameter uncertainties," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 76, pp. 136–156, 2016.
- [53] R. Patton, S. Willcox, and J. Winter, "Parameter-insensitive technique for aircraft sensor fault analysis," *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, vol. 10, pp. 359–367, 1987.
- [54] X. Dai, Z. Gao, T. Breikin, and H. Wang, "Disturbance attenuation in fault detection of gas turbine engines: a discrete robust observer design," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C: Applications and Reviews*, vol. 39, pp. 234–239, 2009.
- [55] R. Fonod, D. Henry, C. Charbonnel, and E. Bornschlegl, "Robust thruster fault diagnosis: Application to the rendezvous phase of the Mars sample return mission," in 2nd CEAS Specialist Conference on Guidance, Navigation & Control, Delft, Netherlands, 2013, pp. 1496–1510.

- [56] A. M. Pertew, H. J. Marquez, and Q. Zhao, "LMI-based sensor fault diagnosis for nonlinear lipschitz systems," *Automatica*, vol. 43, pp. 1464–1469, 2007.
- [57] P. Li and V. Kadirkamanathan, "Particle filtering based likelihood ratio approach to fault diagnosis in nonlinear stochastic systems," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. Part C, Applications and Reviews*, vol. 31, pp. 337–343, 2001.
- [58] R. K. Mehra and J. Peschon, "An innovations approach to fault detection and diagnosis in dynamic systems," *Automatica*, vol. 7, pp. 637–640, 1971.
- [59] F. Amirarfaei, A. Baniamerian, and K. Khorasani, "Joint Kalman filtering and recursive maximum likelihood estimation approaches to fault detection and identification of Boeing 747 sensors and actuators," in AIAA Aerospace Science Meeting, Grapevine, TX, 2013, pp. 1–9.
- [60] D. Yu, D. N. Shields, and S. Daley, "A hybrid fault diagnosis approach using neural networks," *Neural Computing & Applications*, vol. 4, pp. 21–26, 1996.
- [61] L. Meng, J. Xiang, Y. Wang, Y. Jiang, and H. Gao, "A hybrid fault diagnosis method using morphological filter-translation invariant wavelet and improved ensemble empirical mode decomposition," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 50, pp. 101–115, 2015.
- [62] V. Ferreira, R. Zanghi, M. Fortes, G. Sotelo, R. Silva, J. Souza, C. Guimarães, and S. Gomes, "A survey on intelligent system application to fault diagnosis in electric power system transmission lines," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 136, pp. 135–153, 2016.
- [63] N. Meskin and K. Khorasani, "A geometric approach to fault detection and isolation of continuous-time Markovian jump linear systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, pp. 1343–1357, 2010.

- [64] —, "Fault detection and isolation of discrete-time Markovian jump linear systems with application to a network of multi-agent systems having imperfect communication channels," *Automatica*, vol. 45, pp. 2032–2040, 2009.
- [65] —, "Fault detection and isolation of distributed time-delay systems," IEEE Transaction on Automatic Control, vol. 54, pp. 2680–2685, 2009.
- [66] —, "Robust fault detection and isolation of time-delay systems using a geometric approach," Automatica, vol. 45, pp. 1567–1573, 2009.
- [67] J. Bokor and G. Balas, "Detection filter design for LPV systems: a geometric approach," Automatica, vol. 40, pp. 511–518, 2004.
- [68] B. Vanek, Z. Szabó, A. Edelmayer, and J. Bokor, "Geometric LPV fault detection filter design for commercial aircraft," in AIAA Guidance, Navigation and Control Conference, Portland, OR, 2011, pp. 1–13.
- [69] S. Longhi and A. Monteriu, "A geometric approach to fault detection of periodic systems," in *Conference on Decision and Control*, New Orleans, LA, 2007, pp. 6376–6382.
- [70] N. Meskin and K. Khorasani, "Fault detection and isolation of linear impulsive systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, pp. 1905–1910, 2011.
- [71] C. D. Persis and A. Isidori, "On the observability codistributions of a nonlinear system," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 40, pp. 297–304, 2000.
- [72] N. Meskin, K. Khorasani, and C. A. Rabbath, "A hybrid fault detection and isolation strategy for a network of unmanned vehicles in presence of large environmental disturbances," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 18, pp. 1422–1429, 2010.

- [73] —, "Hybrid fault detection and isolation strategy for non-linear systems in the presence of large environmental disturbances," *IET Control Theory & Applications*, vol. 4, pp. 2879–2895, 2010.
- [74] W. M. Wonham, Linear multivariable control: a geometric approach, 2nd ed. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- [75] W. Marszalek, "Two-dimensional state-space discrete models for hyperbolic partial differential equations," *Applied Mathematical Modeling*, vol. 8, pp. 11– 14, 1984.
- [76] M. Demetriou and K. Ito, "Online fault detection and diagnosis for a class of positive real infinite dimensional systems," in *Conference on Decision and Control*, Las Vegas, NV, 2002, pp. 4359–4364.
- [77] L. Evans, *Partial Deferential Equations*, 2nd ed. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [78] J. W. Thomas, Numerical Partial Differential Equations Finite Difference Methods. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [79] P. D. Christofides, Nonlinear and robust control of PDE systems: Methods and applications to transport-reaction processes. Boston, MA: Birkhauser, 2001.
- [80] P. Christofides and P. Daoutidis, "Robust control of hyperbolic PDE systems," *Chemical Engineering Science*, vol. 53, pp. 85–105, 1998.
- [81] P. Stavroulakis and S. Tzafestas, "State reconstruction in low-sensitivity design of 3-dimensional systems," *IEE Proceedings D-Control Theory and Applications*, vol. 130, pp. 333–340, 1983.
- [82] T. Kaczorek, Two-dimensional linear systems. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 1985.

- [83] G. W. Pulford, "The two-dimensional power spectral density: a connection between 2-D rational functions and linear systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, pp. 1729–1734, 2011.
- [84] S. Knorn and R. H. Middleton, "Stability of two-dimensional linear systems with singularities on the stability boundary using LMIs," *IEEE Transaction* on Automatic Control, vol. 58, pp. 2579–2590, 2013.
- [85] E. Fornasini and G. Marchesini, "Properties of pairs of matrices and statemodels for two-dimensional systems. part1: state dynamics and geometry of the pairs," *Multivariate analysis: Future directions*, vol. 5, pp. 131–180, 1993.
- [86] E. Rogers, K. Galkowski, and D. H. Owens, Control systems theory and applications for linear repetitive processes. Berlin, Germany: Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences, Springer, 2007.
- [87] D. Meng, Y. Jia, J. Du, and S. Yuan, "Robust discrete-time iterative learning control for nonlinear systems with varying initial state shifts," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, pp. 2626–2631, 2009.
- [88] B. Cichy, K. Galkowski, and E. Rogers, "An approach to iterative learning control for spatio-temporal dynamics using nD discrete linear systems models," *Multidimensional System and Signal Processing*, vol. 22, pp. 83–96, 2011.
- [89] M. Bisiacco and M. E. Valcher, "Observer-based fault detection and isolation for 2D state-space models," *Multidimensional Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 17, pp. 219–242, 2006.
- [90] E. Fornasini and G. Marchesini, "Residual generators for detecting failure in 2D systems," in *Mediterranean Electrotechnical Conference*, Lisbon, Portgal, 1989, pp. 69–72.

- [91] M. Bisiacco and M. E. Valcher, "The general fault detection and isolation problem for 2D state-space models," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 55, pp. 894–899, 2006.
- [92] E. Fornasini and M. E. Valcher, "nD polynomial matrices with applications to multidimensional signal analysis," *Multidimensional Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 8, pp. 387–408, 1997.
- [93] T. Ooba, "On stability analysis of 2-D systems based on 2-D lyapunov matrix inequalities," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications*, vol. 47, pp. 1263–1265, 2000.
- [94] E. Rogers, K. Galkowski, A. Gramacki, J. Gramacki, and D. Owens, "Stability and controllability of a class of 2-D linear systems with dynamic boundary conditions," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory* and Applications, vol. 49, pp. 181–195, 2002.
- [95] T. Vasilache and V. Prepelita, "Observability and geometric approach of 2D hybrid systems," in *International Conference on Systems, Control, Signal Pro*cessing and Informatics, Rhodes, Greece, July, 2013, pp. 207–214.
- [96] Y. Zou, M. Sheng, N. Zhong, and S. Xu, "A generalized Kalman filter for 2D discrete systems," *Circuits, Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 23, pp. 351–364, 2004.
- [97] L. Ntogramatzidis and M. Cantoni, "Detectability subspaces and observer synthesis for two-dimensional systems," *Multidimensional Systems and Signal Processing*, pp. 1–18, 2012.
- [98] L. Ntogramatzidis, "Structural invariants of two-dimensional systems," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 50, pp. 334–356, 2012.

- [99] S. Maleki, P. Rapisarda, L. Ntogramatzidis, and E. Rogers, "Failure identification for 3D linear systems," *Multidimensional Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 26, pp. 481–502, 2015.
- [100] —, "A geometric approach to 3D fault identification," in International Workshop on Multidimensional Systems, Erlangen, Germany, 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [101] H. Zwart, Geometric theory for infinite dimensional systems. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [102] M. Tucsnak and G. Weiss, Observation and control for operator semigroups. Berlin, Germany: Birkhauser, 2009.
- [103] R. Curtain, "Invariance concepts in infinite dimensions," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 24, pp. 1009–1030, 1986.
- [104] A. Taylor and D. Lay, Introduction to functional analysis, 2nd ed. New York, NY: John Wiley, 1980.
- [105] L. Pandolfi, "Disturbance decoupling and invariant subspaces for delay systems," Applied Mathematics & Optimization, vol. 14, pp. 55–72, 1986.
- [106] E. Aulisa and D. Gilliam, A Practical Guide to Geometric Regulation for Distributed Parameter Systems. Roca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, 2015.
- [107] M. Demetriou, K. Ito, and R. Smith, "Adaptive monitoring and accommodation of nonlinear actuator faults in positive real infinite dimensional systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 52, pp. 2332–2338, 2007.
- [108] K. Morris and R. Rebarber, "Feedback invariance of SISO infinite-dimensional systems," *Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems*, vol. 19, pp. 313–335, 2007.

- [109] B. Guo and H. Zwart, "Riesz spectral systems," University of Twente, Department of Applied Mathematics, Tech. Rep., 2001.
- [110] R. F. Curtain, "Spectral systems," International Journal of Control, vol. 39, pp. 657–666, 1984.
- [111] N. Meskin and K. Khorasani, "Finite unobservability subspaces for time-delay systems with application to fault detection and isolation," in 15th IFAC Symposium on System Identification, Saint-Malo, France, 2009, pp. 215–220.
- [112] G. Basile and G. Marro, Controlled and Conditioned Invariants in Linear Systems Theory. Prentice-Hall, 1992.
- [113] K. Jänich, Topology. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Lehrbuch, 1984.
- [114] R. M. Young, An Introduction to Non-Harmonic Fourier Series, Revised Edition, 93. Academic Press, 1980.
- [115] R. P. Roesser, "A discrete state-space model for linear image processing," *IEEE Transaction on Automatic Control*, vol. AC-20, pp. 1–10, 1975.
- [116] J. C. Strikwerda, Finite Difference Schemes and Partial Differential Equations, Second Edition, 2nd ed. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 2004.
- [117] E. Fornasini and G. Marchesini, "Stability analysis of 2-D systems," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, vol. 27, pp. 1210–1217, 1980.
- [118] M. Bisiacco, "On the state reconstruction of 2D systems," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 5, pp. 347–353, 1985.
- [119] E. Jury, "Stability of multidimensional scalar and matrix polynomials," Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 66, pp. 1018–1047, 1978.

- [120] P. Gahinet and P. Apkarian, "A linear matrix inequality approach to H_∞ control," International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 4, pp. 421–448, 1994.
- [121] T. Kaczorek, "Generalization of Cayley-Hamilton theorem for n-D polynomial matrices," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, pp. 671–674, 2005.
- [122] A. Baniamerian, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Fault detection and isolation of Fornasini-Marchesini 2D systems: A geometric approach," in American Control Conference, Portland, OR, 2014, pp. 5527–5533.
- [123] G. Conte and A. Perdon, "On the geometry of 2D systems," in International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, Helsinki, 1988, pp. 97–100.
- [124] A. Baniamerian, N. Meskin, and K. Khorasani, "Fault detection and isolation of Riesz spectral systems: A geometric approach," in *European Control Conference*, Strasbourg, France, 2014, pp. 2145–2152.
- [125] E. Fornasini and G. Marchesini, "On the problems of constructing minimal realizations for two-dimensional filters," *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis* and Machine Intelligence, pp. 172–176, 1980.
- [126] G. Szederkenyi, "Simultaneous fault detection of heat exchangers," Master's thesis, University of Veszprem, Department of Applied Computer Science, 1998, "http://daedalus.scl.sztaki.hu/diploma/Szederkenyi_Gabor.pdf".
- [127] A. Maidi, M. Diaf, and J.-P. Corriou, "Boundary geometric control of a counter-current heat exchanger," *Journal of Process Control*, vol. 19, pp. 297– 313, 2009.

- [128] S. Ding, P. Zhang, P. Frank, and E. L. Ding, "Threshold calculation using LMI-technique and its integration in the design of fault detection systems," in *Conference on Decision and Control*, Maui, HI, 2003, pp. 469–474.
- [129] J. Schwartz et al., "Perturbations of spectral operators, and applications. i. bounded perturbations," *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 4, pp. 415–458, 1954.
- [130] J. Schumacher, Dynamic feedback in finite- and infinite-dimensional linear systems. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Mathematisch Centrum, 1981.
- [131] R. E. Megginson, An introduction to Banach space theory. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1998.
- [132] E. G. Schmidt and R. J. Stern, "Invariance theory for infinite dimensional linear control systems," *Applied Mathematics and Optimization*, vol. 6, pp. 113–122, 1980.
- [133] C. I. Byrnes, I. G. Lauko, D. S. Gilliam, and V. I. Shubov, "Zero dynamics for relative degree one siso distributed parameter systems," in *Conference Decision and Control*, Tampa, FL, pp. 2390–2391.
- [134] B. Jacob and H. Zwart, "Counterexamples concerning observation operators for c₀-semigroups," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 43, pp. 137–153, 2004.
- [135] E. Kreyszig, Advanced engineering mathematics, 6th ed. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, 1988.
- [136] P. R. Halmos, Finite-dimensional vector spaces. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1974.